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The £161,713,000 12 per cent. Fixed Rate Guaranteed Subordinated Notes due 2! May 2021 guaranteed by Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited (the "Guarantor") on a 
subordinated basis (the "Notes") will be issued by Friends Provident pic (the "Issuer" or "Friends Provident") on or about 21 May 2009 (the "Issue Date"). Interest on the Notes is 
payable annually in arrear on 21 May in each year. The first payment will be made on the Interest Payment Date falling in May 2010. Payments on the Notes or under the Guarantee 
will be made without deduction for or on account of taxes of the United Kingdom to the extent described under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — 9. Additional Amounts". 

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, the Notes mature on 21 May 2021 (the "Maturity Date"). Prior to any notice of redemption before the Maturity Date or any 
substitution, variation or purchase of the Notes, the Issuer will be required to have complied with regulatory rules or notifications to the Financial Services Authority and continued 
compliance with Regulatory Capital Requirements (as defined herein) as published by the Financial Services Authority. Subject to that, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of 
the Issuer at their principal amount or, in the case of a Regulatory Event, the relevant Make Whole Redemption Price, together in each case with any accrued but unpaid interest to 
(but excluding) the date of redemption and as otherwise more particularly described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes — 6. Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase". 

Subject to receiving the consent of or no objection from the FSA, the Issuer intends to transfer all of its interests and obligations under the Notes to Friends Provident Group pic on or 
immediately following the Reorganisation (as such term is defined herein). This will occur provided that certain very limited conditions as set out in "Terms and Conditions of the 
Notes — 11(b). Automatic Substitution") of the Notes have been satisfied. The Issuer has the right to transfer its obligations to Friends Provident Group pic without the approval of 
holders of the Notes. 

The Notes will be direct, unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will, in the event of the winding-up of the Issuer or in the event of an administrator of the Issuer being appointed and 
giving notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend, be subordinated to the claims of all Senior Creditors (as defined herein) of the Issuer. The obligations of the 
Guarantor under the Guarantee (as defined herein) constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Guarantor and will, in the event of the winding-up of the Guarantor or in the event of 
an administrator of the Guarantor being appointed and giving notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend, be subordinated to the claims of all Senior Creditors (as 
defined herein) of the Guarantor. 

Application will be made to the Financial Services Authority in its capacity as competent authority under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "UK Listing Authority") 
for the Notes to be admitted to the official list of the UK. Listing Authority (the "Official List") and to the London Stock Exchange pic (the "London Stock Exchange") for such 
Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Regulated Market (the "Market"). References in this Prospectus to the Notes being "listed" (and all related 
references) shall mean that the Notes have been admitted to the Official List and have been admitted to trading on the Market. The Market is a regulated market for the purposes of 
Directive 2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments. 

The denomination of the Notes shall be £50,000 and higher integral multiples of £1,000, provided that, for so long as the Notes are represented by a temporary global note (the 
"Temporary Global Note") or permanent global note (the "Permanent Global Note") and the relevant clearing system(s) so permit, the Notes shall be tradeable in minimum 
amounts of £50,000 and integral multiples of £1,000 thereafter. 

The Notes will initially be represented by a Temporary Global Note, without interest coupons, which will be issued in new global note form and will be delivered on or prior to the 21 
May 2009 to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank S.A/N.V. ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, sociele anonyme ("Clcarstrcamt 

Luxembourg"). The Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable for interests recorded in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg in a Permanent Global Note, 
without interest coupons, on or after a date which is expected to be 30 June 2009 upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. The Permanent Global Note will be 
exchangeable for definitive Notes in bearer form in the denominations of £50,000 and higher integral multiples of £1,000 up to £99,000 not less than 60 days following the request of 
the Issuer or the holder in the limited circumstances set out in it. See "Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form". 

Certain information in relation to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group (as defined herein) has been incorporated by reference into this document, as set out in the section entitled 
"Documents Incorporated by Reference" on page 4 of this document. 

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" in this Prospectus. 

You should read the whole of this document and the documents incorporated herein by reference. In particular, your attention is drawn to the risk factors described in 
"Risk Factors" set out on pages 9 to 31 of this document, which you should read in full. 

The Notes have not and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to 
certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. Persons. 

The Notes are expected to be rated BBB+ by Standard & Poor's Rating Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. and BBB+ by Fitch Ratings Ltd. A rating is not a 
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency, 

Capitalised terms used but not otherwise defined in this Prospectus shall have the meanings given to them in the section entitled "Definitions" on pages 81 to 84. 

Dated 19 May 2009 



This document comprises a prospectus for the purposes of Directive 2003/71/EC (the "Prospectus 
Directive") and for the purpose of giving information with regard to Friends Provident pic (the "Issuer"), the 
Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates taken as a whole (the "Group"), Friends Provident Life and Pensions 
Limited (the "Guarantor") and the £161,713,000 12 per cent. Fixed Rate Guaranteed Subordinated Notes 
due 21 May 2021 (the "Notes") which according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Guarantor and the 
Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial 
position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Guarantor. The Issuer and the Guarantor (the 
"Responsible Persons") accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of 
the knowledge and belief of each of the Issuer and the Guarantor (each of which has taken all reasonable care 
to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts 
and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information. 

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein 
by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below). 

No person is, or has been, authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than as 
contained in this Prospectus in its entirety in connection with the issue or offering of the Notes and, if given or 
made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or 
the Guarantor. The delivery of this Prospectus shall not, under any circumstances, create any implication that 
there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Group since the date hereof or that 
there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the Group since the 
date hereof or the date upon which this document has been most recently amended or supplemented or that 
any other information supplied in connection with the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date 
on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. Neither this 
Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis 
of any credit or other evaluation or (ii) should be considered as a recommendation or constituting an 
invitation or offer by the Issuer or the Guarantor that any recipient of this Prospectus or any other information 
supplied in connection with the Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor should make its own 
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the credit-worthiness, 
of the Issuer and the Guarantor. Neither this Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with 
the Notes constitutes an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor to any person 
to subscribe for or purchase, any Notes. 

This Prospectus does not constitute or form part of, and should not be construed as, an offer for sale or 
subscription of, or a solicitation of any offer to buy or subscribe for, the Notes. The distribution of this 
document may nonetheless be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this 
document comes are required by the Issuer and the Guarantor to inform themselves about, and to observe, any 
such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute an offering in any circumstances in which such offering 
is unlawful. Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor will incur any liability for its own failure or the failure of 
any other person or persons to comply with the provisions of any such restrictions. 

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references to "pounds sterling", "GBP" and "£" are to the 
lawful currency of the United Kingdom. 



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This document and the information incorporated by reference in this document include certain 
"forward-looking statements". Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about the Group's 
or its directors' and or management's beliefs and expectations are forward-looking statements. Words such as 
"believes", "anticipates", "estimates", "expects", "intends", "plans", "aims", "potential", "will", "would", 
"could", "considered", "likely", "estimate" and variations of these words and similar future or conditional 
expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of 
identifying such statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because 
they relate to events and depend upon future circumstances that may or may not occur, many of which are 
beyond the Issuer's control and all of which are based on the Issuer's current beliefs and expectations about 
future events. Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Issuer, the Guarantor or the 
Group, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are based on 
numerous assumptions regarding the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group's present and future business 
strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. These forward-looking 
statements speak only as at the date of this document. 

Except as required by the FSA, the London Stock Exchange, the Listing Rules, the Prospectus Rules, the 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules or any other applicable law or regulation, the Issuer expressly disclaims 
any obligations or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements 
contained in this document or incorporated by reference into this document to reflect any change in the 
Issuer's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any 
such statement is based. 



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with the following documents: 

(i) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 
December 2007, together with the audit report thereon, as set out on pages 73 to 172 of the Issuer's 
annual report and accounts 2007; and 

(ii) the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer for the financial year ended 31 
December 2008, together with the audit report thereon, as set out on pages 75 to 177 of the Issuer's 
annual report and accounts 2008, 

both of which have been previously published and filed with the Financial Services Authority and which shall 
be deemed to be incorporated in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any statements contained in a 
document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or 
superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or 
supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified 
or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this 
Prospectus. Any information or documents incorporated by reference in the above listed documents does not 
form any part of this Prospectus unless expressly incorporated herein by reference. 

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus may be obtained (without charge) from the 
website of the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at 
www.londonstockexchange.com/en-gb/pricesnews/marketnews/ and from the website of the Issuer at 
www.friendsprovident.co.uk/investor/. 

http://www.londonstockexchange.com/en-gb/pricesnews/marketnews/
http://www.friendsprovident.co.uk/investor/
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OVERVIEW OF THE PRINCIPAL FEATURES OF THE NOTES 

The following overview refers to certain provisions of the terms and conditions of the Notes and the Trust 
Deed and is qualified by the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. Terms which 
are defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes " have the same meaning when used in this summary. 

Issuer 

Guarantor 

Trustee 

Maturity Date 

Issue 

Interest 

Interest Payment Dates 

Additional Amounts 

Guarantee 

Subordination 

Tax Law Change 

Friends Provident pic. 

Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited. 

The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p. I.e. 

21 May 2021. 

£161,713,000 12 per cent. Fixed Rate Guaranteed Subordinated 
Notes due 2021. 

The Notes will bear interest from (and including) the Issue Date at a 
fixed rate of 12 per cent, per annum annually in arrear on 21 May 
(each an "Interest Payment Date "), as more particularly described 
in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes". 

Payments of interest will be payable annually in arrear on 21 May of 
each year starting on 21 May 2010. 

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding 
or deduction for, or on account of, taxes of the United Kingdom, 
unless the withholding or deduction is required by law. In such event, 
the Issuer or the Guarantor will, subject as provided in Condition 9, 
pay such additional amounts as will be necessary to ensure that the 
net amount received by Noteholders, after the withholding or 
deduction, will equal the amount which would have been receivable 
in the absence of the withholding or deduction. 

The Notes will be irrevocably guaranteed on a subordinated basis by 
the Guarantor. The rights and claims of Noteholders and 
Couponholders against the Guarantor are subordinated in a winding-
up in accordance with Condition 3(b). Payments made pursuant to 
the Guarantee may only be made in circumstances which do not 
result in a breach of the Regulatory Capital Requirements. 

The Notes constitute unsecured, subordinated obligations of the 
Issuer, and will rank pari passu without any preference among 
themselves. The rights and claims of the Noteholders and 
Couponholders against the Issuer are subordinated in a winding-up 
in accordance with Condition 2(b). 

Subject as provided in Condition 6, if, as a result of a Tax Law 
Change, in making any payments on the Notes, the Issuer or the 
Guarantor has paid or will or would on the next payment date (in the 
case of the Guarantor, if the Guarantee were "called") be required to 
pay Additional Amounts on the Notes and the Issuer or the Guarantor 
cannot avoid the foregoing by taking measures reasonably available 
to it, the Issuer may (i) redeem (all but not some only) of the Notes at 
any time at their principal amount together with any accrued but 



Regulatory Event 

Withholding Tax and Additional Amounts 

Form 

Denomination 

unpaid interest to (but excluding) the date of redemption or (ii) 
substitute at any time, all (but not some only) of the Notes for, or vary 
the terms of the Notes so that they become, Qualifying Lower Tier 2 
Securities, all as more particularly described in "Terms and 
Conditions of the Notes - 6. Redemption, Substitution, Variation, and 
Purchase ". 

Subject as provided in Condition 6, if at any time a Regulatory Event 
occurs and is continuing, the Issuer may (i) redeem all (but not some 
only) of the Notes at any time at their Make Whole Redemption Price 
together with any accrued but unpaid interest to (but excluding) the 
date of redemption, or (ii) substitute at any time, all (but not some 
only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they 
become, Qualifying Lower Tier 2 Securities, all as more particularly 
described in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes - 6. Redemption, 
Substitution, Variation and Purchase". 

A "Regulatory Event" is deemed to have occurred (I) if under the 
Insurance Groups Directive or in the Relevant Rules or as a result of 
any changes thereto, the Notes would not be capable of counting 
(save where such non-qualification is only as a result of any 
applicable limitation on the amount of such capital) as cover for the 
minimum capital resources requirement applicable to the Issuer, or 
(2) if, at any time the Issuer or the Group is required to have Tier 2 
Capital, the Notes would no longer be eligible to qualify (save as 
aforesaid) for inclusion in the Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer on a solo 
and/or a consolidated basis. 

The Issuer will pay such Additional Amounts as may be necessary in 
order that the net payment received by each Noteholder in respect of 
the Notes, after withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any 
taxes required by law in the United Kingdom upon payments made by 
or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes or under the 
Guarantee, will equal the amount which would have been received in 
the absence of any such withholding or deduction, subject to 
customary exceptions as set out in Condition 9. 

Bearer. The Notes will be represented initially by a Temporary Global 
Note which will be deposited outside the United States with a 
common depositary for Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear on 
or about 21 May 2009. The Temporary Global Note will be 
exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note on or after a 
date which is expected to be 30 June 2009 upon certification as to 
non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury 
regulations and as described in the Temporary Global Note. Save in 
limited circumstances, Notes in definitive bearer form with coupons 
attached on issue will not be issued in exchange for interests in the 
Permanent Global Note. 

The Notes will be issued in denominations of £50,000 and integral 
multiples of£l, 000 in excess thereof up to and including £99,000. 



Listing Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to the Official 
List of the United Kingdom Listing Authority and for the Notes to be 
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's Regulated 
Market. 

Ratings The Notes are expected to be assigned a rating ofBBB+ by Standard 
& Poor s Rating Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies. 
Inc and a rating ofBBB+ by Fitch Ratings Ltd. 

Governing Law The Notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, 
English law. 



RISK FACTORS 

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their 
obligations under the Notes and the Guarantee, respectively. All of these factors are contingencies which may 
or may not occur and the Issuer and the Guarantor are not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of 
any such contingency occurring. 

Factors which the Issuer and the Guarantor believe may be material for the purpose of assessing the market 
risks associated with the Notes are also described below. 

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in 
investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer or the Guarantor to pay interest, principal or other 
amounts on or in connection with the Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer and the Guarantor do 
not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Notes are exhaustive. Prospective 
investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any 
documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment 
decision. 

1 Risks relating to the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Group 

1.1 Economic conditions and financial markets 

1.1.1 The Group's businesses, earnings and financial condition have been, and will continue to 
be, affected by the current crisis in global financial markets and the deterioration in the 
global economic outlook 

The performance of the Group is influenced by the economic conditions of the countries in 
which it operates, particularly the United Kingdom and countries in Europe and Asia. Global 
markets have deteriorated since August 2007 and, in particular, since the bankruptcy filing by 
Lehman Brothers in September 2008. This has led to severe dislocation of financial markets 
around the world and unprecedented levels of illiquidity. A number of governments, including 
the UK Government, the governments of other EU member states and the U.S. Government, 
have intervened in order to inject liquidity and capital into, and to stabilise, financial markets, 
and, in some cases, to prevent the failure of financial institutions. Despite such measures, the 
volatility and disruption of the capital and credit markets have continued at unprecedented 
levels. In addition, recessionary conditions are present in the UK as well as in other countries 
where the Group operates, and there has been growing concern about a global recession. 

Continued general deterioration in the UK or other major economies throughout the world, 
including, but not limited to, business and consumer confidence, unemployment trends, the 
state of the housing market, the commercial property sector, equity markets, bond markets, 
foreign exchange markets, counter-party risk, inflation, the availability and cost of credit, the 
liquidity of global financial markets and market interest rates, would reduce the level of 
demand for the products and services of the Group, and lead to lower realisations and increased 
write downs and impairments of investments and negative fair value adjustments of assets and 
materially and adversely impact the Group's operating results, financial condition and 
prospects. 

The precise nature of all the risks and uncertainties the Group faces and will face as a result of 
the current global financial crisis and global economic outlook cannot be predicted and many of 
these risks are outside the Group's control. In addition, there can be no guarantee that the 



interventions of governments will be successful in stabilising and restoring confidence in 
financial markets. 

1.1.2 The Group could be negatively affected by the soundness and/or the perceived soundness 
of other financial institutions, which could result in significant systemic liquidity 
problems, losses or defaults by other financial institutions and counter-parties 

The Group is exposed to increased counter-party risk as a result of recent financial institution 
failures and nationalisations and will continue to be exposed to the risk of loss if counter-party 
financial institutions fail or are otherwise unable to meet their obligations. Financial services 
institutions are inter-related as a result of trading, counter-party and other relationships. The 
Group has exposure to many different industries and counter-parties and routinely executes 
transactions with counter-parties in the financial industry, including brokers and dealers, 
commercial banks, investment banks, mutual and hedge funds. As a result, defaults by, or even 
the perceived creditworthiness of or questions about, one or more financial services institutions, 
or the financial services industry generally, have led to market-wide liquidity problems and 
could lead to impairment or other losses or defaults by the Group or by other institutions. 

In addition, the Group's credit risk is exacerbated when the collateral it holds cannot be realised 
or is liquidated at prices not sufficient to recover the full amount of the exposure that is due to 
the Group, which is most likely to occur during periods of illiquidity and depressed asset 
valuations, such as those currently being experienced. Any such losses could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's results of operations. 

1.1.3 Fluctuations in investment markets may adversely affect reported financial results, the 
Embedded Value and capital requirements of the Life and Pensions Business 

The Group has substantial exposure to fixed interest securities, equity securities, property 
investments and other asset classes via its constituent life insurance portfolios. While the 
investment risk is often shared in whole or in part with policyholders, fluctuations in relevant 
investment markets will, directly or indirectly, affect the reported financial results, the 
Embedded Value and the capital requirements of the Life and Pensions Business where 
substantial falls in the value of investments may cause additional shareholder capital to be 
required or retained. The extent to which the Group is exposed to the risk of loss as a result of 
fluctuations in relevant investment markets depends to an extent on the mix of assets held by 
the Group to back the liabilities of the Life and Pensions Business. 

1.1.4 Sustained interest rate fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on the business, 
results of operations and/or financial condition of the Life and Pensions Business to the 
extent that asset liability matching is not practicable or fully achieved 

The liabilities in respect of certain products, notably annuities, vary as interest rates fluctuate 
and so life insurance companies often attempt to match the liabilities with assets whose 
sensitivity to interest rates is the same as, or similar to, that of the liabilities. However, to the 
extent that such asset liability matching is not practicable or fully achieved there may be 
fluctuations in the difference between assets and liabilities as interest rates change. Sustained 
interest rate fluctuations could therefore have a material adverse effect on the business, results 
of operations and/or financial condition of the Life and Pensions Business. 

1.1.5 The current low interest rate environment may have an adverse impact on the life 
insurance business 

Life insurance businesses invest in a variety of investments which typically include bonds. In 
times of low interest rates, such as those currently being experienced, bond yields typically 



decrease. This can mean that when bonds mature, the sums realised are re-invested into bonds 
with lower yields, which, in turn, decreases investment returns. The portfolio yield may 
therefore become nearer to the guaranteed returns of any life policies written. Policyholders, 
whose payouts are reduced, may see less value in investing in life insurance, which can be 
longer in duration and'more opaque than other investment products, thereby reducing demand. 

1.1.6 Currency fluctuations may adversely affect the business, results of operations and/or 
financial condition of the Group 

Friends Provident's annual report and accounts have been prepared in accordance with relevant 
accounting standards and stated in pounds sterling. However, the revenues and expenses of 
parts of the Group's operations are earned and paid, and assets and liabilities held, in several 
currencies in addition to sterling. Overseas revenues and expenses are translated into sterling at 
the applicable exchange rates for inclusion in the Group's annual report and accounts. The 
exchange rate between those currencies and sterling can fluctuate substantially, which may have 
a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of the 
Group. 

1.1.7 If the businesses of the Group do not perform well, it may be necessary to recognise an 
impairment of our goodwill or other long-lived assets, which could adversely affect the 
results of operations or financial condition of the Group 

Goodwill arising on business combinations is the future economic benefit arising from assets 
that is not capable of being individually identified and separately recognised. Goodwill and 
other investments and assets are reviewed at each reporting date to assess whether there are any 
circumstances that might indicate that they are impaired. If such circumstances exist, 
impairment testing is performed and any resulting impairment losses are charged to the income 
statement. The carrying value is adjusted to the recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying value may be impaired. Recognised impairments and write-downs could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial condition. 

1.2 Strategic risks 

1.2.1 The implementation of the Group's strategy announced in January 2008 may not proceed 
successfully 

The Group's strategy is explained in detail in the section of this document entitled "Description 

of the Issuer and the Guarantor - Strategy" below. 

The achievement of any and all of these goals cannot be guaranteed and is subject to the risks 
set out in the section on risk factors set out in this document, and may be subject to other factors 
that are currently unforeseen and which may be beyond the Group's control. Failure to achieve 
any or all of the strategic goals will affect the results of operations and the financial condition of 
the Group, as well as its reputation and standing in the marketplace. 

1.2.2 The market for new life assurance and pensions business is highly competitive and 
competition is likely to intensify 

The UK life assurance and pensions markets are very competitive and competition is likely to 
intensify. The market includes a number of product providers that have operations that are 
either comparable to or larger than the Group's operations in their size, scope and brand 
recognition. Many of these competitors offer similar products and compete to distribute 
products through intermediaries. The principal competitive factors in the sale of the Group's life 
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assurance and pensions products are, depending on the particular product, product price, 
flexibility and features, innovation of product design, commission structure, marketing and 
distribution arrangements, brand and name recognition, reputation, financial strength ratings, 
net investment return after charges, including the level of annual and final bonuses declared on 
with-profits products, and the quality of the service furnished to the customer (directly and via 
independent intermediaries such as IFAs) before and after a contract is executed. If the Group is 
unable or is perceived to be unable to compete effectively as to one or more of these factors, as 
effectively and successfully as its competitors, or if its competitors are more successful or are 
perceived to be more successful in competing effectively as to one or more of these factors, the 
Group's competitive position may be materially adversely affected which, as a result, could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations or financial 
condition. 

The recent consolidation in the global financial services industry has also enhanced the 
competitive position of some of the Group's principal competitors in the UK by broadening the 
range of their products and services and their access to capital, increasing their distribution 
channels and providing more diversified revenue streams, including geographical 
diversification. Such competitive factors could result in increased pricing pressures on a 
number of the Group's products and services, particularly as competitors seek to win market 
share in the UK, and may harm the Group's ability to maintain or increase its market share or 
profitability. 

In certain non-UK markets, the Group faces intense competition from local and international 
financial institutions, which may be more established in these markets and may have other 
competitive advantages, such as greater size and breadth, which may limit the Group's ability to 
be successful in these markets. In addition, local laws and regulations may be tailored to 
domestic products, which may pose additional challenges to the Group when introducing UK-
style life assurance and pensions products. 

A failure to compete effectively might have an adverse impact on the financial condition of the 
Group. 

1.2.3 The Group's strategy envisages the continuing and increased use of outsourcing 
arrangements 

A significant proportion of key customer service, administration, IT and back office functions 
are, and increasingly will be, provided by third party providers under formal outsourcing 
arrangements. The success of the strategy will depend on the ability of the Group to contract 
successfully and robustly with new outsourced service providers and on the continued 
performance and financial stability of these providers. 

1.2.4 The Life and Pensions Business is dependent on distributor firms for the sale of new 
business 

Much of the Life and Pensions Business's new business is derived from independent distributor 
firms over whom the Group has no direct influence. As described in paragraph 1.2.2, effective 
distribution is dependent on meeting a number of competitive challenges. In addition, in the UK 
the FSA is consulting on a number of proposals regarding potential changes to existing financial 
advisory practices in the retail distribution market. This review could have a significant impact 
on the provision of advice within the retail distribution market and, if the FSA's proposals are 
implemented, there could be significant costs involved, particularly in relation to the new types 
of financial advisor proposed and the new standards applicable to them. The Group seeks to 

12 



influence but cannot control the outcome of the FSA's consultation and the precise impact of 
the proposals on the distribution of financial products cannot be accurately predicted. 

1.2.5 The Group faces risks associated with the operation of an asset management business 
through its significant ownership interest in F&C 

Friends Provident operates an asset management business through its ownership of a 52.35 per 
cent stake in F&C, a separately listed asset management company. This stake is split between 
Friends Provident, which holds a 47.90 per cent stake and L&M, which holds a 4.45 per cent 
stake. 

When buying investment products or selecting an investment manager, customers consider, 
amongst other things, the historical investment performance of the product or the manager. In 
the event that the Group's asset management business does not provide satisfactory or 
appropriate investment returns in the future, underperforms its competitors or benchmark 
performance measures, or fails to respond to market demands, existing mandates may be 
reduced or lost and the business may find it more difficult to win new mandates. If the Group's 
asset management business fails to win new mandates and/or loses or fails to retain a significant 
number of existing mandates the performance of the Group's asset management businesses may 
fail to achieve expectations and the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of 
the Group could be materially adversely affected. 

There are risks associated with the process of managing customer assets. For example, failure to 
manage the investment process or execute the trading activities properly could lead to poor 
investment decisions and poor asset allocation, the wrong investments being bought or sold and 
the incorrect monitoring of exposures. A failure to achieve competitive investment returns on 
customer's assets could lead to the loss of customers or a liability for the Group's asset 
management division to pay compensation. 

In addition, if the Group loses any of its key investment managers it may also lose certain 
investment management mandates and funds and/or be "put on hold" by consultants and other 
controllers of investments, making the retention and winning of mandates and funds more 
difficult. 

1.3 Insurance risks 

1.3.1 Success of the long-term insurance business within the Life and Pensions Business 
depends to a significant extent on the values of claims paid in the future relative to the 
assets accumulated to the date of the claim 

The success of the long-term insurance business within the Life and Pensions Business depends 
to a significant extent on the values of claims paid in the future relative to the assets 
accumulated to the date of claim. Typically, over the lifetime of a contract, premiums and 
investment returns exceed claim costs in the early years and it is necessary to set aside these 
amounts to meet future obligations. The amount of such future obligations is assessed on 
actuarial principles by reference to assumptions with regard to the development of interest rates, 
mortality or morbidity rates, persistency rates (being the extent to which policies remain in 
force and are not for any reason surrendered or transferred prior to maturity) and future levels 
of expenses. These assumptions may turn out to be incorrect. In the event these assumptions 
turn out to be materially incorrect or the value of claim costs otherwise exceeds that predicted 
in the Group's actuarial models, the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of 
the Group could be materially adversely affected. 
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In addition, it is necessary for the boards of directors of the relevant companies to make 
decisions, based on actuarial advice, which ensure an appropriate build-up of assets and 
liabilities relative to one another. These decisions include the allocation of investments among 
equity, fixed income, property, other asset classes, the setting of policyholder bonus rates (some 
of which are guaranteed) and the setting of surrender terms. While the boards of directors of the 
companies that hold the Life and Pensions Business seek to ensure that such decisions are 
consistent with their regulatory obligations, there is a risk that policyholders may argue that 
their interests have been adversely affected, or they have otherwise been treated unfairly, by 
such decisions. These arguments may give rise to regulatory consequences (including 
sanctions) or compensation obligations for the Group, which in turn may have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition. 

1.3.2 Changes in actuarial assumptions used within the Life and Pensions Business, which will 
be driven by estimates which may ultimately differ from actual liabilities, may lead to 
changes in the level of capital required to be maintained 

Although the companies within the Life and Pensions Business monitor their actual experience 
against the actuarial assumptions they use and apply that outcome to refine their long-term 
assumptions, because of the underlying risks it is not possible to determine precisely the 
amounts that it will ultimately be necessary to pay to meet these liabilities. Amounts may vary 
from estimates, particularly when those payments do not occur until well into the future. The 
life insurance companies evaluate their liabilities at least annually, allowing for changes in the 
assumptions used to establish their liabilities, as well as for the actual claims experience. 
Changes in assumptions may lead to changes in the level of capital required to be maintained. 
In the event that the Group's capital requirements are significantly increased, the amount of the 
Group's excess capital available for other business purposes will decline, potentially having a 
significant adverse impact on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial 
condition. 

To the extent that actual claims experience is less favourable than the underlying assumptions, 
or it is necessary to increase provisions in anticipation of a higher rate of future claims, the 
amount of additional capital required (and therefore the amount of capital which can be released 
from the businesses) and the ability of the Group to manage the Life and Pensions Business in 
an efficient manner may all be materially adversely affected. 

If the assumptions underlying the reserving basis are shown to be incorrect, the Group may 
have to increase the amount of its reserves or the amount of risk reinsured, which could have a 
material adverse impact on the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of the 
Life and Pensions Business. 

1.3.3 Increases in liabilities relating to product guarantees and benefits may negatively affect 
the Life and Pensions Business 

In the 1970s and 1980s, when interest rates were higher than they have been in recent years, life 
insurance companies (including companies that form part of the Life and Pensions Business) 
sold pension contracts that contained certain guarantees or options, including guaranteed 
annuity options that allowed the policyholder to elect to take the lump sum payable upon the 
maturity of the pension and apply the funds to purchase an annuity at a minimum guaranteed 
rate. During the last decade, interest rates and inflation have fallen and life expectancy has 
increased more rapidly than originally anticipated. As a result, in many cases the guaranteed 
rate applicable to these contracts is more favourable than annuity rates currently available in the 
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market. There has been significant market concern in recent years as to the implications of such 
guarantees and options for reserving and bonus declarations. 

Companies forming part of the Life and Pensions Business have existing liabilities relating to 
guarantees and options contained in policies, which are increased by downward movements in 
interest rates and investment returns, increasing life expectancy and the proportion of customers 
exercising their option. In order to address the interest rate risk, Friends Provident has 
purchased derivatives that provide some protection against an increase in liabilities and the 
sensitivity of profit to movements in interest rates. The Group will inevitably be exposed to 
counter-party risk in respect of such financial instruments. The Group seeks to mitigate that 
counter-party risk by obtaining collateral to support the obligations of these counter-parties, but 
there can be no guarantee that the collateral obtained will be sufficient or effective in all 
circumstances in order to protect against those risks. The most significant factors affecting the 
cost of these liabilities relative to the provisions made are the number of customers electing to 
exercise their option to take the more favourable annuity rates and the relative values of any 
hedge derivatives that may be maintained from time to time and the liabilities. The Group's 
business, results of operations and/or prospects may be materially adversely affected if such 
liabilities are significantly increased. 

1.3.4 Changes in mortality/longevity experience may adversely affect the Life and Pensions 
Business 

The Life and Pensions Business has liabilities under annuities and other products that are 
sensitive to future mortality/longevity experience. For example, annuities are subject to the risk 
that annuitants live longer than was projected at the time their policies were issued with the 
result that the insurer must continue paying out to the annuitants for longer than anticipated 
(and therefore longer than was reflected in the price of the annuity). Conversely, increased 
mortality will increase death claims on life insurance products and decrease renewal rates. In 
calculating actuarial liabilities, certain assumptions have historically been made for 
mortality/longevity, including an allowance for improvements in annuitant mortality/longevity, 
although no assurance can be given that these assumptions will be correct or will give rise to 
adequate provisions within the Life and Pensions Business. 

1.3.5 Changes in morbidity experience may adversely affect the Life and Pensions Business 

The Life and Pensions Business has liabilities under income protection and other products that 
are sensitive to future morbidity experience, that is, the propensity of policyholders to suffer, in 
particular, long-term impairments to their health through illness or accident. These products are 
subject to the risk that more policyholders than anticipated will suffer from long-term health 
impairments and the risk, in the case of income protection or waiver of premium benefits, that 
those who are eligible to make a claim do so for longer than anticipated (and therefore longer 
than was reflected in the price of the policies). Improvements in medical treatments that 
prolong life without restoring the ability to work could lead to the crystallisation of these risks. 
No assurance can be given that the allowances and assumptions about morbidity that have been 
made in calculating actuarial liabilities will be correct or will give rise to adequate provisions 
within the Life and Pensions Business. 

1.3.6 Performance of the Group's products depends on the Group's ability to set accurate 
prices for the products it sells 

The Group's business, results of operations and financial condition depends on its ability to 
underwrite and set rates and prices accurately for its targeted spectrum of risks. Rate adequacy 
is necessary to generate sufficient premiums to pay losses and underwriting expenses and to 
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earn profit on its own underwriting and its commission income (which is related to the amount 
and profitability of the pure protection business to be written by the Group). If the Group fails 
to assess accurately the risks that it assumes, it may fail to establish adequate premium rates, 
which could reduce those portions of the Group's revenues and have a material adverse effect 
on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition. 

Although the Group's pricing of risks will inevitably be influenced to some degree by that of its 
competitors, the Board believes that it is generally not in the Group's best interest to compete 
solely on price. If the Group does not meet the prices offered by its competitors, it may lose 
business in the short term, which could result in reduced revenues derived from underwriting. 

1.3.7 The Group may be exposed to claims under its products which exceed its expectations 

The Group seeks to limit its exposure to insurance losses under its products through a number 
of loss limitation initiatives including internal risk management procedures and through quota 
share reinsurance arrangements and outwards reinsurance protection. The failure of any of the 
loss limitation initiatives employed by the Group could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition, as it will affect income 
derived from its underwriting and the profit commission receivable. 

Notwithstanding the risk mitigation and underwriting controls that the Group employs, one or 
more catastrophic or other loss events could result in claims that substantially exceed the 
Group's expectations, which could have a material adverse effect on its business, results of 
operations and/or financial condition. 

1.3.8 The Group's claims reserves in relation to some of its pure protection business may be 
inadequate to cover its actual liability for losses and as a result the Group's business, 
results of operations or financial condition could be adversely affected 

Months and sometimes years may elapse between the occurrence of an insured event, the 
reporting of a claim to the Group and payment of the claim. The Group will record a liability 
for estimates of total claims that will be paid for events reported to it and for events that have 
occurred but have not yet been reported, which will be referred to as "claims reserves" or "case 
reserves". 

These reserves will be estimates based on historical data and statistical projections of what the 
Board believes the settlement and administration of claims will cost based on facts and 
circumstances then known to it. Actual claims, however, may vary significantly from the 
Group's estimates. Because of the uncertainties that surround estimated claims reserves, the 
Group cannot be certain that its reserves will be adequate to cover its actual claims. If the 
Group's reserves for unpaid claims are less than actual losses, it will be required to increase its 
reserves with a corresponding reduction in its net income in the period in which the deficiency 
is identified. Future claims experience substantially in excess of the Group's reserves for unpaid 
claims could substantially harm its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

1.3.9 Policyholder behaviour may not accord with expectations 

The Group faces a risk of financial loss arising from experience of actual policyholder 
behaviour (for example in relation to lapses or option take-up) being different from 
expectations. Persistency experience varies over time as well as from one type of contract to 
another. Factors that cause lapse rates to vary over time include changes in investment 
performance of the assets underlying the contract where appropriate, regulatory changes that 
make alternative products more attractive, customer perceptions of the insurance industry in 
general and the Group in particular, and the general economic environment. 
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1.4 Investment risk 

1.4.1 Deposit institutions may default or adversely change their financial position 

The Group faces a risk of a financial loss arising from a deposit institution's default or the 
deterioration of the deposit institution's financial position. The Group is also exposed to credit 
risk on balances deposited with banks in the form of cash, certificates of deposit and money 
market instruments (including traditional bank debt, bank subordinated debt and hybrid debt). 
The Group is also exposed to credit risk on balances deposited as money market instruments by 
parties other than banks (e.g. commercial paper). The default of or an adverse change in the 
financial position of a deposit institution could have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition of the Group. 

1.4.2 Debtors may be unable to repay their loan obligations owing to the Group or may 
adversely change their financial position 

The Group has made loans to strategic partner distributors and advances commission on an 
indemnity basis to IFAs for the sale of some products of the Life and Pensions Business. The 
Group faces a risk of financial loss arising from a debtor's inability to repay all, or part, of its 
loan obligations to the Group or the deterioration of the debtor's financial position. The most 
material of such exposures are loans to IFAs as part of strategic investments, stock lending 
arrangements, other strategic loans, loans to former appointed representatives, agency debt 
(including debt arising as a result of clawback of unearned indemnity commission), 
policyholder debt, and rental income due. In general, these quantitative credit exposures are 
relatively low but they can bear relatively high likelihoods of default. Any such defaults could 
have a material impact on the Group's financial position. 

1.4.3 The Group may be exposed to credit risk arising from transactions with sovereign agents 

The Group faces a risk of financial loss arising from economic agents in a sovereign foreign 
country, including its government, being unable or unwilling to fulfil their international 
obligations due to a shortage of foreign exchange or other common reasons such as currency 
inconvertibility. The Group is exposed to country risk in a number of key areas, the most 
significant of which is bonds issued by foreign governments in non-domestic currency. Any 
defaults by these issuers could have a material impact on the Group's financial position. 

1.4.4 Third parties may default or not deliver on their settlement obligations 

The Group faces a risk of financial loss arising from the failure or substantial delay of an 
expected settlement in a transfer system to take place, due to the relevant third party defaulting 
or not delivering on its settlement obligations. The Group is exposed to settlement risk in the 
following key areas: bank transfers, including foreign exchange transactions, the purchase or 
sale of investments, the purchase or sale of property, the purchase, sale or expiry of exchange-
traded derivatives or the transfer of periodic payments under such contracts and the settlement 
of derivative contracts. Any such failures or substantial delays could have a material adverse 
impact on the Group's financial position. 

1.4.5 Investment portfolios and the investment income from them are susceptible to changes in 
general economic conditions 

The Group's investment portfolios are susceptible to changes in general economic conditions, 
including changes that impact the general credit-worthiness of issuers of debt securities and 
equity securities and the value and returns from properties and other investments held in the 
portfolios. The value of various investments, including fixed income securities, may be affected 
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by changes in issuers' credit ratings or by issuers' defaults. A broad range of largely 
unpredictable factors may affect general economic conditions, including political events, 
changes in socio-economic conditions or trends, war, pestilence and natural disaster. The 
performance or value of the Group's investment portfolios and the income from them may be 
materially adversely affected by a downturn in general economic conditions and/or other events 
outside the control of the Group. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition. 

1.5 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity, although solvent, either does not have sufficient financial 
resources available to it in order to meet its obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only at 
excessive cost. The Group faces three key types of liquidity risk: 

1.5.1 Funds managed for the benefit of shareholders may become illiquid 

Funds managed for the benefit of shareholders, including shareholders' interests in long-term 
funds, may become illiquid. Recent challenging market conditions have led to certain assets 
becoming more illiquid. The Group is exposed to shareholder liquidity risk in a number of key 
areas including the ability to support the liquidity requirements arising from new business, the 
capacity to maintain dividend payments, loan repayments and interest, the ability to cope with 
the liquidity implications of strategic initiatives, such as merger and acquisition activity, the 
capacity to provide financial support across the Group, and the ability to fund its day-to-day 
cash requirements. The Group might experience difficulty in selling such assets in a timely 
manner and might therefore consider selling them (in the longer term) at values below those 
realisable in other circumstances. 

1.5.2 Funds managed for the benefit of policyholders may become illiquid 

Funds managed for the benefit of policyholders may become illiquid. Recent challenging 
market conditions have led to certain assets becoming more illiquid. Policyholder liquidity risk 
could arise from a number of areas including a short-term mismatch between cash flow assets 
and cash flow requirements of liabilities, having to sell assets to meet liabilities during stressed 
market conditions such as those that currently exist, investments in illiquid assets such as 
property and private placement debt, higher than expected levels of lapses/surrenders caused by 
economic shock, adverse reputational issues or other events, higher than expected payments of 
claims on insurance contracts, and the implementation of temporary restrictions for the 
withdrawal of funds, as recently applied by extending notice periods of switches and 
withdrawals from property funds. The Group might experience difficulty in selling such assets 
in a timely manner and might therefore consider selling them (in the longer term) at values 
below those realisable in other circumstances. 

1.5.3 Requirements to post collateral or make payments related to declines in the market value 
of specified assets may adversely affect the Group's liquidity and expose the Group to 
counter-party risk 

Certain transactions entered into by Group companies will require the company concerned to 
post collateral. The amount of collateral required might, under certain circumstances, adversely 
affect the Group's liquidity. 



1.6 Reinsurance 

The Group has a substantial exposure to reinsurers through reinsurance arrangements 

The Group has a substantial exposure to reinsurers through reinsurance arrangements. Under these 
reinsurance arrangements, other insurers assume a portion of the costs, losses and expenses associated 
with policy claims and maturities and reported and unreported losses in exchange for a portion of 
policy premiums. The Group's most significant current reinsurance arrangements are with Windsor 
Life (a subsidiary of Swiss Re) and Barclays Global Investors. 

The Group is exposed to this risk in three ways: (i) as a result of debts arising from claims made by 
Group companies but not yet paid by the reinsurer; (ii) from reinsurance premium payments made to 
the reinsurer in advance; and (iii) as a result of reserves held by the reinsurer which would have to be 
met by the Group in the event of default. 

The availability, amount and cost of reinsurance depend on general market conditions and may vary 
significantly. Any decrease in the amount of reinsurance cover purchased will increase the Group's risk 
of loss. When reinsurance is obtained, the Group is still liable for those transferred risks if the reinsurer 
does not meet its obligations. Therefore, the inability or failure of reinsurers to meet their financial 
obligations could materially adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations and/or 
financial condition. 

In addition, as a proportion of insurance risk arising on new business is likely to be reassured, changes 
in reassurance rates available may impact upon the future profitability of any new business. The 
availability of reinsurance cover from appropriate counterparties may be restricted and may affect the 
ability to write new business on the basis envisaged. 

1.7 Credit and financial strength ratings 

Adverse changes in one or more Group member's credit ratings may have adverse effects on the 
Group's business. 

Ratings agencies may, at their discretion, change any of the ratings assigned to any member of the 
Group. A downgrade in the Group's financial strength ratings or a downgrade in its credit ratings, or 
the announced potential for a downgrade of any of these ratings, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group's business, results of operations or financial condition in many ways, including: (i) 
reducing demand for its new business life, pensions and protection products; (ii) adversely affecting 
the Group's relationships with its intermediaries and its corporate partners and materially weakening 
its competitive position; (iii) reducing public confidence in the Group; (iv) increasing its costs of 
borrowing, including in debt capital markets transactions; and (v) adversely affecting the Group's 
ability to obtain reinsurance or to obtain reasonable pricing on reinsurance. 

1.8 Accounting 

1.8.1 The valuation bases for financial assets may include methodologies, estimations and 
assumptions which are subject to differing interpretations and, depending on the 
interpretation, could result in changes to investment valuations that may materially affect 
the results of operations and/or financial condition 

In the Group's financial reporting, financial assets are designated at fair value as they are 
managed on a fair value basis. Financial liabilities such as investment contracts are designated 
at fair value to eliminate mismatch with corresponding assets. Fair values are based on quoted 
bid prices for a specific instrument, or comparisons with other highly similar financial 



instruments, or the use of valuation models. Establishing valuations where there are no quoted 
bid prices inherently involves the use of judgement. 

Methods considered when determining fair values of unlisted shares and other variable 
securities include discounted cash flow techniques, net asset valuation or carrying value. The 
value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by applying valuation techniques, using 
pricing models or discounted cash flow methods. Where pricing models are used, inputs -
including future dividends, swap rates and volatilities - based on market data at the balance 
sheet date are used to estimate derivative values. Where discounted cash flow techniques are 
used, estimated future cash flows and discount rates are based on current market swap rates. For 
units in unit trusts and shares in open ended investment companies, fair value is by reference to 
published bid-values. Participation in investment pools mainly relates to property investments. 
Property is independently valued in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyor's guidelines on the basis of open fair values as at each year end. 

During periods of market disruption, rapidly widening credit spreads or illiquidity, it may be 
difficult to value some assets. Further, rapidly changing and unprecedented credit and equity 
market conditions could materially impact the valuation of securities as reported within the 
Group's consolidated financial statements and the period-to-period changes in value could vary 
significantly. Decreases in value may have a material adverse effect on the results of operations 
and/or financial condition. 

1.8.2 Changes in accounting standards, both specifically in relation to insurance and more 
generally, could have a negative effect on the Group's financial results, distributable 
reserves or net assets 

Friends Provident has historically prepared consolidated group accounts on an IFRS basis and 
the Group is also required to report on this basis going forward. In May 2007 the International 
Accounting Standards Board published a discussion paper on accounting for insurance 
contracts. This is expected to lead to a new accounting standard in due course. Changes in 
accounting standards both specifically in relation to insurance and more generally could have 
an adverse effect on the Group's financial results, distributable reserves or net assets. 

1.9 Legal and regulatory risks 

1.9.1 The Group is subject to extensive regulation and must comply with minimum capital 
requirements 

All UK and overseas regulated insurance companies face the risk that the FSA or an overseas 
regulator could find that they have failed to comply with applicable regulations or have not 
undertaken corrective action as required, and an inability to meet regulatory capital 
requirements in the future could lead to intervention by the FSA or an overseas regulator which 
could be expected to require the Group or individual entities within the Group to take steps for 
the security of policyholders with a view to restoring regulatory capital to acceptable levels. 

The legislation and regulation affecting members of the Group govern matters with respect to a 
wide range of areas. In particular, the Life and Pensions Business is subject to applicable law 
and regulation, both within the UK (principally by the FSA) and internationally (principally by 
the Insurance and Pension Authority (Isle of Man), the Insurance Authority (Hong Kong), the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore, the Ministry of Economy and Insurance Authority (United 
Arab Emirates), the Commissariat aux Assurances (Luxembourg), the Swiss Financial Market 
Supervisory Authority (FINMA), and the Guernsey Financial Services Commission (in respect 
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of LIPCC)). The FSA is the most significant of these regulators in respect of the Group, 
although each of the other regulators has powers and responsibilities that may affect the 
Group's operations within each such regulator's jurisdiction. 

In the UK, the FSA has broad powers under FSMA, including the authority to grant, vary the 
terms of, or cancel a regulated firm's authorisation, to investigate marketing and sales practices 
and to require the maintenance of adequate capital resources. It has the power to take a range of 
formal and informal disciplinary and enforcement actions, including private censure, public 
censure, restitution, fines or compensation and other sanctions. The UK regulatory regime, 
including the FSA's powers and responsibilities, is discussed in more detail in the section of this 
document entitled "UKInsurance Regulation" below. 

Firms which are permitted to carry on insurance business in the UK are required to maintain a 
minimum level of assets (referred to as regulatory capital) in excess of their liabilities. The 
Directors believe the Group satisfies all of the current requirements in this regard. However, 
fluctuations in investment markets would, directly or indirectly, affect levels of regulatory 
capital held by the Group. An inability to meet regulatory capital requirements in the future 
could lead to intervention by the FSA, which could be expected to require the Group to take 
steps for the security of policyholders with a view to restoring regulatory capital to acceptable 
levels. 

The Group's activities and strategies are based upon prevailing law and regulation. Changes in, 
and differing interpretation and application of, law and regulation could have a detrimental 
effect on the Group's strategy and profitability (including through the imposition of additional 
compliance costs). Changes in governmental policy, such as in relation to government pension 
arrangements and policies, could also have an adverse impact on the Group's business, results 
of operations and/or financial condition. Future changes are inherently unpredictable, however 
certain foreseeable changes in UK insurance regulation are outlined below. 

1.9.2 There have been significant changes in relevant legislation and regulation, each of which 
has had a significant impact on the UK life assurance industry over the last few years. 
Various new reforms to the relevant legislation and regulation have also been proposed 
which could involve significant implementation costs and may create uncertainty in the 
application of relevant laws or regulation 

There have been significant legislative and regulatory changes in recent years in the UK life 
assurance and pensions market, including simplification of the pensions regime which was 
implemented on 6 April 2006 and the FSA's "depolarisation" reforms, each of which has had a 
significant impact on the UK life assurance industry and, as a consequence, will have a 
significant impact on the Life and Pensions Business. The FSA has also proposed to reform the 
product disclosure regime for investment products. If the FSA's proposals are implemented, 
there could be significant costs involved in implementing the proposals, particularly in relation 
to changes to projections and product and charges documentation. 

The EU Commission is carrying out a wide-ranging review in relation to solvency margins and 
reserves (the project being known as "Solvency II"). It is intended that the new regime for 
insurers and reinsurers (apart from very small firms) will apply more risk-sensitive standards to 
capital requirements, bring insurance regulation more closely in line with banking and security 
regulation with a view to avoiding regulatory arbitrage, align regulatory capital with economic 
capital and bring about an enhanced degree of public disclosure on a yearly basis. Solvency II 
could have an impact on the Group's reported results and hence on distributable reserves. 
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Solvency II is expected to come into force in 2013, barring major delays arising from, for 
instance, political problems in getting the directive through the initial "co-decision" process. 
The broad outlines of the new regime are already apparent from consultations issued by the 
Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors and the draft 
framework directive published by the Commission in July 2007; a slightly amended version of 
this proposal was published in February 2008. The FSA's discussion paper, "Insurance Risk 
Management: the Path to Solvency II", published in September 2008, provides the current 
primary basis for planning for the eventual implementation of the directive in the UK. The 
reforms proposed by Solvency II are broadly based on a three pillar structure which deal with 
minimum capital requirements, supervisory review processes and public transparency and 
market discipline. 

In December 2008, a draft framework directive to implement the Solvency II proposal was 
adopted by the European Union Council of Economic and Finance Ministers. However, this 
draft did not include the proposals for the group support and supervision regime due to the 
inability to reach consensus. The draft being considered by the EU Parliament, which still 
contains the group supervision provision, is due to be voted on in the first half of 2009. This 
may mean that the proposed framework directive will have to go to a second reading once the 
group supervision provision has been agreed, which may mean the timetable is delayed beyond 
2013. 

The FSA is continuing its shift towards "principles-based regulation" of the financial services 
industry. This will involve a greater degree of reliance on broadly stated, high level principles to 
set the standards by which regulated firms must conduct business, rather than on more detailed 
rules. The implications of a more principles-based approach for regulators, those regulated by 
the FSA and those whose interests the regulatory regime is designed to protect are the subject of 
ongoing dialogue. 

In terms of compliance, there will be a greater need for regulated firms to make qualitative 
judgements for themselves, and to integrate their compliance and business processes. Due to the 
fact that the loss of detailed rules will result in a loss of leverage with the FSA, firms will be 
expected to use the principles to form an "ethical business culture", which will help to ensure 
that any gaps in the rules-based regime are dealt with. 

1.9.3 Changes in taxation law may impact the Group and may impact upon the decisions of 
policyholders and potential policyholders 

UK and overseas taxation law includes rules governing company taxes, business taxes, personal 
taxes, capital taxes and indirect taxes. The Group is unable to predict accurately the impact of 
future changes in UK and overseas tax legislation on its business. From time to time changes in 
the interpretation of existing UK and overseas tax laws, amendments to existing tax rates, or the 
introduction of new tax legislation in the UK or overseas may adversely impact the business, 
results of operations and financial condition of the Group. Further, there is specific UK and 
overseas legislation that governs the taxation of life insurance companies, changes to which 
might adversely affect life insurance companies. Whilst those risks may impact on the 
insurance sector as a whole, the impact on the Group in particular depends upon the mix of 
long-term business within its portfolio and other relevant circumstances at the time of the 
change. 

Following a consultation by the UK government changes to the taxation of life insurance 
companies were included in the Finance Act 2007 and the Finance Act 2008. Further legislation 
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is likely to be included in the Finance Act 2009. At this stage it is not possible to predict with 
certainty what the potential impact (if any) of any such future legislation on the Group may be. 

There are also specific rules governing the taxation of policyholders. The Group is unable to 
predict with certainty the impact of future changes in tax law on the taxation of life insurance 
and pension policies in the hands of policyholders. Amendments to existing legislation 
(particularly if there is the withdrawal of any tax relief or an increase in tax rates) or the 
introduction of new rules may impact upon the future Life and Pensions Business and the 
decisions of policyholders and potential policyholders. The impact of any changes upon the 
Group thereafter might depend on the mix of in-force business at the time of the change and 
could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and/or financial 
condition of the Life and Pensions Business. 

1.9.4 The effect of future changes in legislation on specific products may have a material 
adverse effect on the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of the Life 
and Pensions Business and may lead to policyholders attempting to seek redress where 
they allege that a product fails to meet the reasonable expectations of the policyholder 

The design of long-term insurance products is predicated on legislation (particularly tax 
legislation) extant at that time. However, future changes in legislation or interpretation of the 
legislation may, when applied to these products, have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition of the relevant long-term funds of the Life and Pensions Business in which the 
business was written and therefore have a negative impact on policyholder returns. 

Long-term product design, including new business, will take into account, among other things, 
risks, benefits, charges, expenses, investment return (including bonuses) and taxation. A 
policyholder or group of policyholders may seek legal redress where the product fails to meet 
the reasonable expectations of the policyholder or policyholders. Given the inherent 
unpredictability of litigation, it is possible that an adverse outcome in some matters could have 
a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and/or financial condition of the 
Life and Pensions Business arising from the penalties imposed, together with the costs of 
defending any action. 

1.9.5 There may be changes to the current VAT rules which result in VAT being chargeable on 
certain outsourcing agreements of the Group and such VAT suffered not being recoverable 
from HMRC as deductible VAT input tax 

The companies that form the Group currently do not pay significant amounts of VAT in respect 
of services they receive under their outsourced policy administration services agreements. If the 
amount of VAT payable were to increase then this would increase the costs of these companies 
to the extent that such VAT suffered is not recoverable from HMRC as deductible VAT input 
tax. 

VAT is currently reduced or not charged on services under these agreements for one or both of 
the following reasons: (a) the services are exempt under the insurance intermediaries' 
exemption; and/or (b) where the supplier is based outside of the European Union (such as 
India), certain services are treated as being supplied outside the EU and so not subject to VAT. 

Both of these reasons are currently subject to possible change. As regards reason (a), a recent 
decision of the European Court of Justice in Staatssecretaris van Financien v Arthur Andersen 
& Co Accountants cs (Case C-472/03) ("Andersen") narrowed the scope of the insurance 
intermediaries' exemption. Whilst HMRC has stated that it will not seek to apply the decision in 
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the UK, this decision was subject to review depending on the result of the EU Commission's 
review of how VAT operates in relation to financial services. The EU Commission reviewed EC 
VAT legislation concerning financial services and made a number of proposals. Such proposals 
have not become law and it is not known when this might occur and what the impact on the 
Group would be. In addition, no amendments to UK law or HMRC guidance have yet been 
made. As regards reason (b), the EU Commission has proposed (and the EU Council has now 
adopted legislation concerning) a change to the place of supply rules which is expected to be 
included in the Finance Bill 2009 that could lead to the conclusion that services under the 
Group's outsourced policy administration services agreements may be treated as subject to UK 
VAT rules. 

1.9.6 Potential FSA (or overseas regulator) intervention on industry wide issues 

From time to time there are issues and disputes which arise from the way in which the 
insurance industry has, for example, sold or administered an insurance policy or otherwise 
treated policyholders, either individually or collectively. These issues and disputes may 
typically, for individual policyholders, be resolved by the Financial Ombudsman Service (the 
"FOS") or any equivalent overseas body or litigation. However, where larger groups or matters 
of public policy are concerned, the FSA or an overseas regulator may intervene directly. 

In recent years there have been several industry-wide issues in which the FSA has intervened 
directly. These include the sale of personal pensions, the sale of mortgage-related endowments 
and investments in split capital investment trusts. The FSA may identify future industry-wide 
mis-selling or other issues that could affect the Group. This may lead from time to time to: (i) 
significant direct costs or liabilities for the Life and Pensions Business (including in relation to 
mis-selling); and (ii) changes in the Group's practices which benefit policyholders at a cost to 
shareholders. In addition to the FSA, certain companies within the Life and Pensions Business 
are regulated in overseas jurisdictions resulting in potential policyholder claims and regulatory 
intervention in those jurisdictions on a similar basis. 

1.9.7 Decisions of the Financial Ombudsman Service may have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business 

The FOS exists to resolve disputes involving individual or small business policyholder disputes. 
Decisions are not made public but applicants are allowed normal legal remedies if its decisions 
are considered unacceptable. From time to time decisions taken by the FOS may, if extended to 
a particular class or grouping of policyholders, have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
business, results of operations and/or financial condition. In addition to the FOS, certain 
companies within the Group's Life and Pensions Business are regulated overseas and may fall 
under the jurisdiction of an overseas body similar to the FOS. 

1.9.8 The FSA-regulated entities within the Group are generally required, among other things, 
to treat their customers fairly; the requirements (and associated compliance costs) of this 
rule may change over time 

Treating Customers Fairly ("TCF") has been an increasing focus of FSA activity in recent 
years. In response to high-profile regulatory failures and a perceived divergence between the 
sophistication of financial products and the financial literacy of consumers, the FSA has 
increased its emphasis on the need for consumer protection. In particular, the FSA has stated 
that its approach to TCF will be governed by high-level principles rather than a strict 
interpretation of the FSA Rules. Consequently, the failure by a financial services firm to 
implement a TCF policy aligned with the FSA's approach may lead to enforcement action by 
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the FSA. In addition, as regulation and practice concerning TCF obligations are still 
developing, it may take some time for established market practice and settled interpretation to 
emerge. 

1.10 Investment performance 

1.10.1 Past investment returns of the Group may not be indicative of the Group's future 
performance; a failure to replicate past investment returns may result in a decline in new 
business 

Various classes of insurance and non-insurance business undertaken by the Group produce 
returns based on investment income. The Group may not be successful in replicating its past 
performance in relation to such investment returns. As a consequence, the historical returns 
achieved by the Group may not provide a meaningful basis upon which to assess the future 
performance of the Group in this regard. A failure by the Group to replicate past performance in 
this regard could adversely affect new business sales and so could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition. 

1.10.2 Future relative investment underperformance by F&C may adversely affect the Group's 
ability to attract new business and retain existing business 

F&C is the investment manager of the assets underlying many of the contracts sold by the Life 
and Pensions Business. Investment performance is a factor in the selection of product provider 
by distributors and their customers for some product types, for example, personal and group 
pension products. If F&C consistently underperforms relative to other fund managers it could 
lead to difficulties for Group companies in attracting new business and to the early termination, 
surrender or transfer of existing investment-related business. Difficulties in attracting new 
business or retaining existing business could have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
business, results of operations and/or financial condition. 

1.11 Other operational exposures 

1.11.1 The Group faces operational risks 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, from 
people and systems, or from external events. The Group is, and will be, exposed to operational 
risks including in relation to business continuity, IT systems integrity, customer data security, 
and internal control or compliance weaknesses (including in relation to the adequacy of 
management information). 

The crystallisation of any or all of the above risk exposures, despite the management controls in 
place, could result in material reputational damage, the loss of customers and a consequent 
material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition. 

Notwithstanding anything in this risk factor, this risk factor should not be taken as implying that 
the Issuer will be unable to comply with its obligations as a company with securities admitted to 
the Official List or that the Issuer or the Guarantor will be unable to comply with their 
obligations as supervised firms regulated by the Financial Services Authority. 

1.11.2 Terrorist acts, other acts of war, geopolitical, pandemic or other such events could have a 
negative impact on the business and results of the Group 

Terrorist acts, other acts of war or hostility, geopolitical, pandemic or other such events and 
responses to those acts/events may create economic and political uncertainties, which could 
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have a negative impact on UK and international economic conditions generally, and more 
specifically on the business and results of the Group in ways that cannot be accurately 
predicted. 

1.11.3 The Group's success depends upon its ability to retain key personnel 

The success of the business of the Group depends on its ability to attract, motivate and retain 
highly skilled management and other personnel. The inability to do so could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and/or financial condition. Also, 
certain individuals are required to be approved by the FSA and, where relevant, overseas 
regulators in order to perform their functions in relation to the Life and Pensions Business. If 
such persons ceased to be fit and proper and accordingly ceased to be approved by the FSA or 
any relevant overseas regulator, they would not be able to perform their relevant functions in 
relation to the Group and their services would effectively be lost to the Group. 

1.11.4 The Group is vulnerable to adverse market perception as it operates in a highly regulated 
industry where it must display a high level of integrity and have the trust and the 
confidence of its customers and their advisers 

Any mismanagement, fraud or failure to satisfy fiduciary responsibilities, or any negative 
publicity resulting from its activities (whether well founded or not), or any accusation by a third 
party in relation to its activities (whether well founded or not) which are associated with the 
Group or the industry generally, could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, 
results of operations and/or financial condition. In particular, reputational damage to the Group 
could adversely affect new business sales and margins via the distribution network. 

Negative publicity in respect of the Group could potentially result in regulators subjecting the 
Group's business to closer scrutiny than would otherwise be the case. 

1.11.5 The Group may be required to make further contributions to its pension scheme if the 
value of pension fund assets is not sufficient to cover potential obligations 

The Group maintains defined benefit pension schemes for past and current employees of the 
UK Life and Pensions Business: Friends Provident operates a defined benefit scheme in the 
UK, whilst F&C operates four defined benefit schemes (two in the UK, one in the Netherlands 
and one in Portugal) and participates in a defined benefit scheme in Ireland. 

The pensions risks relate to the UK defined benefit pension arrangements and are linked to the 
funding positions of those arrangements. 

There is the risk that the liabilities of the defined benefit pension schemes, which are long-term 
in nature., may at any time exceed the value of the scheme's assets. 

A deficit will arise in relation to an ongoing scheme where there has been investment 
underperformance (i.e. where the value of the asset portfolios and returns from them are less 
than expected) and also where there are greater than expected increases in the estimated value 
of the schemes' liabilities, for example on account of increased longevity. 

During recent periods, the Group has voluntarily made deficit contributions. Given the current 
economic and financial market difficulties and the prospects for them to continue over the near 
and medium term, the Group may be required or elect to make further deficit contributions to 
the defined benefit pension schemes and/or put in place contingent assets backed by security. 
Such contributions could be significant and have a negative impact on the Group's results of 
operations. 
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1.11.6 New electronic means of communication and transacting business bring new operational 
risks 

The Life and Pensions Business makes increasing use of electronic communication methods in 
the transacting and servicing of new and existing business. These systems provide increased 
efficiency and greater speed of transaction completion but bring with them new types of 
operational risk and, in particular, increase the risk of fraud, data loss or other security breach. 
The crystallisation of such risks would have an adverse impact on the Group's reputation and 
could have a material adverse impact on operational results and financial condition. 

2 Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the 
Notes 

2.1 The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors 

2.1.1 Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of the investment in light of 
its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, 
the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or 
incorporated by reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement; 

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context 
of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such 
investment will have on its overall investment portfolio; 

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment 
in the Notes, including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies, 
or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential 
investor's currency; 

(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any 
relevant indices and financial markets; and 

(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible 
scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and 
its ability to bear the applicable risks. 

2.2 The Notes are complex financial instruments 

Such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, 
measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest 
in the Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate 
how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes 
and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. 

2.3 Risks related to the structure of the Notes 

The Notes have features which contain particular risks for potential investors 

2.3.1 Early Redemption: The Notes may, subject as provided in Condition 6 (Redemption, 
Substitution, Variation and Purchase), be redeemed following the occurrence of a Tax Law 
Change or a Regulatory Event, in the case of a Tax Law Change, at their principal amount or, in 
the case of a Regulatory Event, at the relevant Make Whole Redemption Price (as each such 
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term is defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" herein), together in each case with 
interest accrued but unpaid to (but excluding) the date of redemption. 

An investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as 
high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a 
significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other 
investments available at that time. 

2.3.2 Subordination: The Issuer's payment obligations under the Notes will be unsecured and 
subordinated (i) on a winding-up of the Issuer and (ii) in the event that an administrator is 
appointed to the Issuer and gives notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend and, 
in each case, will rank junior in priority to the claims of Senior Creditors (as defined in "Terms 
and Conditions of the Notes" herein) of the Issuer. 

The Guarantor's payment obligations in relation to the Notes will be unsecured and 
subordinated (i) on a winding-up of the Guarantor and (ii) in the event that an administrator is 
appointed to the Guarantor and gives notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend 
and, in each case, and will rank junior in priority to the claims of Senior Creditors (as defined in 
"Terms and Conditions of the Notes" herein) of the Guarantor. 

Payments made pursuant to the Guarantee may only be made in circumstances which do not 
result in a breach of the Regulatory Capital Requirements. 

Although the Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable notes which are not 
subordinated, there is a real risk that an investor in the Notes will lose all or some of his 
investment should the Issuer and/or the Guarantor become insolvent. 

2.3.3 Modifications, waivers and substitution: The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain 
provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests 
generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including 
Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in 
a manner contrary to the majority. The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that, 
subject to the prior consent of the FSA being obtained (so long as such consent is required), the 
Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to certain modifications of, or to the 
waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the provisions of the Notes 
or to the substitution of another company as principal debtor or guarantor under the Notes in 
place of the Issuer, or, as the case may be, in place of the Guarantor in the circumstances 
described in Condition 11 (Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution) of 
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. 

2.3.4 Substitution of Friends Provident Group: Subject to the approval of or receiving no objection 
from the FSA, the Issuer intends to transfer all of its interests and obligations under the Notes to 
Friends Provident Group following the Reorganisation. This will occur provided that certain 
very limited conditions as set out in Condition 11(b) (Automatic Substitution) have been 
satisfied. The Issuer has the right to transfer its obligations to Friends Provident Group without 
the approval of holders of the Notes. 

2.3.5 No limitation on issuing senior or pari passu securities: There is no restriction on the amount 
of securities which the Issuer may issue and which rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Notes. 
The issue of any such securities may reduce the amount recoverable by Noteholders on a 
winding-up of the Issuer. In particular, the Notes shall rank junior to the claims of Senior 
Creditors of the Issuer. Accordingly, in the winding-up of the Issuer and after payment of the 
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claims of Senior Creditors, there may not be a sufficient amount to satisfy the amounts owing to 
the Noteholders (as defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" herein). 

2.3.6 Restricted remedy for non-payment when due: In accordance with the FSA's requirements 
for Tier 2 Capital, the sole remedy against each of the Issuer and the Guarantor available to the 
Trustee or (where the Trustee has failed to proceed against the Issuer or the Guarantor as 
provided in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) any Noteholder for recovery of amounts 
which have become due in respect of the Notes and Coupons will be the institution of 
proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor and/or proving in such winding-
up or administration and/or claiming in the liquidation of the Issuer or the Guarantor. 

2.4 The Issuer is a holding company 

Friends Provident is the parent company of the Group with the operations of the Group being 
conducted by operating subsidiaries. Accordingly, and notwithstanding any payments due by the 
Guarantor pursuant to the Guarantee, creditors of a subsidiary would have to be paid in full before 
sums would be available to the shareholders of that subsidiary and so to Noteholders. 

2.5 European Monetary Union 

If the United Kingdom joins the European Monetary Union prior to the maturity of the Notes, there is 
no assurance that this would not adversely affect investors in the Notes. It is possible that prior to the 
maturity of the Notes the United Kingdom may become a participating Member State and that the Euro 
may become the lawful currency of the United Kingdom. In that event (i) all amounts payable in 
respect of the Notes may become payable in Euro (ii) the law may allow or require such Notes to be 
re-denominated into Euro and additional measures to be taken in respect of such Notes; and (iii) there 
may no longer be available published or displayed rates for deposits in sterling used to determine the 
rates of interest on the Notes or changes in the way those rates are calculated, quoted and published or 
displayed. The introduction of the Euro could also be accompanied by a volatile interest rate 
environment, which could adversely affect investors in the Notes. 

2.6 EU Savings Directive 

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is 
required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or 
similar income) paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member 
State or certain limited types of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a 
transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg and Austria are instead required (unless during that period 
they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments (the ending of such 
transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to 
information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and territories 
including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding tax system in the case of 
Switzerland). 

On 15 September 2008 the European Commission issued a report to the Council of the European 
Union on the operation of the Directive, which included the Commission's advice on the need for 
changes to the Directive. On 13 November 2008 the European Commission published a more detailed 
proposal for amendments to the Directive, which included a number of suggested changes. If any of 
those proposed changes are made in relation to the Directive, they may amend or broaden the scope of 
the requirements described above. 

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding 
system and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the 
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Issuer nor any Paying Agent nor any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with 
respect to any New Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to 
maintain a Paying Agent in a Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to 
the Directive. 

2.7 Change of law 

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of issue of the 
Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to 
English law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the Notes. 

2.8 Integral multiples of £50,000 

The Notes are issued in the denomination of £50,000 and higher integral multiples of £1,000 thereafter 
and so it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of £50,000 that are not integral 
multiples of £50,000 (or its equivalent). In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such 
amounts, holds a principal amount of less than £50,000 will not receive a definitive New Note in 
respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal 
amount of Notes such that it holds an amount equal to or greater than £50,000. 

2.9 Risks related to the market generally 

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 
interest rate risk and credit risk: 

2.9.1 The secondary market generally 

Although application has been made to admit the Notes to trading on the Market, the Notes 
have no established trading market and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it 
may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices 
that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed 
secondary market. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of the 
Notes. 

2.9.2 Exchange rate risks and exchange controls 

The Issuer (and failing which the Guarantor, subject to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) 
will pay principal and interest on the Notes in sterling. This presents certain risks relating to 
currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a 
currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than sterling. These include the 
risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of 
sterling or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction 
over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the 
value of the Investor's Currency relative to sterling would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-
equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal 
payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange 
controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may 
receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 
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2.9.3 Interest rate risks 

An investment in the Notes is an investment in fixed rate notes and so involves the risk that 
subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes. 

2.9.4 Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The 
ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional 
factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating 
is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the 
rating agency at any time. 

2.10 Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or 
review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to 
determine whether and to what extent (1) the Notes are legal investments for it, (2) the Notes can be 
used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or 
pledge of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate 
regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital 
or similar rules. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following, subject to amendment or modification pursuant to Condition 11 and except for paragraphs in 
italics, are the terms and conditions of the Notes which will be endorsed on each Note in definitive form (if 
issued). 

The issue of the £161,713,000 12 per cent. Fixed Rate Guaranteed Subordinated Notes due 2021 (the 
"Notes", which expression shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include any further notes issued 
pursuant to Condition 15 and forming a single series with the Notes) of Friends Provident pic (the "Issuer") 
was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 23 April 2009 and the giving 
of the Guarantee was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Friends Provident Life and 
Pensions Limited (the "Guarantor") passed on 22 April 2009 and a resolution of a duly authorised committee 
of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 23 April 2009. The Notes are constituted by a trust deed 
(the "Trust Deed") dated 21 May 2009 between the Issuer, the Guarantor and The Law Debenture Trust 
Corporation p.I.e. (the "Trustee", which expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or 
trustees under the Trust Deed) as trustee for the holders of the Notes (the "Noteholders"). These terms and 
conditions (the "Conditions") include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust 
Deed, which includes the forms of the Notes and of the interest coupons (the "Coupons") appertaining to 
Notes in definitive form. Copies of (i) the Trust Deed; and (ii) the paying agency agreement (the "Agency 
Agreement") dated 21 May 2009 relating to the Notes between the Issuer, the Guarantor, Citibank, N.A., 
London Branch as the initial principal paying agent (the "Principal Paying Agent", which expression shall 
include any successor thereto), the other initial paying agents named therein (together with the Principal 
Paying Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include the Paying Agents for the time being) and 
the Trustee are available for inspection during usual business hours at the registered office of the Trustee 
(presently at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London, EC2V 7EX) and at the specified offices of each of the 
Paying Agents. The Noteholders and the holders of the Coupons (whether or not attached to the relevant 
Notes) (the "Couponholders") are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, 
all the provisions of the Trust Deed, and are deemed to have notice of those provisions applicable to them of 
the Paying Agency Agreement. 

1 Form, Denomination and Title 

(a) Form and Denomination 

The Notes are serially numbered and in bearer form in denominations of £50,000 and integral 
multiples of £1,000 in excess thereof up to and including £99,000 each with Coupons attached on 
issue. No definitive Notes will be issued with a denomination below £50,000 or above £99,000. 

(b) Title 

Title to the Notes and Coupons passes by delivery. The holder of any Note, or Coupon will (except as 
otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is 
overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it, or its 
theft or loss) and no person will be liable for so treating the holder. 
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Status and Subordination of the Notes 

(a) Status 

The Notes and Coupons constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and 
rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims of the 
Noteholders and the Couponholders are subordinated as described in Condition 2(b). 

(b) Subordination 

If: 

(i) at any time an order is made, or an effective resolution is passed, for the winding-up in England 
and Wales of the Issuer (except, in any such case, a solvent winding-up, solely for the purpose 
of a reconstruction or amalgamation of the Issuer, the terms of which reconstruction or 
amalgamation have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary 
Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed)); or 

(ii) an administrator of the Issuer is appointed and such administrator gives notice that it intends to 
declare and distribute a dividend, 

the rights and claims of the Trustee (on behalf of the Noteholders), the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders against the Issuer in respect of or arising under (including any damages awarded for 
breach of any obligations under) the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed relating to them will be 
subordinated in the manner provided in this Condition 2(b) and in the Trust Deed to the claims of all 
Senior Creditors of the Issuer but shall rank at least pari passu with all claims of holders of all other 
subordinated obligations of the Issuer which constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on 
the amount of such capital constitute, Lower Tier 2 Capital and shall rank in priority to the claims of 
holders of all obligations of the Issuer which constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on 
the amount of such capital constitute, Upper Tier 2 Capital or Tier 1 Capital, all claims of all other 
undated or perpetual subordinated obligations of the Issuer, and all claims of holders of all classes of 
share capital of the Issuer. 

The provisions of this Condition 2(b) apply only to the principal, premium and interest in respect of 
the Notes and nothing in this Condition 2(b) or in Condition 8 shall affect or prejudice the payment of 
the costs, charges, expenses, liabilities or remuneration of the Trustee or the rights and remedies of the 
Trustee in respect thereof. 

Status and Subordination of the Guarantee 

(a) Status 

The Guarantor has in the Trust Deed irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual payment of all 
principal, interest and other sums from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect of the Notes and 
the Coupons and all other monies payable by the Issuer in respect of or under or pursuant to the Trust 
Deed. The obligations of the Guarantor under such guarantee (the "Guarantee") constitute direct, 
unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Guarantor. 

(b) Subordination 

If: 

(i) at any time an order is made, or an effective resolution is passed, for the winding-up in England 
and Wales of the Guarantor (except, in any such case, a solvent winding-up solely for the 
purpose of a reconstruction or amalgamation of the Guarantor, the terms of which 
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reconstruction or amalgamation have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by 
an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed)); or 

(ii) an administrator of the Guarantor is appointed and such administrator gives notice that it 
intends to declare and distribute a dividend, 

the rights and claims of the Trustee (on behalf of the Noteholders), the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders against the Guarantor in respect of or arising under (including any damages awarded 
for breach of any obligations under) the Notes, the Coupons and the Trust Deed relating to them will 
be subordinated in the manner provided in this Condition 3(b) and in the Trust Deed to the claims of 
all Senior Creditors of the Guarantor, but shall rank: (A) at least pari passu with all claims relating to a 
guarantee or other like or similar undertaking or arrangement given by the Guarantor in respect of any 
obligations of any other person which constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on the 
amount of such capital, constitute Lower Tier 2 Capital; and (B) (save as specified in the definition of 
Senior Creditors) in priority to the claims of holders of all obligations of the Guarantor which 
constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, Upper 
Tier 2 Capital or Tier 1 Capital, all claims relating to a guarantee or other like or similar undertaking or 
arrangement given or undertaken by the Guarantor in respect of any obligations of any other person 
that constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, 
Upper Tier 2 Capital or Tier 1 Capital, all claims of all other undated or perpetual subordinated 
obligations of the Issuer, and all claims of holders of all classes of share capital of the Guarantor. 

The provisions of this Condition 3(b) apply only to the principal, premium and interest in respect of 
the Notes and nothing in this Condition 3(b) or in Condition 8 shall affect or prejudice the payment of 
the costs, charges, expenses, liabilities or remuneration of the Trustee or the rights and remedies of the 
Trustee in respect thereof. 

Payments made pursuant to the Guarantee may only be made in circumstances which do not result in a 
breach of the Regulatory Capital Requirements. 

4 Set-off, etc. 

By acceptance of the Notes, each Noteholder, each Couponholder and the Trustee, on behalf of such 
Noteholders and Couponholders, will be deemed to have waived any right of set-off or counterclaim that such 
Noteholders and Couponholders might otherwise have against the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may 
be) in respect of or arising under the Notes and the Coupons whether prior to or in bankruptcy, winding-up or 
administration. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if any of the rights and claims of any Noteholder or 
Couponholder in respect of or arising under the Notes or the Coupons are discharged by set-off, such 
Noteholder or Couponholder will immediately pay an amount equal to the amount of such discharge to the 
Issuer or the Guarantor or, if applicable, the liquidator or trustee or receiver or administrator of the Issuer or 
the Guarantor and, until such time as payment is made, will hold a sum equal to such amount in trust for the 
Issuer or the Guarantor or, if applicable, the liquidator or the trustee or receiver or administrator in the Issuer's 
or the Guarantor's bankruptcy, winding-up or administration. Accordingly, such discharge will be deemed not 
to have taken place. 

5 Interest 

(a) Interest Rate and Interest Payment Dates 

The Notes bear interest from and including the Issue Date at the rate of 12 per cent, per annum, 
payable annually in arrear on 21 May (each an "Interest Payment Date"). The first payment shall be 
in respect of the period from and including the Issue Date to but excluding 21 May, 2010, and 
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thereafter for each successive period, from and including an Interest Payment Date to but excluding the 
next Interest Payment Date. 

(b) Interest Accrual 

Each Note will cease to bear interest from (and including) its due date for redemption unless, upon due 
presentation, payment of the principal in respect of the Note is improperly withheld or refused or 
unless default is otherwise made in respect of payment, in which event interest shall continue to accrue 
as provided in the Trust Deed. 

(c) Calculation of Broken Interest 

When interest is required to be calculated in respect of a period of less than a full year, it shall be 
calculated on the basis of (a) the actual number of days in the period from and including the date from 
which interest begins to accrue (the "Accrual Date") to but excluding the date on which it falls due 
divided by (b) the actual number of days from and including the Accrual Date to but excluding the next 
following Interest Payment Date. 

6 Redemption, Substitution, Variation and Purchase 

(a) Redemption 

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided below, each Note shall be 
redeemed at its principal amount together with accrued interest on the Maturity Date. 

(b) Conditions to Redemption, Substitution, Variation or Purchase 

Prior to any notice of redemption before the Maturity Date or any substitution, variation or purchase of 
the Notes, the Issuer will be required to have complied with regulatory rules on notifications to the 
FSA and be in continued compliance with Regulatory Capital Requirements as published by the FSA. 
A certificate from any two Directors confirming such compliance shall be conclusive evidence of such 
compliance, 

Any redemption, substitution, variation or purchase of the Notes is (i) (except in the case of redemption 
on the Maturity Date) subject to the Issuer giving written notice to the FSA at least six months prior to 
giving notice to Noteholders pursuant to Conditions 6(c) or 6(d), or prior to such purchase, as the case 
may be, and receiving no objection from the FSA, or in the case of any redemption, substitution or 
variation of the terms of the Notes prior to 22 May 2014, receiving a waiver from, the FSA (or in any 
case such other period of notice as the FSA may from time to time require or accept and, in any event, 
provided that any such notice or waiver is required to be given) and (ii) subject to each of the Issuer 
and the Guarantor (both at the time of, and immediately following, the redemption, substitution, 
variation or purchase) being in compliance with the Regulatory Capital Requirements applicable to it 
from time to time (and a certificate from any two Directors confirming such compliance shall be 
conclusive evidence of such compliance). 

(c) Redemption, Substitution or Variation Due to Taxation 

If, immediately prior to the giving of the notice referred to below, as a result of a change in or 
proposed change in, or amendment or proposed amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United 
Kingdom or any political subdivision or authority therein or thereof having the power to tax, including 
any treaty to which the United Kingdom is a party, or any change in the application of official or 
generally published interpretation of such laws, including a decision of any court or tribunal, or any 
interpretation or pronouncement by any relevant tax authority that provides for a position with respect 
to such laws or regulations that differs from the previously generally accepted position in relation to 
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similar transactions (in respect of securities similar to the Notes and which are capable of constituting 
Lower Tier 2 Capital) or which differs from any specific written confirmation given by a tax authority 
in respect of the Notes, which change or amendment (x) (subject to (y)) becomes, or would become, 
effective on or after the Issue Date of the Notes (the "Tax Law Change Date"), or (y) in the case of a 
change or proposed change in law if such change is enacted (or, in the case of a proposed change, is 
expected to be enacted) by United Kingdom Act of Parliament or by Statutory Instrument, on or after 
the Tax Law Change Date (a "Tax Law Change"), in making any payments on the Notes, the Issuer or 
the Guarantor has paid or will or would on the next Interest Payment Date (in the case of the 
Guarantor, if the Guarantee were "called") be required to pay Additional Amounts (as defined in 
Condition 9) on the Notes and the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, cannot avoid the 
foregoing by taking measures reasonably available to it, then: 

(i) the Issuer may, subject to Condition 6(b) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 
days' notice to the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, 
the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem in accordance with these 
Conditions at any time all (but not some only) of the Notes at their principal amount, together 
with any interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption; or 

(ii) the Issuer may, subject to Condition 6(b) (without any requirement for the consent or approval 
of the Noteholders or the Couponholders) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 
days' notice to the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, 
the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), substitute at any time all (but not some 
only) of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become, Qualifying Lower 
Tier 2 Securities, and the Trustee shall (subject to the following provisions of this paragraph (ii) 
and subject to the receipt by it of the certificates of the Directors referred to below and in the 
definition of Qualifying Lower Tier 2 Securities) agree to such substitution or variation. The 
Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer) use its reasonable endeavours to co-operate with the 
Issuer (including, but not limited to, entering into such documents or deeds as may be 
necessary) to give effect to such substitution or variation of the Notes for or into Qualifying 
Lower Tier 2 Securities provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged to participate or co
operate in any such substitution or variation of the terms if the securities into which the Notes 
are to be substituted or are to be varied or the participation in or co-operation in such 
substitution or variation impose, in the Trustee's opinion, more onerous obligations upon it or 
expose it to liabilities or reduce its protections. If the Trustee does not so participate or co
operate as provided above, the Issuer may, subject as provided above, redeem the Notes as 
provided above. 

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption, substitution or variation due to taxation pursuant 
to this Condition 6(c) the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors of the 
Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor stating that the relevant requirement or circumstance 
referred to above in this Condition 6(c) applies and the Trustee shall accept such certificate as 
sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above in which event it shall 
be conclusive and binding on the Trustee and the Noteholders and the Couponholders. Upon expiry of 
such notice the Issuer shall redeem, vary or substitute the Notes, as the case may be. 

(d) Redemption, Substitution or Variation at the Option of the Issuer due to a Regulatory Event 

If immediately prior to the giving of the notice referred to below a Regulatory Event has occurred and 
is continuing, then: 
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(i) the Issuer may, subject to Condition 6(b) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 
days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, the Trustee (which notice shall 
be irrevocable) and the Principal Paying Agent, redeem in accordance with these Conditions all 
(but not some only) of the Notes at any time at their relevant Make Whole Redemption Price, 
together with any interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption in accordance with 
these Conditions; or 

(ii) the Issuer may, subject to Condition 6(b) (without any requirement for the consent or approval 
of the Noteholders or Couponholders) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' 
notice to the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, the 
Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), substitute at any time all (and not some only) 
of the Notes for, or vary the terms of the Notes so that they become, Qualifying Lower Tier 2 
Securities, and the Trustee shall (subject to the following provisions of this paragraph (ii) and 
subject to the receipt by it of the certificates of the Directors referred to below and in the 
definition of Qualifying Lower Tier 2 Securities) agree to such substitution or variation. The 
Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer) use its reasonable endeavours to co-operate with the 
Issuer (including, but not limited to, entering into such documents or deeds as may be 
necessary) to give effect to such substitution or variation of the Notes for or into Qualifying 
Lower Tier 2 Securities provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged to participate or co
operate in any such substitution or variation if the terms of the securities into which the Notes 
are to be substituted or are to be varied or the participation in or co-operation in such 
substitution or variation impose, in the Trustee's opinion, more onerous obligations upon it or 
expose it to liabilities or reduce its protections. If the Trustee does not so participate or co
operate as provided above, the Issuer may, subject as provided above, redeem the Notes as 
provided above. 

Prior to the publication of any notice of substitution, variation or redemption pursuant to this Condition 
6(d) the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer stating that 
a Regulatory Event has occurred and is continuing as at the date of the certificate, and the Trustee shall 
accept such certificate as sufficient evidence of the occurrence and continuation of a Regulatory Event 
in which event it shall be conclusive and,binding on the Trustee and the Noteholders and the 
Couponholders. Upon expiry of such notice the Issuer shall either redeem, vary or substitute the Notes, 
as the case may be. 

(e) Compliance with Stock Exchange Rules 

In connection with any substitution or variation in accordance with Condition 6(c) or Condition 6(d), 
the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the 
Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading, and (for so long as the Notes are listed on the 
Official List of the FSA in its capacity as competent authority under the FSMA) and admitted to 
trading on the London Stock Exchange's EEA Regulated Market) shall publish a supplement in 
connection therewith if the Issuer is required to do so in order to comply with Section 87G of the 
FSMA. 

(f) Purchases 

The Issuer, the Guarantor and any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor may, subject to Condition 
6(b), at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Coupons relating thereto are attached 
thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price. 
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(g) Cancellation 

All Notes redeemed or substituted by the Issuer pursuant to this Condition 6 (together with all 
unmatured Coupons relating thereto) will forthwith be cancelled. All Notes purchased by or on behalf 
of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor may be held, reissued, 
resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered for cancellation (together with all unmatured 
Coupons) to the Principal Paying Agent. Notes so surrendered shall be cancelled forthwith (together 
with all unmatured Coupons). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold 
and the obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of any such Notes and Coupons shall be 
discharged. 

(h) Trustee Not Obliged to Monitor 

The Trustee shall not be under any duty to monitor whether any event or circumstance has happened or 
exists within this Condition 6 and will not be responsible to Noteholders for any loss arising from any 
failure by it to do so. Unless and until the Trustee has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any event 
or circumstance within this Condition 6, it shall be entitled to assume that no such event or 
circumstance exists. 

7 Payments 

(a) Method of Payment 

(i) Payments of principal and interest will be made against presentation and surrender of Notes or 
the appropriate Coupons (as the case may be) at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents 
except that payments of interest in respect of any period not ending on an Interest Payment Date 
will only be made against presentation and either surrender or endorsement (as appropriate) of 
the relevant Notes. Such payments will be made, at the option of the payee, by a pounds sterling 
cheque drawn on, or by transfer to a pounds sterling account maintained by the payee with, a 
bank in London. 

(ii) Each Note shall be presented for payment together with all relative unmatured Coupons, failing 
which the full amount of any relative missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment 
not being made in full, that proportion of the full amount of the missing unmatured Coupon 
which the amount so paid bears to the total amount due) will be deducted from the amount due 
for payment. Each amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against 
presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relative 
missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in 
Condition 20) in respect of the relevant Note (whether or not the relevant Coupon would 
otherwise have become void pursuant to Condition 10). If any Note is presented for redemption 
without all unmatured Coupons appertaining to it, redemption shall be made only against the 
provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require. 

(b) Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws 

Without prejudice to the terms of Condition 9, all payments made in accordance with these Conditions 
shall be made subject to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment. No 
commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such 
payments. 
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(c) Payments on Business Days 

A Note or Coupon may only be presented for payment on a day which is a Business Day in the place 
of presentation (and, in the case of payment by transfer to a pounds sterling account, in London). No 
further interest or other payment will be made as a consequence of the day on which the relevant Note 
or Coupon may be presented for payment under this paragraph falling after the due date. 

8 Events of Default 

(a) Events of Default 

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") occurs, the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so 
requested by Noteholders of at least one-quarter in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding or if 
so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (but in each case subject to Condition 8(d)), give 
notice to the Issuer that the Notes are, and they shall immediately become, due and payable at their 
principal amount together with accrued interest: 

(i) default is made for a period of 7 days or more in the payment of any interest due in respect of 
the Notes or any of them; or 

(ii) an order is made or a resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor 
(other than a winding-up which has been approved previously in writing by the Trustee or by an 
Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders). 

(b) Proceedings for Winding-up 

If the Notes become due and repayable (whether pursuant to Condition 8(a) or Condition (6) and are 
not paid when so due and repayable or any other payment obligation of the Issuer or the Guarantor 
under or arising from the Notes, the Coupons or the Trust Deed is not met, the Trustee may at its 
discretion institute proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor in England and Wales 
(but not elsewhere) and/or prove in the winding-up or administration of the Issuer or the Guarantor 
whether in England and Wales (or elsewhere) and/or claim in the liquidation of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor whether in England and Wales (or elsewhere) for such payment, but may take no further or 
other action to enforce, prove or claim for any such payment. No payment in respect of the Notes, the 
Coupons or the Trust Deed may be made by the Issuer or the Guarantor pursuant to Condition 8(a), nor 
will the Trustee accept the same, otherwise than during or after a winding-up of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor, unless the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) has given prior written notice (with 
a copy to the Trustee) to, and received no objection from, the FSA which the Issuer or the Guarantor 
(as the case may be) shall confirm in writing to the Trustee. 

(c) Enforcement 

Without prejudice to Condition 8(a) or Condition 8(b), the Trustee may at its discretion and without 
further notice institute such proceedings against the Issuer or the Guarantor as it may think fit to 
enforce any term or condition binding on the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) under the 
Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons (other than any payment obligation of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor under or arising from the Notes, the Coupons or the Trust Deed, including any damages 
awarded for breach of any obligations) but in no event shall the Issuer or the Guarantor, by virtue of 
the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums, in cash or otherwise, 
sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it. Nothing in this Condition 8(c) shall, 
however, prevent the Trustee instituting proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor 
in England and Wales and/or, proving in any winding-up of the Issuer or the Guarantor and/or claiming 
in any liquidation of the Issuer or the Guarantor (whether in England and Wales or elsewhere) in 
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respect of any payment obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, arising from the 
Notes, the Coupons or the Trust Deed (including any damages awarded for breach of any obligations). 

(d) Entitlement of Trustee 

The Trustee shall not be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 8(a), (b) or (c) above 
against the Issuer or the Guarantor to enforce the terms of the Trust Deed, the Notes or the Coupons or 
any other action under or pursuant to the Trust Deed (except as otherwise provided in Condition 6(c), 
6(d) and 11(b)) unless (i) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the 
Noteholders or requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in principal amount of the 
Notes then outstanding and (ii) it shall have been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its 
satisfaction. 

(e) Right of Noteholders 

No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer or the 
Guarantor or to institute proceedings for the winding-up or claim in the liquidation of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor or to prove in such winding-up unless the Trustee, having become so bound to proceed or 
being able to prove in such winding-up or claim in such liquidation, fails to do so within a reasonable 
period and such failure shall be continuing, in which case the Noteholder or Couponholder shall have 
only such rights against the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be) as those which the Trustee is 
entitled to exercise as set out in this Condition 8. 

(f) Extent of Noteholders' remedy 

No remedy against the Issuer or the Guarantor, other than as referred to in this Condition 8, shall be 
available to the Trustee or the Noteholders or Couponholders, whether for the recovery of amounts 
owing in respect of the Notes or under the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Issuer or the 
Guarantor of any of its other obligations under or in respect of the Notes, Coupons or under the Trust 
Deed. 

Additional Amounts 

All payments by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor in respect of the Notes and Coupons, or under the 
Guarantee, will be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any 
present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature ("Taxes") imposed, 
collected, withheld, assessed or levied by or on behalf of or within the United Kingdom, or any political 
subdivision of, or any authority of, or in, the United Kingdom having power to tax, unless the withholding or 
deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In such event, the Issuer or the Guarantor (as the case may be), will 
pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders 
or Couponholders after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would have 
been receivable in respect of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of the withholding or 
deduction ("Additional Amounts"), except that no such Additional Amounts shall be payable in relation to 
any Notes or Coupon: 

(i) presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a Noteholder who is liable for such Taxes in respect of such 
Notes or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the United Kingdom other than the 
mere holding of such Notes or Coupon; or 

(ii) presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a Noteholder who would be able to avoid such withholding 
or deduction by complying, or procuring that any third party complies, with any requirement to 
provide such evidence as is required by statute or making a declaration or any other statement or claim, 
including, but not limited to, a declaration of non-residence but fails to do so; or 
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(iii) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date, except to the extent that the relevant 
Noteholder would have been entitled to such Additional Amounts on presenting the same for payment 
on such thirtieth day; or 

(iv) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be 
made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC Directive or any other directive 
implementing the conclusion of the ECOFIN Council Meeting of 26-27 November 2000 on the 
taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to 
conform to, such directive; or 

(v) presented for payment by, or on behalf of, a Noteholder who would have been able to avoid such 
withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a 
Member State of the European Union. 

References in these Conditions to principal and/or interest and/or such other amounts shall be deemed to 
include any Additional Amounts which may become payable pursuant to the foregoing provisions or any 
undertakings given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed. 

If the Issuer or the Guarantor becomes resident for tax purposes in any jurisdiction other than the United 
Kingdom, references in these Conditions to the United Kingdom shall be construed as references to the 
United Kingdom and/or such other jurisdiction. 

10 Prescription 

Claims in respect of Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of 10 
years in the case of Notes and five years in the case of Coupons from the Relevant Date relating thereto. 

11 Meetings of Noteholders, Modification, Waiver and Substitution 

(a) Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver 

Except as provided herein, any modification to these Conditions or any provisions of the Trust Deed 
will require the Issuer giving at least one month's prior written notice to, and receiving no objection 
from, the FSA (or such shorter period of notice as the FSA may accept and so long as there is a 
requirement to give such notice). 

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider any matter 
affecting their interests, including the modification by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the 
Trust Deed) of any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed. 

The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons 
holding or representing a clear majority in principal amount of the Notes for the time being 
outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders 
whatever the principal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the 
business of which includes the modification of certain of these Terms and Conditions and the Trust 
Deed (including, inter alia, the provisions regarding subordination referred to in Conditions 2 and 3, 
the terms concerning currency and the due dates for payment of principal or interest in respect of the 
Notes and reducing or cancelling the principal amount of any Notes or reducing the Interest Rate) the 
quorum will be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any 
adjourned such meeting not less than one-third in principal amount of the Notes for the time being 
outstanding. 

An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of Noteholders will be binding on all Noteholders, 
whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on all Couponholders. 
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Notwithstanding any other provision of these Conditions, the Trustee may agree, without the consent 
of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to any modification of, or to any waiver or authorisation of any 
breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed 
which, in the opinion of the Trustee, is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or 
to any modification which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, of a formal, minor or technical nature or is 
made to correct a manifest error or error proven to the satisfaction of the Trustee or to comply with the 
mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer or the Guarantor is 
incorporated. 

(b) Automatic Substitution of the Issuer 

The Trustee shall, upon receipt of a written request from the Issuer and the Guarantor, agree with the 
Issuer and the Guarantor to the substitution in place of the Issuer as the principal debtor under the Trust 
Deed of Friends Provident Group pic (the "New Issuer") on or immediately following the effective 
date of the Reorganisation, provided that: 

(i) a supplemental trust deed or some other form of undertaking, supported by one or more legal 
opinions, is executed by the New Issuer in form and manner satisfactory to the Trustee, 
agreeing to be bound by the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons with any 
consequential amendments which the Trustee may deem appropriate as fully as if the New 
Issuer had been named in the Trust Deed and the Notes and the Coupons as the principal debtor 
in place of the Issuer; 

(ii) the New Issuer unconditionally and irrevocably assumes liability for all amounts payable by the 
Issuer in respect of the Notes and the Coupons on a subordinated basis in accordance with 
Condition 2 and Clause 5 of the Trust Deed to the satisfaction of the Trustee and all other 
amounts payable by the Issuer under the Trust Deed; 

(iii) the Guarantor unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees all amounts payable by the Issuer and 
the New Issuer under the Trust Deed on a basis which is pari passu with the Guarantee to the 
satisfaction of the Trustee; 

(iv) the conditions set out in Clauses 15.4(vi) and 15.4(vii) of the Trust Deed for substitution of an 
Issuer are fulfilled; 

(v) the Reduction of Capital has become effective; and 

(vi) the Issuer has received no objection from the FSA to the substitution (the Issuer having 
complied with such notice periods as the FSA requires). 

No consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders shall be required to effect the substitution of the New 

Issuer. 

(c) Further Substitutions 

Subject to the Issuer giving at least one month's notice to, and receiving no objection from, the FSA 
(or such shorter period of notice as the FSA may accept and so long as there is a requirement to give 
such notice), the Trustee may agree with the Issuer and the Guarantor, without the consent of the 
Noteholders or Couponholders: 

(i) to the substitution of the Guarantor in place of the Issuer as principal debtor under the Trust 
Deed, the Notes and the Coupons; or 
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(ii) subject to the Notes and the Coupons remaining unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed on 
a subordinated basis, in accordance with Condition 3, by the Guarantor, to the substitution of a 
Subsidiary or parent company of the Issuer or the Guarantor in place of the Issuer as principal 
debtor under the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons; or 

(iii) to the substitution of (a) a successor in business (as defined in the Trust Deed) to the Guarantor 
or (b) a Subsidiary of the Guarantor, in each case in place of the Guarantor, 

(each such substitute being hereinafter referred to as the "Substitute Obligor", which expression shall, 
for the purposes of (d) and (e), include the New Issuer) provided that in each case: 

(a) a trust deed or some other form of undertaking, supported by one or more legal opinions, is 
executed by the Substitute Obligor in form and manner satisfactory to the Trustee, agreeing to 
be bound by the terms of the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons, with any consequential 
amendments which the Trustee may deem appropriate, as fully as if the Substitute Obligor has 
been named in the Trust Deed and the Notes and the Coupons, as the principal debtor in place 
of the Issuer or (as the case may be) as the guarantor in place of the Guarantor (or of any 
previous Substitute Obligor, as the case may be); 

(b) two directors (or other officers acceptable to the Trustee) of the Substitute Obligor certify that 
the Substitute Obligor is solvent at the time at which the substitution is proposed to be in effect, 
and immediately thereafter (it being declared that the Trustee may rely absolutely on such 
certification and shall not be bound to have regard to the financial condition, profits or 
prospects of the Substitute Obligor or to compare the same with those of the Issuer or (as the 
case may be) the Guarantor or (as the case may be) any previous Substitute Obligor); 

(c) (without prejudice to the generality of sub-paragraph (a) above) the Trustee may, in the event of 
such substitution agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to a change 
in the law governing the Trust Deed and/or the Notes and/or the Coupons if in the opinion of 
the Trustee such change would not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; 

(d) if the Substitute Obligor is, or becomes, subject generally to the taxing jurisdiction of a territory 
or any authority of or in that territory with power to tax (the "Substituted Territory") other 
than the territory of the taxing jurisdiction of which (or to any such authority of or in which) the 
Issuer or (as the case may be) the Guarantor is subject generally (the "Original Territory"), the 
Substitute Obligor will (unless the Trustee otherwise agrees) give to the Trustee an undertaking 
satisfactory to the Trustee in terms corresponding to Condition 9 with the substitution for the 
references in that Condition and in Condition 6(c) to the Original Territory of references to the 
Substituted Territory whereupon the Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons will be read 
accordingly; 

(e) the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Substituted Obligor comply with such other requirements as 
the Trustee may direct in the interests of the Noteholders; and 

(f) without prejudice to the rights of reliance of the Trustee under paragraph (b) above, the Trustee 
shall be satisfied that the interests of the Noteholders will not be materially prejudiced by any 
substitution proposed pursuant to this Condition. 

(d) Noteholders'rights 

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its trusts, powers, authorities and discretions (including, 
without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation, determination or substitution) the Trustee 
shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class (but shall not have regard to any 
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interests arising from circumstances particular to individual Noteholders or Couponholders whatever 
their number) and, in particular but without limitation, the Trustee shall not have regard to the 
consequences of such substitution for individual Noteholders or Couponholders (whatever their 
number) resulting from, in particular, their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise 
connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory or any political sub-division 
thereof and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be 
entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or 
payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or 
Couponholders except to the extent already provided for in Condition 9 and/or any undertaking or 
covenant given in addition to, or in substitution for, Condition 9 pursuant to the Trust Deed. 

Any such modification, waiver, authorisation or substitution shall be binding on all Noteholders and all 
Couponholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise shall be notified to the Noteholders in 
accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter. 

12 Replacement of the Notes and Coupons 

Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified 
office of the Principal Paying Agent (or any other place of which notice shall have been given in accordance 
with Condition 14) upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection therewith and on 
such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or 
Coupons must be surrendered before any replacement Notes or Coupons will be issued. 

13 The Trustee 

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from 
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking any action unless indemnified and/or secured 
and/or prefunded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, 
the Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Issuer or the Guarantor without accounting for any profit resulting 
therefrom. The Trustee is entitled under the Trust Deed to rely on reports and certificates addressed and/or 
delivered to it by the Auditors whether or not the same are addressed to the Trustee and whether or not they 
are subject to any limitation on the liability of the Auditors, whether by reference to a monetary cap or 
otherwise. 

14 Notices 

Notices to Noteholders will be valid if published in a leading newspaper having general circulation in London 
(which is expected to be the Financial Times). Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the 
date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the first date on which publication is made. 
Couponholders will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the 
Noteholders in accordance with this Condition. 

15 Further Issues 

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, 
to create and issue further notes ranking pari passu in all respects (or in all respects save for the date from 
which interest thereon accrues and the amount of the first payment of interest on such further notes) and so 
that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Notes. Any such further 
notes shall be constituted by a deed supplemental to the Trust Deed. 
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16 Agents 

The initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are listed below. The Issuer reserves the right, 
subject to the approval of the Trustee, at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent 
and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents, provided that it will: 

(a) at all times maintain a Principal Paying Agent; 

(b) at all times maintain Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two major European cities 
approved by the Trustee; and 

(c) at all times maintain a Paying Agent (which, for the avoidance of doubt may include the Principal 
Paying Agent) having a specified office in a major city in a Member State of the European Union other 
than the United Kingdom that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European 
Council "Directive 2003/48/EC" or any other directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN 
Council Meeting of 26-27 November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced 
to conform to such directive which is approved by the Trustee (so long as there is such a Member 
State). 

17 Transfer of Business 

The Guarantor may transfer the whole or a substantial part of its business (including its obligations under the 
Guarantee) without any prior approval from the Trustee, the Noteholders or the Couponholders in the 
following circumstances: 

(a) the Guarantor may transfer all or a substantial part of its long-term business to another body in 
accordance with Part VII of the FSMA (a "Successor"). If the Guarantor transfers all or a substantial 
part of its long-term business to a Successor in accordance herewith, the Guarantor shall procure that 
there be included in the assets and liabilities to be transferred to such Successor all the liabilities and 
obligations of the Guarantor as principal obligor under the Guarantee and the references to the 
Guarantor shall be construed accordingly. 

(b) the Guarantor may transfer all or a substantial part of its long-term business to a single legal entity 
where such transfer is pursuant to the exercise by the FSA or the Financial Services Compensation 
Scheme of its powers in connection with any applicable law, rule or regulation. If the Guarantor is 
required to make such a transfer, the Guarantor shall procure that there be included in the transfer all 
the liabilities and obligations of the Guarantor as principal obligor under the Guarantee and the 
references to the Guarantor shall be construed accordingly. 

In this Condition, "substantial part" means any part which, as at the most recent valuation date, represents 50 
per. cent, or more of liabilities (mathematical reserves) relating to policies entitled to share in the surplus of 
the Guarantor. 

18 Governing Law 

The Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons and any non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection 
with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of England. 

19 Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes by virtue of the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 
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20 Definitions 

In these Conditions: 

"Additional Amounts" has the meaning given to it in Condition 9; 

"Auditors" has the meaning given to it in the Trust Deed; 

"Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday, on which commercial banks 
and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London; 

"Companies Act" means the Companies Act 2006 (as amended or re-enacted from time to time); 

"Companies Act 1985" means the Companies Act 1985 (as amended or re-enacted from time to time); 

"Determination Agent" means the independent investment bank as selected by the Issuer with the prior 
approval of the Trustee; 

"Directors" means the directors of the Issuer or, as the case may be, of the Guarantor; 

"EEA" means the countries comprising the European Union together with Norway, Liechtenstein and 
Iceland; 

"EEA Regulated Market" means a market as defined by Article 4.1 (14) of Directive 2004/39/EC of the 
European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments; 

"European Union" means the European Union, established by the Treaty on European Union signed at 
Maastricht on 7th February 1992 (as amended by any later treaty) (the "Treaty"), which encompasses the 27 
Member States that are signatories to the Treaty (and any new Member State that may accede to the European 
Union throughout the duration of this Agreement) and the supranational organisation known as the European 
Communities; 

"Existing Internal Regulatory Capital Instruments" means any instrument or preference share capital 
issued by the Guarantor in respect of any on-loan from the Issuer to the Guarantor of the proceeds of the 
£500,000,000 6.292 per cent. Step-up Tier one Insurance Capital Securities of the Issuer having the benefit of 
a subordinated guarantee of the Guarantor and/or of the £300,000,000 6.875 per cent. Step-up Tier one 
Insurance Capital Securities of the Issuer having the benefit of a subordinated guarantee of the Guarantor; 

"Financial Services Authority" or "FSA" means the Financial Services Authority or such other 
governmental authority in the United Kingdom (or if the Issuer becomes domiciled in a jurisdiction other than 
the United Kingdom, in such other jurisdiction) having primary supervisory authority with respect to the 
Issuer and/or the Group; 

"FSMA" means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended or re-enacted from time to time); 

"Gross Redemption Yield" means, with respect to a security, the gross redemption yield on such security (as 
calculated by the Determination Agent on the basis set out in the United Kingdom Debt Management Office 
in the paper "Formulae for Calculating Gilt Prices from Yields" page 5, Section One: Price/Yield Formulae 
"Conventional Gilts; Double-dated and Undated Gilts with Assumed (or Actual) Redemption on a 
Quasi-Coupon Date" (published on 16 March 2005 and as further updated or amended) on a semi-annual 
compounding basis (converted on an annualised yield and rounded up (if necessary) to four decimal places)); 

"Group" means the Issuer, the Guarantor and their respective Subsidiaries; 

"Insurance Groups Directive" means Directive 98/78/EC of the European Union; 

"Interest Payment Date" means 21 May in each year, from (and including) 21 May 2010; 
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"Interest Rate" means the applicable interest rate, as set out in Condition 5; 

"Internal Lower Tier 2 Loan" means any loan made at any time to the Guarantor by the Issuer which 
constitutes, or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, Lower Tier 2 
Capital of the Guarantor out of the proceeds of an issue of any obligation constituting, or but for any 
applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constituting, Lower Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer and 
guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Guarantor; 

"Issue Date" means 21 May 2009, being the date of the initial issue of the Notes; 

"London Stock Exchange" means the London Stock Exchange pic; 

"Lower Tier 2 Capital" has the meaning given to it by the FSA from time to time; 

"Make Whole Redemption Price" means, in respect of each Note, (a) the principal amount of such Note or, 
if this is higher, (b) the price, expressed as a percentage (rounded to four decimal places, 0.00005 being 
rounded upwards), at which the Gross Redemption Yield on the Notes on the Reference Date is equal to the 
Gross Redemption Yield (determined by reference to the middle market price) at 11.00 a.m. (London time) on 
the Reference Date of the Reference Bond plus 2.50 per cent, all as determined by the Determination Agent 
and for the purposes of the definition of Make Whole Redemption Price; 

"Market" means the London Stock Exchange's EEA Regulated Market; 

"Maturity Date" means 21 May 2021; 

"Notes" has the meaning given to it in the preamble to these Conditions; 

"Official List" means the official list of the UK Listing Authority; 

"pounds sterling" or "sterling" or "pence" or "£" means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom; 

"Qualifying Lower Tier 2 Securities" means securities issued directly or indirectly by the Issuer that: 

(a) have terms not materially less favourable to an investor than the terms of the Notes (as reasonably 
determined by the Issuer, and provided that a certification to such effect of two Directors shall have 
been delivered to the Trustee prior to the issue of the relevant securities), provided that (1) they shall 
contain terms which comply with the then current requirements of the FSA in relation to Lower Tier 2 
Capital; (2) they shall include terms which provide for the same Interest Rate applying to the Notes; 
(3) they shall rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Notes and the guarantee thereof by the Guarantor 
shall rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Guarantee; and (4) such securities shall preserve any 
existing rights under these Conditions to any accrued interest which has not been paid; and 

(b) are (i) listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the Market or (ii) listed on such other stock 
exchange as is a Recognised Stock Exchange at that time as selected by the Issuer and approved by the 
Trustee, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; 

"Recognised Stock Exchange" means a recognised stock exchange as defined in section 1005 of the Income 
Tax Act 2007 as amended or re-enacted from time to time, and any provision, statute or statutory instrument 
replacing the same from time to time; 

"Reduction of Capital" means the reduction of capital of the New Issuer pursuant to sections 135 to 138 of 
the Companies Act 1985 which will become effective following the Reorganisation and upon registration by 
the Registrar of Companies of an office copy of the order of the High Court of England and Wales confirming 
such reduction; 
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"Reference Bond" means such United Kingdom government stock with a maturity date as near as possible to 
the Maturity Date as the Determination Agent may, with the advice of the Reference Market Makers, 
determine to be appropriate; 

"Reference Date" means the date which is three Business Days prior to the date fixed for redemption 
pursuant to Condition 6(d) by the Issuer; 

"Reference Market Makers" means three brokers or market makers of gilts selected by the Determination 
Agent and approved for this purpose by the Trustee or such other three persons operating in the gilt-edged 
market as are selected by the Determination Agent in consultation with the Issuer and approved for this 
purpose by the Trustee; 

"Registrar of Companies" means the Registrar of Companies for England and Wales; 

"Regulatory Capital Requirements" means any applicable minimum or notional margin of solvency or 
minimum capital or capital requirement specified for insurance companies, insurance holding companies or 
financial groups by the FSA as such requirements are in force from time to time; 

A "Regulatory Event" is deemed to have occurred: 

(i) if under the Insurance Groups Directive or the Relevant Rules, or as a result of any change thereto, 
the Notes would not be capable of counting (save where such non-qualification is only as a result of 
any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital) as cover for the minimum capital resources 
requirement applicable to the Issuer; or 

(ii) if at any time the Issuer or the Group is required to have Tier 2 Capital, the Notes would no longer be 
eligible to qualify (save as aforesaid) for inclusion in the Tier 2 Capital of the Issuer on a solo and/or 
consolidated basis; 

"Relevant Date" means in respect of a payment the date on which such payment first becomes due, except 
that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent or the 
Trustee on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been 
so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14; 

"Relevant Rules" means any legislation, rules or regulation (whether having the force of law or otherwise) in 
any state within the European Economic Area implementing the Insurance Groups Directive; 

"Reorganisation" means the insertion of the New Issuer as the new holding company of the Group pursuant 
to a scheme of arrangement under Part 26 of the Companies Act, which will become effective upon 
registration by the Registrar of Companies of an office copy of the order of the High Court sanctioning the 
aforementioned scheme of arrangement; 

"Senior Creditors" means: 

(a) in respect of the Issuer: 

(i) creditors of the Issuer who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer; and 

(ii) other creditors of the Issuer whose claims are, or are expressed to be, subordinated to the claims 
of other creditors of the Issuer (other than those whose claims constitute, or would but for any 
applicable limitation on the amount of any such capital, constitute Tier 1 Capital or Upper Tier 2 
Capital or whose claims rank, or are expressed to rank pari passu with, or junior to, the claims of 
the Noteholders); 

(b) in respect of the Guarantor: 
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(i) any policyholders (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the claims of Senior Creditors who are 
policyholders shall include all amounts to which they would be entitled under applicable 
legislation or rules relating to the winding-up of insurance companies to reflect any right to 
receive or expectation of receiving benefits which policyholders may have); 

(ii) creditors of the Guarantor who are unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor; and 

(iii) creditors of the Guarantor in respect of: 

(A) any Internal Lower Tier 2 Loans; and 

(B) for so long as they are outstanding, the Existing Internal Regulatory Capital Instruments; 

"Subsidiary" has the meanings given to it under sections 1159 of the Companies Act; 

"Tax Law Change" has the meaning given to it in Condition 6(d); 

"Tax Law Change Date" has the meaning given to it in Condition 6(c); 

"Tier 1 Capital" has the meaning given to it by the FSA from time to time; 

"Tier 2 Capital" has the meaning given to it by the FSA from time to time; 

"Trust Deed" has the meaning given to it in the preamble to these Conditions; 

"Trustee" has the meaning given to it in the preamble to these Conditions; 

"UK Listing Authority" means the Financial Services Authority in its capacity as competent authority under 
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; 

"United Kingdom" means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland; and 

"Upper Tier 2 Capital" has the meaning given to it by the FSA from time to time. 
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PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM 

The following is a summary of the provisions to be contained in the Trust Deed to constitute the Notes and in 
the Global Notes which will apply to, and in some cases modify, the Conditions of the Notes while the Notes 
are represented by the Global Notes. 

Exchange 

The nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any alternative clearing system approved by the Trustee (the 
"Alternative Clearing System") (each a "relevant Clearing System"). The records of such relevant 
Clearing System shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by the Temporary 
Global Note and the Permanent Global Note and a statement issued by such relevant Clearing System at any 
time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of that relevant Clearing System at that time. 

The Notes will be represented initially by a Temporary Global Note in bearer form, which will be deposited 
outside the United States with a common safekeeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or 
any other relevant Clearing System on or about 21 May 2009. The Temporary Global Note will be 
exchangeable in whole or in part (free of charge to the Noteholder) for interests recorded in the records of the 
relevant Clearing Systems in a Permanent Global Note in bearer form on or after a date which is expected to 
be 30 June 2009 (the "Exchange Date"), upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required 
by U.S. Treasury regulations and as described in the Temporary Global Note. 

If any date on which payment is due on the Notes occurs prior to the Exchange Date, the relevant payment 
will be made on the Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification as to non-U.S. beneficial 
ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations has been received by Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg. Payments of amounts due in respect of the Permanent Global Note will be made through 
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg without any need for certification. 

The holder of the Temporary Global Note shall not (unless, upon due presentation of the Temporary Global 
Note for exchange (in whole or in part) for interests in the Permanent Global Note, such exchange is 
improperly withheld or refused) be entitled to receive any payment in respect of the Notes represented by the 
Temporary Global Note which falls due on or after the Exchange Date. 

Interests in the Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the 

holder) for definitive Notes only: 

(a) upon the happening of any of the events defined in the Trust Deed as "Events of Default"; 

(b) if a relevant Clearing System is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by 
reason of public holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease 
business or does in fact do so and no alternative clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available; 
or 

(c) at any time at the option of the Issuer, by the Issuer giving notice to the Principal Paying Agent and the 
holders, of its intention to exchange this Permanent Global Note for definitive Notes on or after the 
Exchange Date specified in the notice. 

Thereupon (in the case of (a) and (b) above) the holder of the Permanent Global Note (acting on the 
instructions of one or more of the Accountholders (as defined below)) or the Trustee may give notice to the 
Issuer and (in the case of (c) above) the Issuer may give notice to the Trustee and the Noteholders, of its 
intention to exchange the Permanent Global Note for definitive Notes on or after the Permanent Global 
Exchange Date (as defined below). 
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On or after the Permanent Global Exchange Date the holder of the Permanent Global Note may or, in the case 
of (c) above, shall surrender the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Principal Paying Agent. In 
exchange for the Permanent Global Note the Issuer will deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate 
principal amount of definitive Notes (having attached to them all Coupons in respect of interest which has not 
already been paid on the Permanent Global Note), security printed in accordance with any applicable legal 
and stock exchange requirements and in or substantially in the form set out in the Trust Deed. On exchange of 
the Permanent Global Note, the Issuer will procure that it is cancelled and, if the holder so requests, returned 
to the holder together with any relevant definitive Notes. 

"Permanent Global Exchange Date" means a day specified in the notice requiring exchange falling not less 
than 60 days after that on which such notice is given and being a day on which banks are open for general 
business in the place in which the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent is located and, except in the 
case of exchange pursuant to (b) above, in the place in which the relevant clearing system is located. 

Payments 

All payments in respect of the Global Note shall be paid to its holder. The Issuer shall procure that details of 
each such payment shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant Clearing System and, in the case of 
payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes will be reduced accordingly. Each payment so made 
will discharge the Issuer's obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the 
relevant Clearing System shall not affect such discharge. 

Notices 

For so long as all of the Notes are represented by one or both of the Global Notes and such Global Note(s) 
is/are held in a relevant Clearing System, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant 
notice to that relevant Clearing System for communication to the relative Accountholders rather than by 
publication as required by Condition 14. 

Prescription 

Claims against the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of principal and interest on the Notes represented by a 
Global Note will be prescribed after 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) 
from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 20). 

Purchase and Cancellation 

On cancellation of any Note represented by a Global Note which is required by the Conditions of the Notes to 
be cancelled, the Issuer shall procure that details of such cancellation shall be entered pro rata in the records 
of the relevant Clearing Systems and, upon any such entry being made, the nominal amount of the Notes 
recorded in the records of the relevant Clearing Systems and represented by this Global Note shall be reduced 
by the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes so cancelled. Notes may only be purchased by the Issuer or the 
Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries if (where they should be cancelled in accordance with the 
Conditions) they are purchased together with the right to receive all future payments of interest thereon. 

Eurosystem Eligibility 

The Notes will be issued in NGN form. This means that the Notes are intended to be deposited with a 
common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (each acting in its capacity as International 
Central Securities Depository) and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible 
collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem, either upon 
issue or at all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem 
eligibility criteria established by the European Central bank from time to time. 
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER AND THE GUARANTOR 

The Issuer was incorporated and registered in England and Wales on 23 November 2000 under the Companies 
Act as a public limited company with registration number 04113107. The Guarantor was incorporated and 
registered in England and Wales on 25 October 2000 under the Companies Act as a private limited company 
with registration number 04096141. 

The registered office of both the Issuer and the Guarantor is at Pixham End, Dorking, Surrey, RH4 1QA, 
United Kingdom. The telephone number of the registered office is +44 (0) 870 608 3678. 

The principal legislation under which the Issuer and the Guarantor operate and under which the Notes have 
been created is the Companies Acts 1985 and 2006 and regulations made thereunder. 

History and Development of the Group 

The Group was founded by Quakers in 1832 and the Issuer is the holding company of a specialist life and 

pensions group operating two principal businesses: 

• the UK life and pensions business has approximately 2.5 million customers, and markets a diverse 
range of protection and pensions products for individual customers and corporate clients throughout 
the UK; and 

• the international life and pensions business comprises the Isle of Man based Friends Provident 
International and Lombard. These companies operate in Europe, Asia, and the Middle East. 

In addition the Issuer has: 

• an asset management business through the Group's 52.35 per cent, shareholding in F&C, a separately 
listed company. F&C provides investment products to retail, insurance and institutional clients; and 

• two UK financial intermediary businesses, Sesame Group Limited and Pantheon Financial. 

Friends Provident demutualised and was listed on the London Stock Exchange in 2001. The Group's head 
office is in Dorking, with significant functions in London, Salisbury, Exeter and Manchester. As at 31 
December 2008, the Group had over 4,500 employees. 

Organisation structure 

The following chart shows, in simplified form, the organisational structure of the Group as at the date of this 
document: 
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Group Structure1 

UK Life & Pensions 

FPP, FPLAL, FPLP 
and FPRE 

Friends Provident 

International Asset Management 

FPIL 
Lombard 

Other 
Operations 

F&C 
Sesame 

Pantheon Financial 

Strategy 

Overview 

Market conditions in 2008 formed a challenging backdrop for the implementation of the Group's strategy, 
announced at the start of the year. The overall strategic aim is to build a more profitable cash-generating 
business with a strong foundation for growth both in the UK and international markets. 

The strategy seeks to build on the Group's strengths, focusing on its selected core markets, to deliver the 
following three key shareholder outcomes: 

• improved returns, measured in terms of both EEV & IFRS profits, IRR on new business and overall 
return on embedded value; 

• improved cash generation, to ensure the Group is self-financing and able to deliver real dividend 
growth; and 

• improved confidence in the Group, through improving its solvency position and its ratings. 

In addition the strategy aims to deliver attractive outcomes for both the Group's distributors and customers. 

Strategic priorities 

The key priorities of the strategy are to: 

• reduce the Group's cost base. The Directors believe that the strategy can reduce the cost base and 
development costs of the Group; 

• improve the Group's external communications to build confidence in the Group externally; 

• grow in attractive markets, both internationally and in the UK. In 2008, the UK business refocused on 
more selective markets with more attractive financial profiles. The operational structure of the UK 

This diagram shows the operational structure rather than legal ownership. 
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business has been reorganised during the year to align the Group's decision-making structures with the 
UK corporate and UK individual customer and distributor segments. This is a key change that allows 
greater flexibility and accountability; 

• increase the cash and return profile of new business, through higher growth in the international 
segment of the Group's business, as well as initiatives within each of the business units to improve 
segmentation analysis, enable focus on more attractive segments and adapt product design; 

• improve retention. A new profit centre has been created to focus on maintaining and creating value 
from the Group's In-force Business; 

• improving the Group's customer and business partner service through improving its technology; and 

• strengthening the relationships with our target distributors and broadening distribution. In particular, 
the ownership of Sesame and Pantheon Financial will be used to help drive insights into distributor and 
customer needs. Many key UK corporate distributors reacted to corporate uncertainty early in 2008 by 
removing the Group from their panels of providers. We have addressed their concerns and we are now 
back on almost all of the panels the Group targets. 

Underlying and supporting each of the above priorities, the Group also has key objectives of improving: 

• financial awareness and financial discipline across the business; 

• organisational alignment and focus; 

• customer insight; and 

• the engagement of its staff. 

Business Overview and Divisions 

The business and principal activity of the Issuer is to act as the ultimate holding company of the Group. The 
Guarantor is the company through which the Group operates its UK Life and Pensions Business. 

UK Life and Pensions Business 

The UK Life and Pensions Business is one of the top ten companies for attracting new business in the UK 
based on new business sales on an APE basis in 2008, offering a diverse range of protection and pension 
products for individual customers and corporate clients. The UK life and pensions market is primarily an 
intermediated market with customers relying on intermediaries, such as IFAs, banks and employee benefit 
consultants, to provide advice on products and services. As a result, the Group focuses on securing and 
building relationships with key distribution partners. IFAs, Employee Benefit Consultants and Consulting 
Actuaries are the most important source of new business for the Group in the UK. The UK business also has 
significant additional distribution alliances with banks, building societies, retailers and intermediary groups, 
providing it with a diversified source of intermediated business. 

The UK business's core strategic markets are corporate pensions and individual protection but the business 
also has a presence in the investments and group protection markets. The business's full year 2008 market 
share (based on an internal Group definition) of the UK life and pensions market is 4.3 per cent. 

The UK business is focused on improving returns and increasing cash flow. It aims to reduce its fixed cost 
base and increase cost efficiency, ensuring that it delivers its cost reduction commitments announced in 
January 2008. The Group is focused on optimising the value of existing business but also delivering profitable 
growth from all the markets it serves. This is supplemented by adapting product design and initiatives to 
target more attractive sub-segments. Investment is planned in key IT platforms to enhance their flexibility in 
the light of changing circumstances and to maintain our customer and business partner service. The Group is 
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strengthening its relationships with target distributors and broadening distribution in the UK and ownership of 
Sesame provides an excellent insight into the needs of intermediaries. 

The Group aims to deliver service excellence to its customers. The quality of service to intermediaries earned 
Friends Provident a Four Star ranking in 2008 from Financial Adviser Practiv. This ranking is the result of an 
extensive independent survey of IFAs undertaken annually, which rates life and pensions providers across 
various aspects of service on a scale of 1 (poor) to 5 (excellent). 

The UK Life and Pensions Business offers the following product types: 

Protection: the Group offers a range of protection policies including term assurance, critical illness and 
income protection. Policies are offered to individuals or groups of employees, and are distributed through 
IFAs, banks, building societies and other strategic partnerships. 

Pensions: the main pension product is group pensions, which offers employers a complete defined 
contribution pension solution, including administration and investment management. The Group also offers 
individual pensions which are mostly single premium contracts. Annuities are also offered to customers who 
have vesting pension policies with the Group. The Group does not actively compete in the open market for 
individual annuities. Products are distributed through IFAs and employment benefit consultants. 

Savings and Investments: Savings and Investments products include regular and single premium investment 
bonds. In FPIL, this includes highly personalised portfolio bonds. The investment products offer a range of 
F&C managed or third party managed funds. Products are distributed through IFAs, banks and building 
societies. 

International Life and Pensions Business 

The international Life and Pensions Business operates worldwide with specific emphasis on four key regions: 
Asia, the Middle East, UK and Continental Europe. The business offers savings, investment and protection 
products and estate planning solutions. The international business consists of two operating companies: FPIL 
and Lombard. Both companies aim to create strong relationships with distribution partners in well regulated 
markets and to differentiate themselves through market leading service to the intermediaries they serve. 

From its base in the Isle of Man, FPIL operates in all the four key regions of the UK, Europe, Asia and the 
Middle East, with a product mix that ranges from regular savings and protection business to investment 
contracts, including highly personalised portfolio bonds. Distribution partners are primarily IFAs. FPIL has 
also actively developed distribution relationships with a number of institutional partners. Asia remains FPIL's 
largest generator of new business volumes. The Continental European strategy centres on the targeting of a 
small number of specifically selected territories, including the launch of a series of personal pension products 
in Germany, alongside a German distribution partner. Business from the Middle East has benefited from the 
establishment of a local presence. The UK remains an exclusively single premium investment market with 
particular emphasis on tax and estate planning. 

Friends Provident acquired Lombard in 2005. Lombard focuses on the provision of tailor-made financial and 
estate planning solutions for high net worth individuals ("HNWIs") and ultra HNWIs. Lombard operates 
primarily across eight EU member states, while continuing to exploit opportunities in other regions. 
Lombard's geographic diversification is supported by multi-jurisdictional expertise, which meets the planning 
needs of many clients and business partners, and has led to writing increasing volumes of new business. 
Lombard's approach is to partner with leading specialist advisers, in particular private banks and ultra high 
net worth IFAs, which enables the combining of Lombard's financial expertise with the relationship and asset 
management capability of the distribution partner. Lombard has been able to increase its penetration of this 
market year-by-year and intends to deepen further this penetration. Lombard competes through the provision 
of enhanced value-added services and administration rather than on price. 
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F&C/asset management 

The Group's asset management business is F&C, a separately listed company, in which it has a 52.35 per cent, 
shareholding. This stake is split between Friends Provident, which holds a 47.90 per cent, stake and L&M, 
which holds a 4.45 per cent, stake. 

As at 31 December 2008, the Group's stake in F&C was valued at £149 million and constituted 4.2 per cent, 
of the Group's net assets on an IFRS basis and 4.5 per cent, of the Group's net amount on an EEV basis. 

F&C provides investment products to retail, insurance and institutional clients. It manages a range of active 
investment funds covering major asset classes such as fixed interest, equities, property and money market 
funds. In addition it offers institutional and insurance clients asset and liability management capabilities, 
liability driven investment solutions and other products such as hedge funds and high alpha equities. It 
manages the assets for a number of investment trusts, including the Foreign and Colonial Investment Trust. In 
the retail market, it offers a wide range of OEICs and SICAVs including ethical UK equities, corporate bonds 
and multi-manager funds. It operates in the institutional market through investment consultants and in the 
retail market through IFAs. In Europe it has entered into a number of sub-advisory partnerships with local 
partners, where F&C is the provider of investment products. 

F&C was formed in 2004 from the merger of ISIS Asset Management Limited, which was then Friends 
Provident's 67 per cent, owned and separately listed subsidiary, and F&C Group (Holdings) Limited, a major 
European asset manager wholly owned by Eureko BV. F&C is a listed company on the London Stock 
Exchange offering a diverse range of products across all the major asset types. F&C manages funds on behalf 
of retail, insurance and institutional clients. In September 2008, F&C completed the merger of its UK and 
Ireland property business with REIT Asset Management to create F&C REIT Asset Management, a 
standalone global property asset manager in which F&C holds a 70 per cent, stake. As at 31 December 2008, 
F&C had £98.6 billion assets under management. 

In recent years, there has been a trend among institutional clients to shift their investments away from 
balanced mandates, in which a single investment manager is appointed to manage the majority of a client's 
assets across the full range of asset classes, towards more specialist mandates, where clients divide assets 
among investment managers who are then awarded specialist mandates in specific areas of investment 
expertise. This trend particularly affects pension funds in the UK and The Netherlands, which are two markets 
where F&C is active. This has increased the demand for broader investment management capabilities, liability 
driven investment products, which seek to match a pension or insurance fund's assets more closely to its 
liabilities, and alternative investments, such as hedge funds. 

This demand has led F&C to develop its business model, moving away from centralised, firm-wide processes 
and top down investment decision making towards a multi-boutique investment model. Under this model, 
investment teams have greater flexibility and independence, but also accountability for specific products and 
investment performance, while sharing a common operational infrastructure across the firm. 

Overall relative investment performance in 2008 was solid. On an asset weighted basis F&C outperformed on 
62 per cent of equities managed and 46 per cent of fixed income. Three year track records remain competitive 
on the majority of investment desks. Reflecting F&C's broad, all-weather product set, relative performance of 
individual fund products was mixed. Some of F&C's more actively managed high alpha strategies were 
severely constrained by the illiquid trading conditions. 

Other operations 

The Group owns two UK financial intermediary businesses. 
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Sesame is one of the largest providers of support services to 7,500 financial advisers across the UK including 
regulatory compliance, training, research and technology. Sesame provides financial advice and distributes a 
wide range of investment, protection, mortgage and general insurance products. 

Pantheon Financial is a Leeds based IFA with 32 advisers specialising in the high net worth and ultra high net 
worth markets. The company has grown organically and through successfully integrating four acquisitions. It 
currently has over 15,000 clients and its activities include financial planning, tax and investment advice, 
scheme administration, and a retail investment unit operating via a call centre. 

The acquisition of these businesses builds on the Group's strategy to strengthen and develop relationships 
with the distribution community to improve insight into distributor and consumer needs, as well as to capture 
value from the distribution sector, by investing in intermediaries with growth prospects and attractive 
investment returns. 

Recent developments 

Impact of recent volatility in the financial markets 

Please refer to the section entitled "Risk Factors -1.1 Economic conditions and financial markets" above for 
information on the risks faced by the Group in the current economic environment. 

Strategic Partnership with AmLife 

In December 2008 AmBank Group and Friends Provident announced the completion of Friends Provident's 
acquisition of a 30 per cent, stake in AmLife, the specialist life insurance division of AmBank Group, for £33 
million. This follows the split of the AmBank Group's life insurance and general insurance businesses, which 
took place on 1 December 2008. Following the split, AmLife transacts life insurance business, while general 
insurance business is undertaken by AmG Insurance Berhad. The Directors consider this entry into the 
Malaysian market to be a natural and exciting progression of Friends Provident's strategy, which includes 
growing its international business faster than the UK business, and believe that it will complement the 
Group's operations in Singapore and Hong Kong. 

The Reorganisation 

As previously announced, the Company proposes to effect the Reorganisation. The objective of the 
Reorganisation is to impose a new holding company on top of the Group with increased share capital to allow 
it to be reduced to create distributable reserves. 

Distributable reserves are required for the payment of dividends and the repurchase of shares. The Directors 
continue to believe that it is in the interests of the shareholders of Friends Provident to maintain the Group's 
existing dividend policy. While the Group has sufficient cash to support a final dividend of 2.6 pence per 
share for the year ended 31 December 2008, as a technical legal and accounting matter, the distributable 
profits shown in the individual company accounts of Friends Provident are insufficient to enable it to declare 
the final dividend, following the impairment of the Group's stake in F&C in its accounts. As part of the 
Reorganisation, Friends Provident Group (the new holding company of the Group) will undergo a reduction 
of capital which will create surplus distributable reserves. 

Having considered these factors, the Directors believe that the establishment of Friends Provident Group as a 
new holding company for the Group is the most suitable and effective way to provide greater flexibility in the 
capital structure of the Group and provide distributable reserves which will be available to Friends Provident 
Group to use for future dividends, including that to be paid in lieu of the Friends Provident final dividend for 
2008. 

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, it is proposed that Friends Provident Group becomes the parent company of 
the Issuer which will itself then be an intermediate holding company within the Group. The terms of the 

57 



Reorganisation are such that the ultimate control and ownership of the Issuer will remain unchanged 
immediately following the Reorganisation. 

Moreover, subject to the approval of or receiving no objection from the FSA, the rights and obligations of the 
Issuer under the Notes will be transferred to Friends Provident Group, the new listed holding company of the 
Group, following the Reorganisation. See further the section entitled "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" 
above and in particular Condition 11 (b) (Automatic Substitution of the Issuer). 

Update on the previously announced demerger of the Group's stake in F&C 

On 31 January 2008, Friends Provident announced the results of a strategic review which the directors of 
Friends Provident believed would, when implemented, transform Friends Provident into a more streamlined 
and more focused business. 

The strategic review concluded that Friends Provident should focus on its core strengths of designing, 
establishing and administering life and pensions products in the UK and in related international markets. This 
encompasses Protection Schemes and Group Pensions, together with FPIL, a business closely connected to 
the UK business by common systems and expertise. The strategic review identified that F&C, Lombard and 
Pantheon Financial did not fit with the Group's strategy. 

During the year, the Group reviewed its ownership of its stake in F&C, Lombard and Pantheon Financial. The 
intention was to find the approach that offered the optimal value for Shareholders. For both Lombard and 
Pantheon Financial the decision taken was to retain and develop the businesses within the Group. The Group 
has taken steps to align both Lombard and Pantheon Financial management incentive schemes with the 
priorities of the Group's new strategy. 

On 31 October 2008, the Friends Provident Board announced the proposed demerger of the Group's interest 
in the ordinary share capital of F&C. The Friends Provident Board reaffirmed this strategy in its 
announcement of 17 March 2009 and in the 2008 Annual Report and Accounts. Preparations for the demerger 
are well advanced and the Issuer expects to post the relevant documents to Shareholders shortly. The 
Reorganisation will put in place a group structure which would facilitate the implementation of the demerger 
in due course. 

Administrative, Management and Supervisory Bodies 

Directors of Friends Provident 

Details of the Directors of the Issuer are set out below: 

Name Position 

Executive directors 

Trevor Matthews Chief Executive Officer 

Evelyn Bourke Chief Financial Officer 

Alain Grisay Chief Executive (F&C) 

Independent directors 

Sir Adrian Montague Chairman 

Lady Judge Deputy Chairman (until 21 May 2009) 

Ray King Independent Director 

Gerhard Roggemann Independent Director 
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Sir Mervyn Pedelty 

David Rough 

Robin Phipps 

Rodger Hughes 

Independent Director 

Senior Independent Director 

Independent Director 

Independent Director 

The principal directorships (if any) performed outside the Group, which are, or may be, significant with 
respect to the Issuer, as at the date of this document. 

Name 

Executive directors 

Trevor Matthews 

Evelyn Bourke 

Alain Grisay 

Independent directors 

Sir Adrian Montague 

Lady Judge 

Ray King 

Significant directorships/partnerships outside the Group 

None 

None 

None 

Anglian Water Group Limited 

AWGplc 

CellMark Investments AB 

Infrastructure Investors Limited 

London First 

Michael Page International pic 

Osprey Acquisitions Limited 

Osprey Holdco Limited 

Skanska AB 

ATP Oil & Gas Corporation 

Bakaert A G 

BT Consulting Inc Limited 

Hardy (Underwriting Agencies) Limited 

Magna International Inc 

Massey Energy Company 

Murchison United NL 

Nationwide Accident Repair Services pic 

PA Holdings Limited 

Planet Payment Inc 

Portmeirion Potteries (Holdings) pic 

Private Equity Investor pic 

Robert Walters pic 

BUPA Health Assurance Limited 

BUPA Insurance Limited 

BUPA Insurance Services Limited 

Sanitas S.A. De Seguros (Spain) 
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Gerhard Roggemann 

Sir Mervyn Pedelty 

David Rough 

Robin Phipps 

Rodger Hughes 

The British United Provident Association Limited 

Deutsche Borse A G 

GP Giinter Papenburg A G 

Hawkpoint Partners Europe 

Community Capital Limited 

Hiscox Insurance Company Limited 

Hiscox Limited (incorporated in Bermuda) 

Performances Birmingham Limited 

RI Metrics Limited 

Brown Shipley Co Limited 

KBL Investment Funds Limited 

Land Securities Capital Markets Limited 

Land Securities pic 

LS Property Finance Company Limited 

Xstrata pic 

GE Capital Bank Limited 

GE Capital Services Limited 

GE Money One Limited 

GE Money Two Limited 

PA G Holdings Limited 

Partnership Home Loans Limited 

Partnership Life Assurance Company Limited 

Robin Phipps Consultancy Limited 

Chime Communications pic 

Simmons & Simmons 

Directors of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 

Details of the Directors of the Guarantor are set out below. The Directors of the Guarantor have no principal 
directorships performed outside the Group, which are, or may be, significant with respect to the Guarantor, as 
at the date of this document are set out below. 

Name Position 

Executive directors 

Trevor Matthews 

Evelyn Bourke 

Anthony Brown 

Director of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 

and Chief Executive Officer of Friends Provident pic 

Director of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 
and Chief Financial Officer of Friends Provident pic 

Director of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 
and Senior Manager (Managing Director, People and 
Change) of Friends Provident pic 
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Simon Clamp Director of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 

and Senior Manager (Managing Director, UK) of Friends 
Provident pic 

Rocco Sepe Director of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited 

and Senior Manager (Managing Director, International) of 
Friends Provident pic 

The business address of each of the Directors of the Issuer and the Guarantor is Pixham End, Dorking, Surrey 
RH4 1QA. 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between the duties to either the Issuer or the Guarantor of each of 
the members of either of the Boards of Directors listed above and his or her private interests or other duties. 

Principal shareholders 

The table below sets out the shareholders in Friends Provident as at 6 May 2009, being the latest practicable 
date prior to the publication of this document. As at that date, the Issuer was not aware of any person who, 
directly or indirectly, had an interest that represented 3 per cent, or more of the issue share capital of the 
Issuer other than: 

Number of 
Friends Percentage 

Provident of issued 
Beneficial interest Shares share capital 

Lloyds Banking Group pic (including subsidiaries) 209,060,285 8.99 

Avivaplc 193,849,034 8.34 

AXA SA (including subsidiaries) 114,652,451 4.93 

Legal & General Group PLC 87,294,527 3.75 

Royal London Asset Management Limited 69,988,749 3.01 

As at 6 May 2009, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this document, save as set out 
below the Board is not aware of any person or persons who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise 
or could exercise control over the Issuer nor is it aware of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a 
subsequent date result in a change of control of the Issuer. 
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CURRENT TRADING AND PROSPECTS 

The following information has been taken from Friends Provident's unaudited trading statement in respect of 
the first quarter of 2009 ended 31 March 2009, which was published on 28 April 2009: 

Friends Provident pic - Interim Management Statement including first quarter 2009 Life & Pensions 
new business 

Maintaining our strong financial position 

Corporate highlights 

• 

• 

Strong Insurance Groups Directive (IGD) surplus, estimated at £0.8 billion at 31 March 2009 
(31 December 2008: £0.85bn) 

Agreement in principle to provide protection products in conjunction with Tesco Personal 
Finance, part of one of the world's leading retailers 

Trading highlights 

• 

• 

Total sales were down 40% reflecting the new strategy and tough economic environment 

UK individual protection sales strengthened in March with improvements in application counts 
through the quarter, but 8% lower than fourth quarter 2008 reflecting challenging housing 
market conditions 

UK corporate sales from new group pensions schemes resuming well, while overall sales of £72 
million reflect impact of economic conditions on new business from existing schemes 

FPI sales 11 % lower than fourth quarter at £37 million, continuing to develop presence in the 
Middle East while Hong Kong market is slow 

• Lombard down 16% year-on-year as fewer large cases fall within first quarter result 

Trevor Matthews, chief executive officer of Friends Provident pic, said: 

"In the current economic environment, trading continues to be tough. I am delighted to announce that 
in line with our strategy, we have significantly broadened our distribution capabilities with an 
agreement in principle to provide protection products with Tesco Personal Finance, a very exciting 
development. We are very much back in business in group pensions, winning 20 schemes in the 
quarter, and our capabilities have been recognised by a number of awards. 

"Our capital position is strong, despite further adverse movements in credit markets this year, and our 
reserves for corporate bond defaults are the most prudent among our peer group. We are focused on 
improving the cash characteristics of our business, with further good progress on our cost reduction 
programme. I am confident that the actions we are taking will stand Friends Provident in good stead 
for the future." 

Interim Management Statement 

Overview 

Volatile investment markets, together with the wider economic slowdown have constrained new life and 
pensions business in the first quarter of this year. In line with our new strategy, we withdrew from less 
financially attractive product lines during the course of 2008. Together these drivers have led to a 40% 
reduction in life and pensions new business compared to first quarter 2008. Full details are given in the 
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appendix to this statement. Against this backdrop, we have maintained both our financial strength and our 
conservative reserving approach. We continue to focus on reducing the operating cost base of the business, in 
line with the strategic aims that we set out at the start of 2008. 

Financial strength 

The estimated IGD surplus continued to be strong at the end of March at £0.8bn. 

Our approach to reserving for corporate bond defaults is more prudent than our peers. Further widening of 
bond spreads in the first quarter means our already prudent reserves for corporate bond defaults are now 
estimated to be in excess of £550 million on £1.9 billion (by market value) of corporate bonds backing 
annuity business. 

Standard and Poor's reaffirmed its A- Insurer Financial Strength Rating and stable outlook for Friends 
Provident Life and Pensions in February 2009. Our financial strength ratings with each of Fitch, Moody's and 
Standard and Poor's are in the A range. 

Cost savings programme 

We continue to press forward our cost savings programme. 

During the quarter we implemented two significant IT initiatives. The first was the IT services outsourcing 
arrangement with IBM signed in 2008, and the second was to extend our existing relationship with Wipro, 
which contains costs while increasing development flexibility. 

Distribution 

We have agreed in principle to provide protection products for Tesco Personal Finance. This deal will 
significantly extend the reach of our protection distribution, and we are looking forward to applying our 
technology capabilities in partnership with one of the UK's best-known brands. Further details will be 
released in due course. 

In April Sesame announced an agreement with Bluefin Advisory Services to offer members of its Thine 
Networks a fast-track process to join the Sesame Network, following Bluefin's decision to close its network 
operations. The Thine Networks comprise 290 individual advisors within 149 independent firms. 

F&C Asset Management pic 

F&C reported its first quarter results on 27 April, with assets under management at 31 March of £92.7 billion 
(31 Dec 2008: £98.6bn). 

Appendix: Life & Pensions new business 

We now provide new business commentary in line with the new operational structure of the Friends Provident 
UK business, comprising UK Corporate (group pensions and protection) and UK Individual (individual 
protection, annuities, individual pensions and savings). 

UK Corporate 

Group pensions 

We are now back on the vast majority of provider panels for major distributors in our target market, winning 
20 schemes in the first quarter. We have previously indicated that we expect around £37 million of APE from 
these schemes and those won in fourth quarter 2008. We have received around £10 million of this to date, and 
we expect to receive the remainder over the next six months. These schemes have come from a wide range of 
distributors and we continue to be very active in tendering for new schemes. 
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Group pensions new business of £70 million APE (Q108: £127m) comprises annualised new regular 
contributions established in the quarter, together with £58 million of lump sum contributions. Regular 
contributions already in place, which are not counted as new business, provide the majority of new money 
added to our pensions platform. We reported £1.3 billion of total regular contributions added to our funds 
under management in 2008. 

Group pensions new business APE Ql 2009 Ql 2008 

£m £m 

Transfers in and lump sum contributions 6 17 

Regular contributions 

- from increments to existing schemes 54 81 

- from new schemes with unfunded commission - 22 

- from new schemes in target segment 10 7 

Total 70 127 

Incremental new business from schemes already on our books was lower than first quarter 2008. We believe 
this is a result of the economic slowdown leading to pay constraints and fewer new staff joining schemes, 
which will be a general factor across the group pensions market. In the longer term, we would expect 
incremental new business to strengthen again. 

Sales through the first half of 2008 included a significant amount of business from new schemes with 
unfunded initial commission, a market segment that we exited as part of our strategy implementation. 

Group protection 

Group protection sales of £2 million (Q408: £lm) show a return to more normal levels from depressed levels 
in fourth quarter 2008. This is the result of effective competition within a market that remains tough. 

UK Individual 

Individual protection 

Individual protection sales were £9.1 million (Q408: £9.9m). This market remains difficult as housing 
transactions, which are a key driver of term assurance sales, have yet to pick up significantly from historic 
lows in late 2008. We have also acted to align our critical illness offering to be more competitive within the 
market. Overall application counts are an important lead indicator for sales. We are seeing signs of a pick-up 
from depressed levels in late 2008, with March figures up 17% on February, boosted in particular by key 
distributors such as estate agency business Countrywide Financial. 

We aim to secure new distribution deals. In the first quarter, we signed an agreement that positions us on the 
Sesame Select protection provider panel, giving access to the 1,600 adviser IFA network operation of Sesame. 
Together with our 28 existing arrangements, these relationships give us a diverse spread of single- and multi-
tie distribution partners. The agreement in principle with Tesco Personal Finance will significantly broaden 
our distribution base. Our strong technology capabilities are shown by a number of 'Triple-e' awards from the 
Financial Technology Research Centre. 

Annuities 

Annuity sales were slightly lower than previous quarters at around £6 million APE. We continue to market our 
products to existing pensions customers as they reach retirement. The take-up rate for these customers 
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Ql 2009 

£m 

16.7 

1.1 

9.1 

7.2 

2.8 

Ql 2008 

£m 

32.5 

3.6 

9.3 

8.3 

4.3 

remains above 40%. We have also implemented the Options system for customers who take the Open Market 
Option. 

Individual pensions 

Individual pensions sales were in line with fourth quarter 2008 at £3.5 million APE. DWP rebate premiums 
are included in this line. They were modest at £0.2m in the first quarter, in line with the pattern in previous 
years of concentration of premiums around the mid-year. 

Investments 

Investment sales remained modest in the quarter at £0.5 million APE (Q408: £0.6m), reflecting our tactical 
approach to this market. 

Friends Provident International (FPI) 

APE by region 

Asia 

UK 

Middle East 

Europe (excluding UK) 

Rest of World 

Total FPI 36.9 58.0 

FPI sales are down 11% on fourth quarter 2008. Due to investment market volatility, investor demand reduced 
through second half 2008 in a number of markets and has yet to recover. First quarter 2008 sales were also 
exceptionally strong in Hong Kong as FPI took the opportunity to write significant volumes of business, 
followed by slower sales in the second half of 2008 as the market weakened and terms were adjusted. 

Sales in Asia include Hong Kong, FPI's largest market. The Hong Kong market contracted by 75% year-on-
year in fourth quarter 2008 (source: Hong Kong Office of the Commissioner of Insurance). 

The Asia result also includes our Singapore office, where sales of £2.3 million (Q108: £1.7m) benefited from 
extending the product range during 2008. 

Sales in the UK represent lower single premium sales. Within the Europe result, our sales in Germany were 
up by over half on first quarter 2008. Sales in other territories slowed as a result of reduced demand for 
investment products. 

Middle East sales have held up reasonably well, supported by our bancassurance agreements for investment 
products and our increased presence in the UAE. The result does not yet reflect confirmed schemes under our 
new Optus group savings product, which are expected to start feeding through to results later in the year. This 
product utilises many of the capabilities developed for our UK group pensions business. 

The outlook for the remainder of the year will depend to some extent on recovery in markets where demand 
for investment products is currently reduced. In the medium term, prospects remain good as we continue to 
develop our product offerings and distribution arrangements using our low cost hub-and-spoke model to 
extend our capabilities to International markets. 
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Lombard International (Lombard) 

APE by region Ql 2009 

£m 

5.8 

5.2 

9.1 

0.3 

Ql 2009 
(constant f/x 

rates) 

£m 

4.9 

4.3 

7.7 

0.3 

Ql 2008 

£m 

5.0 

9.1 

8.8 

1.4 

UK and Nordic 

Northern Europe 

Southern Europe 

Rest of World 

Total including large cases 20.4 17.2 24.3 

Of which: Large cases (greater than €10m) 2.0 1.7 6.2 

Total excluding large cases 18.4 15.5 18.1 

First quarter results for Lombard, our international estate-planning life assurance provider based in 
Luxembourg, reflect delays in client decisions due to the current volatility in investment markets. Lombard's 
business is heavily weighted towards the fourth quarter of the year, with further considerable variation in 
results in any quarter due to large cases. In the first quarter, there were fewer large cases than in first quarter 
2008. Excluding large cases, sales were slightly up in Sterling terms. 

UK and Nordic business is up by 16% in Sterling terms as a result of strong UK sales, continuing the strong 

performance of 2008. 

Northern Europe includes the significant German market. As previously indicated, new tax legislation 
published late in 2008 has reduced Lombard's sales in this market in the short term. We are confident that 
Lombard will be able to redevelop its product offerings in line with the new requirements, and resume higher 
levels of sales in the second half of the year. Importantly, we have not seen any major lapse activity in 
German in-force business in 2009. 

Southern Europe benefited from a number of large cases in the first quarter of 2008. Excluding these, on a 
constant currency basis sales were over 50% higher than in 2008. The first quarter 2008 result for the rest of 
the world also reflected a number of large cases which have not been repeated in first quarter 2009. 

We expect the current difficult trading conditions to continue. Despite this, Lombard's prospects for the latter 
part of the year and beyond remain good with wider geographical diversity of prospects than at this stage of 
2008. 

Analysis of Life and Pensions New Business 

In classifying new business premiums the following basis of recognition is adopted: 

• Single new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is no expectation of 
continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals; 

• Regular new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is an expectation 
of continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals, including repeated or recurrent single 
premiums where the level of premiums is defined, or where a regular pattern in the receipt of 
premiums has been established; 

• Non-contractual increments under existing group pensions schemes are classified as new 
business premiums; 
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• Transfers between products where open market options are available are included as new 
business; and 

• Regular new business premiums are included on an annualised basis. 

Life & Pensions New Business - Regular and Single Premiums: 

UK Corporate 

- pensions 

- protection 

Total UK Corporate 

UK Individual 

- protection 

- annuities 

- pensions 

- investments 

Total UK Individual 

Total UK Life & Pensions 

FPI 

Lombard 

Total International Life 

& Pensions 

Total Life & Pensions 

3 months 2009 

£m 

63.8 

2.2 

66.0 

9.1 

0.0 

1.7 

0.0 

10.8 

76.8 

32.1 

0.0 

32.1 

108.9 

Regular premiums 

3 months 2008 

£m 

110.4 

2.5 

112.9 

12.4 

0.0 

4.3 

0.3 

17.0 

129.9 

46.7 

0.0 

46.7 

176.6 

Change 

% 

(42) 

(12) 

(42) 

(27) 

-
(61) 

(87) 

(36) 

(41) 

(3D 

-
(31) 

(38) 

Singli 

3 months 2009 

£m 

57.7 

0.0 

57.7 

0.0 

56.7 

18.0 

4.4 

79.1 

136.8 

48.4 

204.0 

252.4 

389.2 

: premiums 

3 months 2008 

£m 

168.8 

0.0 

168.8 

0.0 

64.5 

80.4 

35.5 

180.4 

349.2 

113.0 

243.2 

356.2 

705.4 

Change 

% 

(66) 

-
(66) 

-
(12) 

(78) 

(88) 

(56) 

(61) 

(57) 

(16) 

(29) 

(45) 
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New Business -Annual Premium Equivalent (APE): 

Annualised Premium Equivalent (APE) represents annualised new regular premiums plus 10% of single premiums. 

First quarter 2009 vs first quarter 2008 

Ql 2009 Ql 2008 Change 

£m £m % 

UK Corporate 

- pensions 

- protection 

Total UK Corporate 

UK Individual 

- protection 

- annuities 

- pensions 

- investments 

Total UK Individual 

Total UK Life & Pensions 

FPI 

Lombard 

Total International Life & Pensions 

Total Life & Pensions 147.9 247.1 (40) 

69.6 

2.2 

71.8 

9.1 

5.7 

3.5 

0.5 

18.8 

90.6 

36.9 

20.4 

57.3 

127.3 

2.5 

129.8 

12.4 

6.4 

12.3 

3.9 

35.0 

164.8 

58.0 

24.3 

82.3 

(45) 

(12) 

(45) 

(27) 

(11) 

(72) 

(88) 

(46) 

(45) 

(36) 

(16) 

(30) 
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First quarter 2009 vs fourth quarter 2008 

Ql 2009 

£m 

Q4 2008 

£m 

Change 

UK Corporate 

- pensions 

- protection 

Total UK Corporate 

UK Individual 

- protection 

- annuities 

- pensions 

- investments 

Total UK Individual 

Total UK Life & Pensions 

FPI 

Lombard 

Total International Life & Pensions 

69.6 

2.2 

71.8 

9.1 

5.7 

3.5 

0.5 

18.8 

90.6 

36.9 

20.4 

57.3 

103.5 

1.1 

104.6 

9.9 

5.9 

3.6 

0.7 

20.1 

124.7 

41.4 

138.5 

179.9 

(33) 

100 

(31) 

(8) 

(7) 

(3) 

(17) 

(8) 

(27) 

(11) 

(85) 

(68) 

Total Life & Pensions 147.9 304.6 (51) 

New business APE at constant exchange rates 

All amounts in currency in the tables above other than sterling are translated into sterling at a monthly 
average exchange rate. The estimated new business assuming constant currency rates would be as follows: 

Ql2009 Ql 2008 
(as reported) 

Change 

FPI 

Lombard 

Total International Life & Pensions 

£m 

29.0 

17.2 

46.2 

£m 

58.0 

24.3 

82.3 

% 

(50) 

(29) 

(44) 

New Business - Present Value of New Business Premiums (PVNBP): 

PVNBP equals new single premiums plus the expected present value of new regular premiums. Premium 
values are calculated on a consistent basis with the EEV contribution to profits from new business. Start of 
period assumptions are used for the economic basis and end of period assumptions are used for the operating 
basis. A risk free rate is used to discount expected premiums in future years. The impact of operating 
assumption changes across a whole reporting period will normally be reflected in the PVNBP figures for the 
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final quarter of the period that the basis changes relate to. No change in operating assumptions will be 
reflected in the PVNBP for the first and third quarters, when the contribution to profits from new business is 
not published. All amounts in currency other than sterling are translated into sterling at a monthly average 
exchange rate. 

Ql2009 Ql 2008 

£m £m 

UK Corporate 

- pensions 

- protection 

Total UK Corporate 

UK Individual 

- protection 

- annuities 

- pensions 

- investments 

Total UK Individual 

Total UK Life & Pensions 

FPI 

Lombard 

Total International Life & Pensions 

Total Life & Pensions 895 1,506 

319 

8 

327 

59 

57 

24 

5 

145 

472 

219 

204 

423 

620 

9 

629 

78 

64 

98 

37 

277 

906 

357 

243 

600 
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UK INSURANCE REGULATION 

Permission to carry on insurance business 

Under FSMA, it is unlawful to carry on insurance business in the United Kingdom without permission to do 
so from the FSA under Part IV of FSMA (a "Part IV Permission"). 

The FSA, in deciding whether to grant a Part IV Permission, is required to determine whether the applicant 
satisfies the FSMA Threshold Conditions (the "Threshold Conditions"). As part of this decision, the FSA 
will consider whether the applicant has established systems and controls to comply with regulatory standards 
and the FSMA Principles for Business, which cover matters such as: integrity; skill, care and diligence; 
management and control; financial prudence; observation of the rules of market conduct; payment of due 
regard to customers' interests; communication with clients; management of conflicts of interest; a proper 
relationship of trust with clients; adequate protection for clients' assets when responsible for them; and 
dealing with regulators in an open and cooperative way. 

In connection with a company's Part IV Permission, the FSA may impose limitations and requirements 
relating to the operation of the company and the carrying on of insurance business. 

Screening of controllers (including shareholders) 

If a person intends to acquire or increase its "control" of an insurance company, it must first notify the FSA. 
The FSA must then decide whether to approve the acquisition or increase of control within three months of 
receipt of this notice. The FSA will not approve any new controller or any increase of control without being 
satisfied that the controller is fit and proper to be a controller of, or acquire increased control of, the insurance 
company. Acquiring control for the purposes of FSMA includes cases where a person first holds 10 per cent, 
or more of the shares in an insurance company or its parent undertaking, where it is first able to exercise "a 
significant influence" over the management of an insurance company through a shareholding in that company 
or its parent undertaking, or where it is otherwise able to exercise or control the exercise of 10 per cent, or 
more of the voting power in the insurance company or in its parent undertaking. 

Increasing control for the purposes of FSMA includes cases where a person increases their shareholding in an 
insurance company from a holding below certain thresholds to a holding above them. The thresholds are 10 
per cent., 20 per cent., 33 per cent, or 50 per cent.. In addition, a person who is already a controller of an 
insurance entity may not acquire an additional kind of control in respect of such insurance entity unless the 
person has obtained the FSA's prior consent. FSMA determines control by reference to an acquirer's 
associates in addition to the acquirer itself. 

In September 2008, HM Treasury published a consultation document setting out: 

(i) its proposed approach to implement, by way of amendments to FSMA, an EU directive aimed at 
improving the process of supervisory approvals for acquisitions of financial services firms (the 
"Acquisitions Directive" of September 2007). The proposed amendments to FSMA include reducing the 
33 per cent, approval threshold to 30 per cent., reducing the FSA's assessment period for change of control 
applications from three months to two months and replacing the concept of "associates" with a similar 
concept of "acting in concert". The Acquisitions Directive must be implemented into national law by 21 
March 2009; and 

(ii) proposals relating to other amendments to the domestic "controllers regime" under FSMA (for example, 
by introducing a single twenty per cent, threshold). The proposals include simplifying the controllers 
regime applying to business sectors not covered by the Acquisitions Directive, including mortgage 
intermediaries, occupational pension scheme firms and credit unions. 
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The consultation period in respect of these proposals ended on 12 December 2008 and it is expected that the 
domestic proposals described in paragraph (ii) above will be implemented in conjunction with the 
Acquisitions Directive. 

Screening of controlled function holders 

Certain key functions in the operation of an insurance business ("controlled functions") may only be carried 
out by persons who are approved for such tasks by the FSA under FSMA ("Approved Persons"). 

Under FSMA, the FSA has powers to regulate two types of individuals: those who have a significant 
influence on the conduct of an authorised company's affairs and those who deal with customers (or the 
property of customers). 

The significant influence controlled functions include governing functions such as being a director or non
executive director of an insurance company, finance functions and significant management functions, such as 
insurance underwriting. The FSA will not grant Approved Person status to an individual unless it is satisfied 
that the individual has appropriate qualifications and/or experience and is fit and proper to perform those 
functions. 

The FSA published a consultation paper in December 2008 proposing to amend the FSA handbook to extend 
the Approved Persons regime as well as other enhancements to the regulation of senior management 
competence. The proposed amendments include extending the definition of certain controlled functions to 
bring additional individuals, such as directors, non-executive directors or senior managers employed by a 
parent undertaking or holding company, into the Approved Persons regime if they have a significant influence 
on an authorised company. The proposals also include removing the limited application of only some 
controlled functions to UK branches of overseas non-EEA companies so that all controlled functions may 
apply to such UK branches. Consultation on these proposals closes on 31 March 2009 with the FSA proposing 
to publish the final rules in a Policy Statement during the second quarter of 2009. It is intended that there will 
be a transitional period of six months from the date of publication of the final rules for firms to identify and 
arrange for the appropriate individuals to be approved as required under the new regime. 

Prudential requirements 

Introduction 

Detailed prudential rules applicable to carrying on insurance business are contained in the FSA's Handbook of 
Rules and Guidance. The rules are set out in (i) its General Prudential Sourcebook ("GENPRU"), (ii) its 
Prudential Sourcebook for Insurers ("INSPRU") and (iii) its Interim Prudential Sourcebook for Insurers 
("IPRU(INS)"). 

Capital requirements 

Under GENPRU, the capital resources requirement for insurers, referred to as the "CRR", consists of various 
different capital components. All insurers are required to hold at least the minimum capital requirement 
("MCR") (GENPRU 2.1.13R) which is calculated differently for life and non-life firms. Many insurers 
carrying on long-term business are also required to calculate, report and in some cases maintain, the enhanced 
capital requirement ("ECR"). The ECR is intended to provide a more risk responsive measure of insurers' 
capital requirements in respect of with-profits business. The firms falling within this regime (being firms that 
have more than £500 million of with-profits liabilities or that have voluntary elected to be within this regime), 
such as FPLP are known as "realistic basis life firms"; all other firms carrying on long-term insurance 
business are known as "regulatory basis life firms". The CRR, MCR and ECR for realistic and regulatory 
basis firms are considered in more detail below. 
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CRR 

For realistic basis life firms, the CRR is required to be the higher of the ECR and the MCR (GENPRU 
2.1.18R). For regulatory basis life firms, the CRR is required to be equal to the MCR (GENPRU 2.1.23R). 
Explanations of the MCR and ECR as they affect long-term insurers are set out below. 

MCR 

In overview, for a regulatory basis life firm, the MCR in respect of that business is the higher of: 

(i) the base capital resources requirement for long-term insurance business applicable to that firm; and 

(ii) the sum of the: 

• long-term insurance capital requirement ("LTICR"). The LTICR is calculated by reference to 
the capital at risk in respect of specified insurance business risks (including death risk, expense 
risk, market risk and health and life risk as set out in INSPRU 1.1.80R-1.1.91R); and 

• the resilience capital requirement ("RCR") - additional capital held in respect of market risk 
(GENPRU 2.1.25R). 

For a realistic basis life firm, the MCR is the higher of: 

(i) the base capital resources requirement for long-term insurance business applicable to that firm; and 

(ii) the LTICR (GENPRU 2.1.24AR). 

The base capital requirement is an EU specified minimum capital requirement (expressed as an absolute 
amount in Euros) which differs for various classes of insurer. 

ECR for Realistic Basis Companies 

This is intended to operate as a separate, more risk sensitive measure than the MCR. Determination of the 
CRR for realistic firms involves the comparison of the MCR and the ECR. 

The ECR comprises the sum of the: 

(i) LTICR; and 

(ii) the with profits insurance capital component - a component of capital intended to supplement the 
mathematical reserves in respect of a firm's with profits insurance business (including in respect of 
discretionary bonus payments to policyholders). This component includes a risk capital margin ("RCM") 
to cater for the risk that realistic asset values might be less than expected, or realistic liabilities more than 
expected, because of a firm's exposure to market, credit and persistency risks. 

Individual Capital Assessment 

In addition to the CRR, the FSA requires insurance firms (whether or not they calculate an ECR) to carry out 
an Individual Capital Assessment ("ICA"). Firms are required to conduct stress and scenario testing to 
determine the overall adequacy of their financial resources and make a reasonable assessment of their capital 
needs for their business overall. 

The ICA assists the FSA to provide Individual Capital Guidance ("ICG") to firms on a confidential basis. 
ICG is set with reference to the specific business and control risks faced by each individual company and 
takes account of the company's ICA and any margins elsewhere in the business. 

Reporting 

UK insurance companies have to prepare their accounts in accordance with special form and content 
provisions. For insurance companies that prepare accounts under UK GAAP, the requirements are prescribed 
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by Schedule 3 of the Large and Medium Sized Companies (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008. For 
companies that use IFRS, the IFRS will apply. Insurance companies are required to file, and provide their 
shareholders with, audited financial statements and related reports. Insurance companies are separately 
required to deposit with the FSA an annual return comprising audited accounts and other prescribed 
documents within three months of the end of the relevant financial year, if the deposit is made electronically, 
and otherwise within two months and fifteen days of the end of the relevant financial year. These returns are 
required to be prepared in accordance with the valuation rules in INSPRU and GENPRU and the reporting 
rules in IPRU(INS). 

Friends Provident also produces its accounts to comply with the revised Statement of Recommended Practice 
issued by the Association of British Insurers in December 2005 (as amended in December 2006) in so far as 
these requirements do not contradict IFRS requirements. 

In addition, Friends Provident also presents supplementary information on an EEV basis in its Annual Report 
and Accounts. 

Investment of capital and reserves 

Under INSPRU 1.1.2R, non-composite firms, such as FPLP, must hold admissible assets of a value at least 

equal to the amount of: 

(A) the technical provisions that it is required to establish under INSPRU 1.1.16R, being mainly 
mathematical reserves, which are provisions made by an insurer broadly to cover liabilities 
arising in respect of long-term insurance business, in accordance with INSPRU 1.2; and 

(B) its other general insurance liabilities or long-term insurance liabilities, 

but excluding linked liabilities and the assets held to cover them. 

Assets and investments only count towards capital adequacy requirements if they are capable of being valued 
in accordance with GENPRU 1.3. Assets are also required to be deducted from capital resources if they do not 
comply with the requirements in INSPRU 2 as to counter-party and asset exposure limits (although they may 
still be included in the calculation of a firm's realistic assets). These limits are intended to prevent companies 
from having too much exposure to either one counterparty (including a group of companies) or one asset type. 

Insurance group capital 

The Directive on the Supplementary Supervision of Insurance Companies in an Insurance Group 
(1998/78/EC) (the "Insurance Groups Directive") as amended by the European Union Directive on the 
Supplementary Supervision of Credit Institutions, Insurance Undertakings and Investment Firms in a 
Financial Conglomerate (2002/87/EC) requires member states to provide supervision for any insurance 
undertaking that is part of a group which includes at least one other insurance company, insurance holding 
company, reinsurance undertaking or non-member-country insurance undertaking. The relevant provisions 
governing group capital are primarily contained in chapter 9.40 to 9.46 of IPRU(INS) and chapter 6 of 
INSPRU. 

Every insurer that is a subsidiary undertaking of an ultimate insurance parent undertaking (an ultimate 
insurance parent undertaking being an insurance holding company, an insurer or a reinsurance company and 
which has at least one insurance/reinsurance subsidiary whose head office is in a EEA member state) and 
whose head office is in the United Kingdom is required to report on the capital adequacy of the insurance 
group of which it is a member at the level of its ultimate insurance parent company and its ultimate EEA 
insurance parent company (if different). Since 31 December 2005 insurers have been required to provide on 
request a summary of the report on group capital adequacy at the level of the ultimate EEA insurance parent. 
Since 31 December 2006 it is a regulatory requirement for positive group capital adequacy to be maintained 
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at that level. These requirements apply at the same time as, and in addition to, the normal calculation of 
insurers' own solo solvency requirements. 

In the case of an authorised insurer that is itself a parent undertaking or has a participating interest of at least 
20 per cent in at least one other financial firm (a "related undertaking"), an adjusted calculation to the 
solvency margin calculation must be carried out to provide for deficits in the regulated related undertaking 
and to exclude all assets deriving from related bodies which are either inadmissible under the FSA's rules for 
valuing assets (e.g. goodwill) or fall within other disallowed categories such as assets backing the margin of 
capital adequacy requirements of related undertakings. 

Regulated entities within a "financial conglomerate" have been subject to additional prudential requirements 
for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2005 on the implementation of the European Union 
Directive on the Supplementary Supervision of Credit Institutions, Insurance Undertakings and Investment 
Firms in a Financial Conglomerate (2002/87/EC). A financial conglomerate is a financial group which 
satisfies a number of threshold requirements as to minimum holdings in, on the one hand, the insurance sector 
and, on the other hand, the banking/investment sectors. 

Conduct of business requirements 

The FSA's conduct of business requirements in relation to the distribution and sale of insurance products are 
contained in its New Conduct of Business Sourcebook (COBS) and its Insurance: New Conduct of Business 
Sourcebook (ICOBS). 

COBS applies to designated investment products, some of which are long term insurance products. ICOBS 
applies to non-investment insurance products, including long term non-investment insurance products such as 
mortgage protection insurance. These sourcebooks also implement the Insurance Mediation Directive (IMD) 
and extend the IMD to direct sales by insurers themselves. 

Many of the provisions of these sourcebooks only apply to insurers or intermediaries who deal directly with 
retail customers, or are confined in their application to transactions with retail customers, although the 
product documentation will need to be fully compliant for retail sales. 

The FSA's powers 

The FSA has broad regulatory powers dealing with all aspects of financial services including, among other 
things, the authority to grant and, in specific circumstances, to vary or cancel permissions, to ensure regulated 
firms treat customers fairly, to investigate marketing and sales practices, and to require the maintenance of 
adequate financial resources. One of the FSA's principal regulatory objectives in the context of the regulation 
of insurance companies is the protection of policyholders, rather than shareholders or general creditors. 

The FSA has powers to impose requirements on an insurance company (such as a requirement not to take on 
new business) if it is satisfied that the company has not met its capital adequacy requirement or does not meet 
the Threshold Conditions. 

The FSA may, from time to time, make enquiries or conduct inspections of the companies which it regulates 
regarding compliance with regulations governing the conduct and operation of business. 

The FSA has wide powers to supervise and intervene in the affairs of an insurance company if it considers, for 
instance, that it is appropriate in order to protect policyholders or potential policyholders against the risk that 
the company may be unable to meet its liabilities, that the Threshold Conditions may not be met, that the 
company or its parent has failed to comply with obligations under the relevant legislation, that the company 
has furnished misleading or inaccurate information or that there has been a substantial departure from any 
proposal or forecast submitted to the FSA. 
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The FSA also has the power to take a range of formal and informal disciplinary or enforcement actions, 
including private censure, public censure, restitution, fines or sanctions and the award of compensation. The 
FSA may also cancel or vary (including by imposing limitations on) a Part IV Permission of an insurance 
company. 

Regulatory proceedings could result in adverse publicity for, or negative perceptions regarding, the Group, as 
well as diverting management's attention from the day-to-day management of the business. A significant 
regulatory action against a member of the Group could have a material adverse effect on the business of the 
Group, its results of operations and/or financial condition. 
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TAXATION 

The following discussion is a summary of the current taxation treatment of payments of interest on the Notes 
under tax law in the United Kingdom. The discussion does not purport to be a comprehensive description of 
all tax considerations which may be relevant to a decision to purchase the Notes. The discussion is based on 
the tax laws of the United Kingdom and the published practice of HM Revenue & Customs as in effect on the 
date of this document, which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. The discussion does not 
consider any specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a particular Noteholder and relates only to the 
position of persons who are absolute beneficial owners of their Notes and may not apply to certain classes of 
persons such as dealers or certain professional investors. The discussion does not necessarily apply where the 
income is deemed for tax purposes to be the income of any other person. The United Kingdom tax treatment of 
prospective Noteholders depends on their individual circumstances and may be subject to change in the 
future. Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction 
other than that discussed should consult their professional advisers. 

United Kingdom Taxation 

For so long as the Notes continue to be listed on a "recognised stock exchange" within the meaning of section 
1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007, payments of interest on the Notes may be made without withholding or 
deduction for or on account of United Kingdom tax. The London Stock Exchange is a recognised stock 
exchange for these purposes. Securities will be treated as listed on the London Stock Exchange if they are 
included in the Official List (within the meaning of and in accordance with the provisions of Part 6 of the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) and are admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. 

Interest on the Notes may also be paid without withholding or deduction on account of United Kingdom tax 
where interest on the Notes is paid and when that interest is paid the company which makes the payment 
reasonably believes that the person beneficially entitled to the interest is (a) a company resident in the United 
Kingdom or (b) a company not resident in the United Kingdom which carries on a trade in the United 
Kingdom through a permanent establishment and which brings into account the interest in computing its 
United Kingdom taxable profits or (c) a partnership each member of which is a company referred to in (a) or 
(b) above or a combination of companies referred to in (a) and (b) above, provided that HM Revenue & 
Customs has not given a direction (in circumstances where it has reasonable grounds to believe that it is likely 
that the above exemption is not available in respect of such payment of interest at the time the payment is 
made) that the interest should be paid under deduction of tax. 

In other cases, interest will generally be paid under deduction of income tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per 
cent.), subject to any direction to the contrary from HM Revenue & Customs in respect of such relief as may 
be available pursuant to the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty. 

Persons in the United Kingdom paying or crediting interest to or receiving interest on behalf of another 
person may be required to provide certain information to HM Revenue & Customs regarding the identity of 
the payee or person beneficially entitled to the interest and, in certain circumstances, such information may be 
provided to the tax authorities in other countries. 

Where interest on the Notes has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Noteholders who 
are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an 
appropriate provision in an applicable double taxation treaty. 

The interest on the Notes will have a United Kingdom source and, accordingly, subject as set out below, may 
be chargeable to United Kingdom tax by direct assessment even if paid without withholding or deduction. 
However, such interest received without deduction or withholding is not chargeable to United Kingdom tax in 
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the hands of a Noteholder who is not resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom unless the Noteholder 
carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom through a branch or agency or, in the case of 
a corporate holder, carried on a trade through a permanent establishment in the United Kingdom in connection 
with which the interest is received or to which the Notes are attributable in which case (subject to exemptions 
for certain categories of agent) tax may be levied on the United Kingdom branch or agency or permanent 
establishment. 

Noteholders should be aware that the provisions relating to additional payments referred to in Condition 9 of 
Terms and Conditions of the Notes would not apply if HM Revenue & Customs sought to assess the person 
entitled to the relevant interest on any Notes directly to United Kingdom income tax. 

However, exemption from or reduction of such United Kingdom tax liability might be available under an 
applicable double taxation treaty. 

If the Guarantor makes any payments in respect of interest on the Notes (or other amounts due under the 
Notes other than the repayment of amounts subscribed for the Notes) there is a risk that such payments may 
be paid under deduction of income tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to such relief as may be 
available under the provisions of any applicable double tax treaty. Such payments by the Guarantor may not 
be eligible for the exemption for securities listed on a recognised stock exchange as described above. 

EU Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income 

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is required to 
provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid 
by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State or certain limited types 
of entities established in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Belgium, Luxembourg 
and Austria are instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding 
system in relation to such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the 
conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A 
number of non-EU countries and territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a 
withholding tax system in the case of Switzerland). 

On 15 September 2008 the European Commission issued a report to the Council of the European Union on 
the operation of the Directive, which included the Commission's advice on the need for changes to the 
Directive. On 13 November 2008 the European Commission published a more detailed proposal for 
amendments to the Directive, which included a number of suggested changes. If any of those proposed 
changes are made in relation to the Directive, they may amend or broaden the scope of the requirements 
described above. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. The listing of the Notes on the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount 
(exclusive of accrued interest). It is expected that listing of the Notes on the Official List and 
admission of the Notes to trading on the Market will be granted on or around the Issue Date, subject 
only to the issue of a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note. Prior to official listing and 
admission to trading, however, dealings will be permitted by the London Stock Exchange in 
accordance with its rules. Transactions will normally be effected for delivery on the third working day 
after the day of the transaction. 

2. Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations 
in the United Kingdom in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes and the guarantee 
relating to the Notes. The issue of the Notes was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of 
the Issuer passed on 23 April 2009 and the giving of the guarantee relating to the Notes by the 
Guarantor was authorised by resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 22 April 
2009 and of a committee of the Board of Directors of the Guarantor passed on 23 April 2009. 

3. There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor or of the Group since 31 December 2008. On 28 April 2009 the Group published an update 
on its IGD surplus position at 31 March 2009 and on its first quarter 2009 Life & Pensions APE, each 
as described in the section of this document entitled "Current Trading and Prospects". Save for this, 
there have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or the 
Guarantor or of the Group since 31 December 2008 (the date to which the latest financial information 
incorporated into this document has been prepared). 

4. No member of the Group is or has been involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings 
(including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer or Guarantor is 
aware) during the 12 months preceding the date of this Prospectus which may have or has had in the 
recent past significant effects on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer, the Guarantor or 
the Group. 

5. Each Note and Coupon will bear the following legend: "Any United States person who holds this 
obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the 
limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code". 

6. The Issuer estimates that the expenses in connection with the issue of the Notes are expected to be 
approximately £2 million. 

7. The yield on the Notes will be 12 per cent, per annum calculated on an annual basis. The yield is 
calculated on the Issue Date on the basis of the issue price of the Notes. It is not an indication of future 
yield. 

8. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 
systems (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records) with a Common Code. The 
International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) for the Notes is XS0430178961. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of 
Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue JF Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg. 

9. There are no material contracts entered into other than in the ordinary course of the Issuer's or 
Guarantor's business, which could result in any member of the Issuer's group being under an 
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obligation or entitlement that is material to the Issuer's or Guarantor's ability to meet its obligations to 
Noteholders in respect of the Notes being issued. 

10. Where information in this Prospectus has been sourced from third parties this information has been 
accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information 
published by such third parties no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 
information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party information is identified where used. 

11. For the period of 12 months starting on the date on which this Prospectus is made available to the 
public, copies (and English translations where the documents in question are not in English) of the 
following documents will be available, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays and 
public holidays excepted), for inspection at the registered office of the Issuer: 

(a) the Agency Agreement; 

(b) the Trust Deed; 

(c) the memorandum and articles of association of the Issuer and the Guarantor; 

(d) the annual report and accounts of the Issuer and the Guarantor for the two financial years ended 
31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008; and 

(e) a copy of this Prospectus together with any supplemental Prospectus or further prospectus. 

In addition, the Prospectus will be published on the website of the Regulatory News Service operated 
by the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com/en-gb/pricesnews/marketaews. 

12. KPMG Audit Pic, Chartered Accountants, member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 
England and Wales, 1 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5AG have audited, and rendered 
unqualified audit reports on, the accounts of the Issuer and the Guarantor respectively for the two years 
ended 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2008. 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE REPORT OF 

THE DIRECTORS AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The directors are responsible for preparing the report of the directors and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors 
are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently, 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Under 
applicable law the directors are also responsible for preparing a report of the directors that complies with that 
law. 

The directors confirm that they have complied with these requirements. 

Pixham End ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
Dorking 
Surrey 
RH41QA 

25 March 2008 R.G ELLIS 
SECRETARY 

Registered Number 4096141 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FRIENDS PROVIDENT 
LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

We have audited the financial statements of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited for the year ended 
31 December 2007 which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet and the related notes. These 
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the 
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 

The directors' responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of 

directors' responsibilities on page 6*. 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the report of the director is consistent with the financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we 
have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by 
law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We read the Report of the Directors and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements within it. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by 
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates 
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements. 

References to page numbers in the financial statements and audit reports contained in this prospectus are to the page numbers of the annual 
report in which such financial statements and audit reports were contained. This footnote does not constitute part of any audit report or 
financial statements. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state 
of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its loss for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and 

• the information given in the report of the directors is consistent with the financial statements. 

KPMG Audit Pic 
Chartered Accountants 
London 
Registered Auditor 

25 March 2008 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

LONG-TERM BUSINESS TECHNICAL ACCOUNT 

Notes 2007 2006 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 

Gross premiums written 

Outward reinsurance premiums 

Investment income 

Other technical income, net of reinsurance 

Total technical income 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 

Claims paid 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Change in the provision for claims 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Change in other technical provisions, net of 
reinsurance 

Long-term business provision, net of reinsurance 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Technical provision for linked liabilities, net of 
reinsurance 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

22,23 

22 

22,23 

22 

£m 

3 

4 

5 

6 

448 

(68) 

380 

1,309 

84 

1,773 

507 

(84) 

423 

1,667 

216 

2,306 

1,485 

(188) 

1,297 

(6) 

— 

1,291 

1,515 

(198) 

1,317 

7 

1 

1,325 

(616) 

(608) 

(13) 

30 

17 

(913) 

344 

(569) 

26 

J6) 
20 
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Notes 2007 2006 

£m 

Investment contract liabilities, net of reinsurance 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Net operating expenses 

Investment expenses and charges 

Unrealised losses on investments 

Other technical charges, net of reinsurance 

Tax attributable to the long-term business 

Transfer to/(from) the fund for future 
appropriations 

Total technical charges 

Balance on the long-term business technical account. 

22,23 

22 

8 

5 

5 

7 

9 

83 

82 

165 

(426) 

186 

61 

530 

19 

3 

1,425 

(886) 

539 

(10) 

123 

74 

459 

13 

58 

45 

844 

1,709 

64 

(5) 

722 

2,037 

269 

Note: 

All amounts above are in respect of continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 12 to 56 form an integral part of these financial statements.' 

References to page numbers in the financial statements and audit reports contained in this prospectus are to the page numbers of the annual 
report in which such financial statements and audit reports were contained. This footnote does not constitute part of any audit report or 
financial statements. 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007 

NON-TECHNICAL ACCOUNT 

Balance on the long-term business technical account 

Tax credit attributable to balance on long-term business 
technical account 

Profit before tax from long-term business 

Investment income 

Unrealised gains on investments 

Investment expenses and charges 

Unrealised losses on investments 

(Losses)/profit on ordinary activities before tax 

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year 

Attributable to: 

Ordinary shareholders 

Other equity holders 

Notes 2007 

£m 

64 

27 

2006 

269 

115 

5 

5 

5 

5 

9 

21 

20 

91 

61 

— 

(17) 

(236) 

(101) 

(15) 

(116) 

(148) 

32 

(116) 

384 

60 

81 

(16) 

— 

509 

(122) 

387 

355 

32 

387 

Notes: 

There are no recognised gains or losses for 2007 and 2006 other than the loss for the financial year. Therefore no 
statement of total recognised gains and losses is presented. 

All of the amounts above are in respect of continuing operations. 

There is no difference between the results disclosed above and the results on a modified historical cost basis. 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 

Notes 2007 2006 

ASSETS 

Intangible assets 

Licence 

Investments 

Land and buildings 

Investments in Group undertakings and participating 
interests 

Other financial investments 

Present value of acquired in-force business 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities 

Reinsurers' share of technical provisions 

Long-term business provision 

Claims outstanding 

Technical provisions for linked liabilities 

Investment contract liabilities 

Debtors 

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 

-Policyholders 

-Intermediaries 

Other debtors 

Other assets 

Cash at bank and in hand 

Prepayments and accrued income 

Accrued interest and rent 

Deferred acquisition costs 

Deferred fees and charges 

Other prepayments and accrued income 

TOTAL ASSETS 

11 

12 

17 

£m 

358 

12 

428 

13 

12 

14 

12 

22 

22 

22 

16 

2,745 

14,566 

17,669 

34 

4,370 

534 

7 

150 

5,549 

6,240 

10 

4 

50 

64 

2,953 

15,837 

19,218 

37 

4,060 

542 

7 

180 

5,628 

6,357 

8 

6 

82 

96 

45 

133 

62 

— 

4 

199 

28,588 

144 

154 

5 

2 

305 

30,119 
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Notes 2007 2006 

Approved by the Board on 25 March 2008 and signed on its behalf by 

SIR ADRIAN MONTAGUE 
CHAIRMAN 

£m 

LIABILITIES 

Capital and reserves 

Called up share capital 

Share premium account 

Profit and loss account 

Other equity 

Fund for future appropriations 

Technical provisions 

Long-term business provision 

Claims outstanding 

Technical provisions for linked liabilities 

Investment contract liabilities 

Provisions for other risks and charges 

Creditors 

Preference shares 

Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 

Other creditors including taxation and social security. 

Accruals and deferred income 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

18,21 

21 

21 

20,21 

654 

721 

613 

511 

2,499 

654 

721 

1,011 

511 

2,897 

341 

747 

12 

296 

22,23 

22,23 

22,23 

26 

19 

27 

9,933 

55 

9,988 

1,130 

13,586 

285 

300 

12 

3 

432 

10,549 

61 

10,610 

1,143 

14,059 

333 

300 

11 

3 

464 

778 

28,588 30,119 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 255 of, and Schedule 9A to, 
the Companies Act 1985 with the exception set out in note l(n) and comply with the Association of 
British Insurers ("ABI") Statement of Recommended Practice on Accounting for Insurance Business 
("SORP") (Revised 2006). 

The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards 
and under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, 
derivatives and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss as set out in notes 
l(n)andl(u). 

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard ("FRS") 1 Cash Flow Statements (Revised 1996), the 
Company is exempt from preparing a cash flow statement on the grounds that it is a wholly owned 
undertaking of a parent which provides a cash flow statement in its consolidated financial statements 
which are publicly available. 

The Company is exempt under section 228 of the Companies Act 1985 from the obligation to prepare 
group accounts as the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Friends Provident pic in whose 
consolidated accounts the Company is included. Accordingly, the accounts present information about 
the Company as an individual entity and not about its group. 

All accounting policies have been reviewed for appropriateness in accordance with FRS 18 
Accounting Policies. The principal accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
throughout the year except for FRS 29 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The adoption of this 
standard became applicable to the Company from 1 January 2007. The objective of FRS 29 is to 
enable users to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and provide 
information on what the Company manages as capital and how its objectives for managing capital are 
met. There is no impact on the current or prior year's profit resulting from the adoption of this standard 
as its provisions relate to disclosure. 

(b) Product classification 

(i) Insurance contracts 

Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the 
"policyholder"), by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future 
event (the "insured event") adversely affects the policyholder are classified as insurance 
contracts. Insurance risk is risk other than financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible 
future change in one or more of: a specified interest rate, security price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of price or rates, a credit rating or credit index or other variable. 
Insurance contracts may transfer some financial risk. 

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for 
the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during the period. 
As a general guideline, the Company defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of 
having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that is more than 5% greater than 
the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. 
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(ii) Investment contracts 

Policyholder contracts not considered insurance contracts are classified as investment contracts. 
Contracts currently classified as investment contracts are either unit-linked or contracts with a 
Discretionary Participation Features ("DPF") (mainly unitised with-profits contracts). 

(iii) Options and guarantees 

Options and guarantees are valued separately unless the option or guarantee itself meets the 
definition of an insurance contract, or it is a policyholder option to surrender an insurance 
contract for a fixed amount. 

For options and guarantees separated from the host contract, the Company measures them on a 
market consistent basis and includes the change in value in profit and loss on the same basis as 
for its other embedded derivatives. 

(c) Foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are expressed in sterling at 
rates ruling on that date. Income and expenditure denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
rates ruling at the date on which the transaction occurs. All resulting exchange gains and losses are 
included within that part of profit and loss in which the underlying transaction is reported. 

(d) Premiums 

Premium income in respect of single premium business and pensions business not subject to 
contractual regular premiums is accounted for when the premiums are received. For all other classes of 
business, premium income is accounted for in the year in which it falls due. Further details relating to 
the classification of new business premiums are included in note 3(b). 

(e) Reinsurance 

Amounts due to and from reinsurers are accounted for in a manner consistent with the insurance 
policies and in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract. Premiums ceded and claims 
reimbursed are presented on a gross basis. 

(f) Fee and commission income 

Insurance and investment contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, 
investment management services and for surrenders. Investment management services comprise 
primarily fees and charges from unit-linked investments. 

These fees and charges are recognised as revenue in the period in which the services are rendered. 

Front-end fees are charged at the inception of the contract. The consideration received is deferred as a 
liability and recognised over the expected term of the contract on a straight-line basis. 

Regular fees charged to the policyholder periodically (monthly, quarterly or annually) are charged on a 
straight-line basis over the period in which the service is rendered. 

Fee and commission income are included in the long-term business technical account as part of 'other 
technical income'. 
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(g) Investment income 

Investment income includes dividends, interest, rents, gains and losses on the realisation of 
investments. Such income includes any withholding tax but excludes other taxes such as attributable 
tax credits. 

Dividend income from listed and unlisted securities is recognised as income when the right to receive 
payment is established. For listed securities this is the date the security is listed as ex-dividend. For 
unlisted securities this is the due date of payment. 

Interest income is recognised as income as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield of the 
asset or an applicable floating rate. Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or 
premium. 

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying value of the investment determined in accordance with the accounting 
policies applicable to the investment. 

Investment income relating to investments, which are directly connected with the carrying on of long-
term business, is recorded in the long-term business technical account. Other than long-term business, 
investment income is recorded in the non-technical account. 

(h) Unrealised gains and losses on investments 

Unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the valuation of 
investments designated as fair value through the profit and loss, derivatives and land and buildings, at 
the balance sheet date and their original cost, or if they have been previously fair valued, the valuation 
at the last balance sheet date. The movement in unrealised gains and losses recognised in the period 
also includes the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in 
respect of investment disposals in the current period. 

Unrealised gains and losses relating to investments, which are directly connected with the carrying on 
of long-term business, are recorded in the long-term business technical account. Other than long-term 
business unrealised gains and losses are recorded in the non-technical account. 

(i) Claims and surrenders 

Insurance claims reflect the cost of all claims incurred during the year, including claims handling costs. 
Death claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received. Maturities and annuity 
payments are recorded when due. Claims and benefits recorded are accrued to the policyholder and 
included within insurance and investment contract liabilities. 

Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negotiation 
and settlement of claims. Internal costs include all direct expenses of the claims department and any 
general administrative costs directly attributable to the claims function. 

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim. 

(j) Transaction costs 

Transaction costs in respect of brokers fees, stamp duty fees and other expenses on investments are 
charged to profit and loss in the period in which they are payable. 
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(k) Bonuses 

Bonuses charged to the long-term business technical account in a given period comprise reversionary 
bonuses declared in respect of that period, which are provided within the calculation of the long-term 
business provision, and terminal bonuses paid, which are included within claims paid. 

(1) Taxation 

Taxation in the non-technical account and long-term business technical account is based on profits and 
income for the period as determined in accordance with the relevant tax legislation, together with 
adjustments to provisions for prior periods. 

Provision is made for deferred taxation liabilities, using the liability method, on all material timing 
differences, including fair valuation adjustments recognised through profit and loss, as the investments 
are fair valued. Deferred taxation is calculated at the rates at which it is expected that the tax will arise 
and discounted to take into account the likely timing of payments and pattern of expected realisation of 
investments. Deferred tax liabilities are discounted using gilt yield rates appropriate to the estimated 
year in which the timing differences are expected to reverse. Deferred taxation is recognised through 
profit and loss for the period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are regarded as recoverable. 

The transfer of the balance on the long-term business technical account to or from the non-technical 
account is grossed up by attributable tax, using the full rate of corporation tax applicable for the 
period. 

(m) Intangible assets 

Licences acquired are capitalised in the balance sheet at cost and amortised through profit and loss 
over their expected useful economic life. Charges for amortisation and any changes for impairment are 
recorded in 'other technical charges'. 

(n) Investments 

Investments are shown in the balance sheet as follows: 

(i) Land and buildings 

Land and buildings are valued each year on an open market basis by qualified Chartered 
Surveyors. An external valuer values properties at least once every 5 years. Those properties 
which are occupied by the Group are valued on an existing use basis and with vacant 
possession. 

In accordance with Statement of Standard Accounting Practice ("SSAP") 19 Investment 
Properties, no depreciation is provided in respect of freehold investment properties or 
amortisation in respect of leasehold properties with over 20 years to expire. This is a departure 
from the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 which requires all properties to be 
depreciated. However, these properties are held solely for investment purposes and the directors 
consider that systematic annual depreciation would be inappropriate. Depreciation or 
amortisation is only one of the factors reflected in the annual valuations of properties, and the 
amounts which might otherwise have been shown cannot reasonably be separately identified or 
quantified. The accounting policy adopted is therefore necessary for the financial statements to 
give a true and fair view. 
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(ii) Other financial investments 

The Company classifies its financial investments into the following two categories: financial 
investments at fair value through profit and loss and loans receivable. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. 

Purchases and sales of financial investments are recognised on the date the Company commits 
to purchase or sell the investment. 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

All financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of 
derivatives, are designated on initial recognition as they are managed individually or 
together on a fair value basis. Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value 
through profit and loss as they are held for trading purposes. 

The fair value on initial recognition being the consideration given, excluding any 
transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, all such financial investments are measured at fair value. Movements in fair 
value are taken to profit and loss in the period in which they arise. 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract (including embedded 
derivatives in insurance contracts), recognised as a stand-alone derivative and measured 
at fair value through profit and loss, when the following conditions are met: 

- the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely 
related to the economic characteristics and the risks of the host contract; 

- a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would 
meet the definition of a derivative; and 

- the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised through profit and loss. 

• Loans receivable 

Loans receivable represent 'Loans secured by mortgages'. 

Loans receivable are financial investments with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans receivable are measured on initial recognition at 
the fair value of the consideration given plus incremental costs that are incurred on the 
acquisition of the investment. Subsequent to the initial recognition, loans receivable are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The amortised cost is the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. The amortised cost is reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Any resulting impairment loss is recorded in profit and loss. 

(o) Fair value of financial investments 

Fair values of listed financial instruments are based on quoted bid values for assets and offer price for 
liabilities at the close of business on the balance sheet date. 

For unlisted financial instruments broker or dealer price quotations or published bid values are 
obtained. If prices are not readily available, the fair value is based on a valuation technique. 
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Certain financial investments, including derivatives, are valued using pricing models that Methods 
considered when determining fair values of unlisted shares and other variable securities include 
discounted cash flow techniques, net asset valuation or carrying value. Valuation methods consider, 
among other factors, contractual and market prices, correlation, time value of money, credit risk, yield 
curve volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying positions. The use of different 
pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different estimates of fair values. 

If the value of equity instruments cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost. 

For units in unit trusts and shares in open ended investment companies, fair value is calculated using 
published bid values. 

Participation in investment pools mainly relates to property investments. Property is independently 
valued in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyor's guidelines on the basis of open 
market values as at each year end. 

The fair value of floating rate and overnight deposits with credit institutions is their carrying value. 
The carrying value is the cost of the deposit and accrued interest. 

(p) Investments in Group undertakings and participating interests 

Shares in and loans to Group undertakings and participating interests are held at current value. 

(q) Present value of acquired in-force business 

On acquisition of a portfolio of insurance contracts or investment contracts, either directly or through 
the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking, the net present value of the Company's interest in the 
expected pre-tax cash flows of the in-force business is capitalised in the balance sheet as an intangible 
asset. This is amortised over the anticipated lives of the related contracts. 

The carrying value of the asset is assessed annually using current assumptions in order to determine 
whether any impairment has arisen compared to the amortised acquired value based on assumptions 
made at the time of the acquisition. Any amortisation or impairment charge is recorded in the long-
term business technical account within 'other technical charges'. 

(r) Other financial assets 

Other financial assets primarily include insurance and other debtors, including amounts due from 
Group undertakings and cash at bank. 

Insurance and other debtors are recognised when due and are carried at fair value. Cash at bank is also 
reported at fair value at the balance sheet date. 

(s) Deferred acquisition costs 

For both insurance contracts and investment contracts with Discretionary Participation Features 
("DPF"), acquisition costs comprise all direct and indirect costs arising from writing the contracts, 
which are incurred during a financial period. Costs are deferred where their recovery has not already 
been reflected in the valuation of policyholder liabilities, but only to the extent they are recoverable 
out of future margins. The rate of amortisation of deferred acquisition costs on such contracts is 
proportional to the future margins emerging in respect of the related policies, over the lifetime of those 
policies. 

For investment contracts without DPF, deferred acquisition costs comprise all incremental costs that 
are directly related to the writing of the contract, which are incurred during a financial period and are 
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deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future margins. Such deferred acquisition costs 
are amortised uniformly over the lifetime of the policy. 

Annual impairment reviews are performed to identify whether there are any circumstances that might 
indicate impairment. If such circumstances exist, the carrying values are adjusted to the recoverable 
amounts and any resulting impairment losses are charged to profit and loss. 

(t) Funds for future appropriations ("FFA") 

The insurance and investment contract liabilities allow for discretionary benefit allocations to the 
extent that they are allowed within current bonus practices. The FFA represents working capital and the 
value of future transfers to shareholders from the With-Profits Fund in respect of discretionary bonuses 
for the conventional with-profits business. 

(u) Financial liabilities 

The Company classifies financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss or financial liabilities carried at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, such as investment contracts, are designated 
on initial recognition when one of the following criteria is satisfied: 

• It eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch caused by financial assets and 
financial liabilities being measured on a different basis. 

• The financial liability or group of financial liabilities are managed individually or together on a 
fair value basis. 

A financial liability is recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument. A financial liability is derecognised when and only 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

FRS 27 does not allow the decrease of actuarial liabilities in respect of capital units. 

(v) Insurance contracts 

Insurance contracts are measured using accounting policies consistent with those previously adopted 
under the Modified Statutory Solvency ("MSS") basis, as amended following the adoption of the 
principles contained in FRS 27 Life Assurance, for the Company's with-profits business. 

Insurance contract liabilities are disclosed separately from investment contract liabilities in the balance 
sheet. Technical provisions disclosed in the balance sheet for the long-term business, claims 
outstanding and linked liabilities represent amounts only for insurance contracts. Correspondingly, the 
change in other technical provisions in the long-term business technical account for long-term business 
and linked liabilities, including reinsurance amounts, is for insurance contracts only. 

The insurance contract liabilities are determined separately for each life fund following an annual 
investigation of the long-term funds at 31 December. The liabilities are calculated in accordance with 
the relevant Financial Services Authority ("FSA") rules for UK operations. The valuations are subject 
to adjustments to reflect relevant accounting requirements as set out below. 

For the conventional with-profits business, the liabilities to policyholders are determined in accordance 
with the Realistic Balance Sheet ("RBS") regulations and in accordance with the principles contained 
in FRS 27. These liabilities include both declared bonus and constructive obligations for future 
bonuses not yet declared (excluding the shareholders' share of future bonuses) and includes the cost of 
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options and guarantees measured on a market-consistent basis. The RBS basis of valuation does not 
recognise deferred acquisition costs, but allows for future profits of non-profit and unit-linked business 
written in the With-Profits Fund to be recognised. 

The calculation of liabilities to policyholders for non-profit contracts is on a gross premium basis and 
in accordance with the MSS basis. These liabilities include explicit allowance for future expenses and 
allow for lapses, but exclude explicit allowance for future bonuses. 

The provision for insurance contract liabilities can never be definitive as to the overall level of 
liabilities or their timing and is subject to regular reassessment. 

The Company carries out an annual liability adequacy test on its insurance liabilities less related 
deferred acquisition costs and other related intangible assets to ensure that the carrying amount of its 
liabilities is sufficient in the light of estimated future cash flows. Where a shortfall is identified, an 
additional provision is made. 

(w) Investment contracts 

Currently investment contracts are either classified as unit-linked or contracts with a Discretionary 
Participation Feature ("DPF") (mainly unitised with-profits contracts). 

A unit-linked investment contract is valued by calculating the number of units allocated to the 
policyholders in each of the unit-linked funds multiplied by the unit price of those funds at the balance 
sheet date. The fund assets and liabilities used to determine the unit prices at the balance sheet date are 
valued on a basis that is consistent with their measurement in the balance sheet, adjusted to take 
account of the effect on the liabilities of discounting for the time value of future tax on unrealised 
gains on assets held in the fund. Provision is made for renewal commissions at the inception of an 
investment contract as intermediaries are not required to perform any service once the policy is 
incepted. 

Unitised with-profits investment contracts are measured using RBS principles as amended by FRS 27. 

A contract with DPF is a contractual right held by a policyholder to receive, as a supplement to 
guaranteed minimum payments, additional payments: 

(i) that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual payments, and 

(ii) whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer and that are contractually 
based on: 

• the performance of a specified pool of contracts, or specified type of contract, or 

• realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the 
issuer, or 

• the profit or loss of the Company that issues the contracts. 

Investment contracts with DPF held within the With-Profits Fund are measured on a basis consistent 
with a measurement basis for insurance contracts held within that Fund. 

Balances representing eligible surplus that has not yet been allocated to shareholders, or policyholders 
with DPF contracts, are retained as a policyholders' liability. 
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(x) Classification of financial instruments between debt and equity 

The classification of financial instruments between debt and equity is based on the principles in FRS 
25 rather than the instruments' legal form or their commercial intent. The Company applies these 
principles when classifying its financial instruments. In order to be classified as debt, the financial 
instrument, in situations where the contract will not be settled by the Company's own shares, must 
have a contractual obligation to: 

(i) deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or 

(ii) exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the Company. 

For some instruments the contractual obligation to pay cash or another financial asset is dependent on 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of some future event. If this event is out of the control of the 
Company, then this usually means that the instrument still meets its definition of debt. However, if the 
Company is only required to settle the obligation in the event of liquidation or if the likelihood of the 
event occurring (or not occurring) is so remote that it is extremely unlikely that the obligation will be 
triggered then the Company treats the instruments as equity, as required by FRS 25. Payments on 
instruments classified as equity are not treated as expenses but as an appropriation of profit. 

(y) Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities primarily include creditors arising out of insurance and reinsurance 
operations and other obligations due to Group undertakings or third parties. These are reported at the 
estimated amounts required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. 

2 CHANGES TO ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES 

One off basis change: FSA Policy Statement (PS) 06/14 Prudential changes for insurers 

Regulatory reserving rule changes arising from the adoption of the Prudential Requirements for Insurers 
(Amendment) instrument 2006 (2006/62) have been applied to the valuation of the remaining Life Protection 
Insurance contracts not covered in 2006, namely Income Protection business and other protection business 
reinsured on a risk premium basis. PS06/14 permits negative reserves to be recognised to the extent they 
offset positive reserves within the same fund, reducing overall liabilities. 

Negative reserves represent all discounted future cash flows, including the recovery of acquisition costs, less 
a margin for prudence. As a result, any related Deferred Acquisition Costs ("DAC") will be fully amortised 
where negative reserves are recognised in full. 

The impact of completing the second stage of PS06/14 on profit before tax is an increase of £12.4m, arising 
from a reduction in net liabilities to policyholders of £88.4m and a write-down in DAC of £76m through 
operating expenses. 

3 SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

2007 2006 

£m 

Gross earned premiums on insurance contracts and 
investment contract deposits 1,377 1,657 

F-18 



2007 2006 

Less: investment contract deposits written 

Gross earned premiums per the long-term technical 
account. 

£m 

(929) 

448 

(1,150) 

507 

(a) Gross premiums written by type 

2007 

448 

2006 

£m 

Life 

Protection 

Savings and investment 

Pensions 

Individual pensions 

Group pensions 

Annuities 

Total life and pensions 

Premiums from non-participating contracts 

Premiums from participating contracts 

Premiums from investment linked contracts 

Total life and pensions 

(b) New business written by type 

The new business written for the purpose of this note includes premiums on all types of contracts 
written by the Company (including gross premiums on investment contracts, which have not been 
included as part of the 'gross premiums written' in the long-term business technical account, under 
paragraph 162 of the ABI SORP 12/2005). 

138 

287 

7 

9 

7 

448 

156 

203 

89 

148 

320 

17 

18 

4 

507 

161 

264 

82 

507 

Life 

Pensions 

Individual pensions 

Group pensions 

Regular 

2007 

8 

I 

1 

15 

premiums 

2006 

3 

2 

2 

5 

Single premiums 

2007 

£m 

— 
11 

112 

19 

2006 

— 
20 

131 

41 

APE 

2007 

8 

2 

12 

17 

2006 

3 

4 

15 

9 
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Regular premiums Single premiums APE 

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 

Annuities. 

£m 

Total life and pensions 25 12 151 199 40 32 

The new Life & Pensions APE represents gross new regular premiums plus 10% of gross new single 
premiums. In classifying new business premiums the following basis of recognition is adopted: 

(i) single new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is no expectation of 
continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals; 

(ii) regular new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is an expectation of 
continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals, including repeated or recurrent single 
premiums where the level of premiums is defined or where a regular pattern in the receipt of 
premiums has been established; 

(iii) non-contractual increments under existing group pensions schemes are classified as new 
business premiums; 

(iv) transfers between products where open market options are available are included as new 
business; and 

(v) regular new business premiums are included on an annualised basis. 

(c) Life and pensions gross premiums 

2007 2006 

£m 

Source 

United Kingdom 447 501 

Rest of the World 1 6 

448 507 

Destination 

United Kingdom 428 487 

Rest of the World 20 20 

448 507 
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(d) Life and pensions new business 

Regular premiums 

2007 

Source 

United Kingdom .. 

Rest of the World 

Destination 

United Kingdom .. 

Rest of the World 

2006 

£m 

Single premiums 

2007 2006 

24 

1 

25 

9 

16 

25 

7 

5 

12 

2 

10 

12 

144 

7 

151 

132 

19 

151 

187 

12 

199 

177 

22 

199 

(e) Loss on ordinary activities before tax 

Source 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

Destination 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

2007 

£m 

(100) 

(1) 

(101) 

(101) 

(101) 

2006 

500 

9 

509 

509 

509 

(f) Net assets 

The net assets supporting the Rest of the World geographical segment are the same as those supporting 
the United Kingdom segment and therefore have not been separated. 

OUTWARD REINSURANCE PREMIUMS 

Outward reinsurance premiums are net of reinsurance premium rebates, net of a provision for clawbacks, of 
£lm(2006:£lm). 

The aggregate of all reinsurance balances in the long-term business technical account for the year ended 31 
December 2007 was a balance of £nil (2006: £66lm credit balance). 
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INVESTMENT RETURN 

Technical account Non-technical account 

2007 2006 2007 2006 

£m 

Investment income 

Income from land and buildings 

Income from Group undertakings 

Income from other investments 

Gains on the realisation of investments . 

24 

17 

800 

468 

22 

224 

864 

557 

— 

1 

37 

23 

— 

12 

32 

16 

1,309 1,667 61 60 

Unrealised gains on investments 

Investment expenses and charges 

Investment management expenses (39) (34) (3) (2) 

Interest to Group undertakings 

Other interest 

Preference dividend — — (14) (14) 

(39) 

(20) 

(2) 

(34) 

(38) 

(2) 

(61) (74) (17) (16) 

Unrealised losses on investments (530) (459) (236) 

Total investment return 718 1,134 (192) 125 

Included in 'total investment return' is an amount of £822m (2006: £892m) that represents interest and 

dividends on investments classified as 'fair value through profit and loss' and an amount of £20m (2006: 

£274m) that represents realised and unrealised gains/losses on other financial investments classified as 'fair 

value through profit and loss'. 

Included in unrealised losses is an amount of £24m (2006: £14m) arising on investments classified as 'fair 

value through profit and loss' that is determined using valuation techniques. 

OTHER TECHNICAL INCOME, NET OF REINSURANCE 

Other technical income in the long-term business technical account comprises: 

2007 2006 

£m 

Friends Provident Pensions Limited (FPP) management charge 31 27 

Provision for financial reinsurance in respect of Friends Provident 

Reinsurance Services Limited (FPRe) - (note 26) 35 152 

Fee and commission income from service activities 18 37 

84 216 
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OTHER TECHNICAL CHARGES, NET OF REINSURANCE 

Other technical charges in the long-term business technical account comprise: 

2007 2006 

Amortisation of present value of acquired in-force business 

Amortisation of licence 

Recharge from Friends Provident Life Assurance Limited (FPLAL). 

Unit management charges payable to FPLAL 

£m 

3 

1 

(1) 

16 

19 

2 

2 

(2) 

11 

13 

The recharge from FPLAL shown above relates to amortisation of the licence (see note 11). 

8 NET OPERATING EXPENSES 

A fellow Group undertaking, Friends Provident Management Services Limited ("FPMS") provides the 
Company's services and administration and employs all staff. 

(a) Net operating expenses in the long-term business technical account, including those on 

investment contracts, comprise: 

2007 

£m 

11 

105 

70 

186 

2006 

14 

23 

86 

123 

Acquisition costs 

Change in deferred acquisition costs (see note 17). 

Administrative expenses 

Net operating expenses 

Total commissions for direct insurance accounted for by the Company during the year amounted to 
£9m (2006: £ 12m). 

(b) Auditor's remuneration 

2007 2006 

£W0 

Audit fees - excluding VAT 435 421 

Fees paid to the Company's auditor, KPMG Audit Pic and its associates for services other than the 
statutory audit of the Company and other Group undertakings is disclosed in note 8(b) of the 
consolidated accounts of Friends Provident pic. 
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TAXATION 

Profit and loss account 

United Kingdom and overseas taxation has been charged in profit and loss on assessable profits and income, 
on the bases and rates appropriate to the various classes of business. 

(a) Tax charged to the long-term business technical account and non-technical account 
comprises: 

Technical account Non-technical account 

Current taxation 

United Kingdom corporation tax 
(30%) 

Adjustment in respect of prior 
years 

Overseas taxation 

Tax credit attributable to balance 
on the long-term business technical 

Total current taxation 

Deferred taxation 

Origination and reversal of timing 

Total deferred taxation 

Total taxation 

2007 

12 

(23) 

(11) 

(1) 

— 

(12) 

11 

4 

15 

3 

2006 

£m 

— 

(26) 

(26) 

5 

— 

(21) 

79 

— 

79 

58 

2007 

— 

— 

— 

— 

27 

27 

(12) 

— 

(12) 

15 

2006 

— 

— 

— 

115 

115 

7 

— 

7 

122 

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year 

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). 

The differences are explained below: 

2007 2006 

£m 

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (101) 509 

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 

corporation tax in the UK of 30% (30) 153 

Effects of: 

Origination and reversal of timing differences 12 (7) 
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Income not taxable 

Deductions not allowable 

Tax losses not given value 

Current tax charge for the period . 

(c) Balance sheet 

Deferred taxation 

At 1 January 

Charge in year 

Effect of discounting 

At31 December 

Details of the deferred tax asset are given below: 

10 DIVIDEND 

2007 dividend of 38p per ordinary share (2006: 23p). 

2007 

£m 

(20) 

65 

— 

27 

2006 

(35: 

— 

4 

115 

2007 

£m 

170 

(1) 

4 

173 

2006 

84 

86 

— 

170 

2007 

£m 

146 

9 

2006 

153 

6 

Fair valuation of investments 

Tax on regulatory changes 

Deferred acquisition costs (including those on investment 
contracts) 20 20 

Discount on deferred acquisition costs (including those on 
investment contracts) (2) (9) 

Discounted provision for deferred taxation 173 170 

2007 

£m 

250 

250 

2006 

150 

150 
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

2007 

£m 

Licence 

Cost 

Atl January2007 

At 31 December 2007. 

Amortisation 

Atl January 2007 

Charge for the year 

At 31 December 2007. 

Net book value 

At 1 January 2007 

At 31 December 2007. 

18 

17 

1 

The licence relates to an exclusive distribution agreement secured with Countrywide Assured Group Pic in 
August 2002. The agreement gives a 15-year exclusive right to distribute mortgage related protection products 
through Countrywide's 1,126 estate agency branches and its 887 licensed consultants. 

12 INVESTMENTS 

2007 2006 

Land and buildings 

Owner occupied 

Freehold 

Long leasehold 

Other 

Freehold 

Long leasehold 

Total land and buildings 

Other financial investments 

Shares and other variable yield securities 
andOEIC's 

Debt and other fixed income securities 

Participation in investment pools 

Loans secured by mortgages 

Fair value Cost Fair value 

£m 

Cost 

44 

4 

310 

— 

358 

4,625 

9,054 

112 

2 

57 

4 

134 

— 

195 

3,380 

9,008 

60 

' 2 

45 

4 

299 

80 

428 

5,152 

9,709 

136 

2 

57 

4 

140 

71 

272 

3,714 

9,459 

62 

2 
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2007 2006 

Deposits with credit institutions 

Total other financial investments 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities 

Fair value 

623 

150 

14,566 

4,370 

Cost 

£m 

623 

162 

13,235 

3,628 

Fair value 

647 

191 

15,837 

4,060 

Cost 

647 

164 

14,048 

3,250 

During the year, all properties have been independently valued by a qualified valuer, principally DTZ 

Debenham Tie Leung, CB Richard Ellis and George Trollope, who are all chartered surveyors. The valuation 

is prepared in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors appraisal and valuation standards. 

In the carrying amounts above, £ 10,495m (2006: £11,555m) is expected to be recovered more than 12 months 

after the balance sheet date. 

Included in 'other financial investments' and 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' are investments, with cost 

of £374m (2006: £278m) and fair value of £469m (2006: £399m), whose year end values have been 

determined using valuation techniques and are not based on quoted prices. 

Included in 'other financial investments' and 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' are investments 

designated as 'fair value through profit and loss' with a fair value at year end of £18,934m (2006: £19,895m). 

Fair value of listed investments included in 'other financial investments' shown above comprise: 

2007 

Shares and other variable yield securities 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities. 

2006 

£m 

4,347 

9,005 

13,352 

4,478 

9,690 

14,168 

Fair value of listed investments included in 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' amounted to £l,218m 

(£2006: £ 1,500m). 

13 INVESTMENTS IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS AND PARTICIPATING INTERESTS 

Shares in 
Group 

undertakings 

Loans to 
Group 

undertakings 

Shares in 
participating 

interests 

£m 

Total 

Current value 

At 1 January 2007 . 

Additions 

Disposals 

2,692 

30 

(1) 

248 

12 

2,953 

42 

(1) 
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Shares in 
Group 

undertakings 

(250) 

2,471 

2,059 

30 

(1) 

2,088 

Loans to 
Group 

undertakings 

£m 

260 

265 

12 

277 

Shares in 
participating 

interests 

1 

14 

12 

— 

— 

12 

Total 

(249) 

2,745 

2,336 

42 

(1) 

2,377 

Revaluations 

At 31 December 2007.. 

Cost 

At 1 January 2007 

Additions 

Disposals 

At 31 December 2007. 

Principal Group undertakings and participating interests of the Company at 31 December 2007 are shown 
below. Except where stated, each of these are direct holdings and incorporated in England and Wales. 

Group undertakings held by the shareholder fund 

Friends Provident Pensions Limited 100% 

Friends Provident International Limited 100% 

Friends Provident International Luxembourg SA** 100% 

Friends Provident Life Assurance Limited 100% 

Friends Provident Reinsurance Services Limited 60% 

F&C Commercial Property Trust: 

Ordinary shares - Indirect holding* 17% 

Group undertakings held in the long-term funds 

Friends Provident Investment Holdings pic 100% 

FP Group Limited 100% 

FP Finance Pic 100% 

Friends Provident Marketing Limited 100% 

Friends Provident Reinsurance Services Limited 40% 

London Capital Holdings Limited 

Ordinary shares - Direct holding 65% 

- Indirect holding* 35% 

Deferred shares - Direct holding 84% 

- Indirect holding* 16% 

F&C Commercial Property Trust 

Ordinary shares - Direct holding 35% 
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Group undertakings held in assets held to cover linked liabilities 

AUB Commercial Property Limited 100% 

Participating interests held in the long-term funds 

Tenet Group Limited 21% 

* held in subsidiary ** incorporated in Luxembourg 

14 PRESENT VALUE OF ACQUIRED IN-FORCE BUSINESS 

£m 

Cost 

Atl January2007 72 

At 31 December 2007 72 

Amortisation 

At 1 January 2007 35 

Amortisation during year 3 

At 31 December 2007 38 

Net book value 

At 1 January 2007 37 

At 31 December 2007 34 

15 ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE LONG-TERM FUND 

Of the total assets shown on the balance sheet on page 10, £26,058m (2006: £26,887m) is attributable to the 
long-term business fund. 

16 OTHER DEBTORS 

2007 2006 

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year 

Investment income receivable 19 17 

Investments sold for subsequent settlement 3 — 

Taxation recoverable 11 54 

Amounts due from Group undertakings 9 3 

Other debtors 8 8 

50 82 

All 'other debtors' amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months after the balance sheet date, except 
for 'amounts due from Group undertakings' that have no fixed payment terms. 
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17 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS 

Insurance contracts Investment contracts 

At 1 January 

Incurred and deferred in the year. 

Amortisation charge for the year. 

Other movements 

At 31 December 

Total 

2007 

83 

— 

(77) 

— 

6 

2006 

96 

— 

(13) 

— 

83 

2007 

71 

1 

(28) 

12 

56 

£m 

2006 

81 

2 

(12) 

— 

71 

2007 

154 

1 

(105) 

12 

62 

2006 

177 

2 

(25) 

— 

154 

Acquisition expenses that do not meet the criteria for deferral are expensed directly as incurred. 

18 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL 

2007 

£m 

Authorised 

1,700m (2006: 1,700m) ordinary shares of £1 each. 

Allotted and fully paid 

654m (2006: 654m) ordinary shares of £1 each 

19 PREFERENCE SHARES 

1,700 

654 

2007 

£m 

300m (2006: 300m) 4.8125% non-cumulative preference shares of £1 
each 300 

2006 

1,700 

654 

2006 

300 

Under FRS 25 it is necessary to treat the £300m non-cumulative preference shares as debt, as a contractual 
obligation exists to pay the shareholders the preference dividend. The preference shares are perpetual shares 
and are only redeemable at the option of the Company on 21 November 2019 or on any dividend date 
thereafter. 
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20 OTHER EQUITY - STEP-UP TIER ONE INSURANCE CAPITAL SECURITIES (STICS) 

At 1 January 2007 

Interest charged 

Interest paid 

At 31 December 2007. 

£m 

511 

32 

(32) 

511 

On 27 June 2005, the Company issued £495m of STICS, which will bear interest from 30 June 2005 to 30 
June 2015 at a rate of 6.302%. The STICS have no maturity date but are redeemable in the whole or part at 
the option of the Company on 1 July 2015, thereafter on every fifth anniversary of this date. 

The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holders at any time. For each 
coupon period after 1 July 2015, the STICS will bear interest that is reset every five years. The STICS are 
carried at £511m being £495m principal plus interest due of £ 16m not yet paid to STICS holders. Interest is 
payable annually in arrears on 30 June of each year. 

Under FRS 25 it is necessary to treat STICS as equity as there is no requirement to settle the obligation in 
cash or another financial asset. 

21 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS AND 

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS ON RESERVES 

At 1 January 2007 

Loss for the year 

Dividend on equity shares 

Interest paid on STICS 

At 31 December 2007 

22 POLICYHOLDER LIABILITIES 

Share 
Capital 

654 

-
— 
-

654 

Share 
premium 

721 

-
-
-

721 

Profit and 
loss account 

tm 

1,011 

(148) 

(250) 

-
613 

Other Equity 
Reserve 
(STICS) 

511 

32 

-
(32) 

511 

Total 

2,897 

(116) 

(250) 

(32) 

2,499 

At 1 January 2007 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

Long-term 
business 

provision 

10,549 

(542) 

Technical 
provisions 
for linked 
liabilities 

£m 

1,143 

(180) 

Investment 
contract 

liabilities 

14,059 

(5,628) 

10,007 963 8,431 
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Long-term 
business 

provision 

Movement during the year 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

At 31 December 2007 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

Technical 
provisions 
for linked 
liabilities 

£m 

Investment 
contract 

liabilities 

(616) 

8 

(608) 

9,933 

(534) 

9,399 

(13) 

30 

17 

1,130 

(150) 

980 

(473) 

79 

(394) 

13,586 

(5,549) 

8,037 

Included within 'investment contract liabilities' is an amount of £3,390m (2006: £3,097m) relating to assets 
held to cover linked liabilities. 

23 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 

Liabilities for insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF 

The provision for insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary participation feature 
("DPF") is calculated on the basis of recognised actuarial methods with due regard to actuarial principles and 
best practice. The methodology takes into account risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of long-
term business written and the results are certified by the professionals undertaking the valuations. 

Calculations are generally made on an individual policy basis, however where any global provisions are made 
these are calculated using statistical or mathematical methods. These results are expected to be approximately 
the same as if an individual liability was calculated for each long-term contract. 

For the Company's conventional with-profits business, including unitised with-profits business, the liabilities 
are determined on a realistic basis and in accordance with the principles contained in FRS 27. The main 
element of the realistic liabilities is the 'asset shares' of with-profits business, representing the premiums 
received to date together with the investment return earned less expenses and charges. These asset shares 
move with the value of the underlying assets. Other policyholder liabilities, including options and guarantees 
arising in the With-Profits Fund, are then valued on a market-consistent stochastic basis. The main types of 
guarantees and options within the With-Profits Fund, are guarantees in respect of bonus additions and 
guaranteed annuity options. The calculation of liabilities and management actions that would be taken in 
certain scenarios is in accordance with the Company's Principles and Practices of Financial Management 
("PPFM") and set out in more detail in note 24. 

Liabilities to policyholders in respect of non-profit insurance policies, primarily protection and annuity 
products, have been valued using a gross premium method. 

Single premium group income protection contracts have been valued at 90% of the last three years' premiums 
plus an allowance for outstanding claims in respect of earlier premiums. 

The principal assumptions underlying the calculation of the provisions are set out below: 
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Valuation interest rates 
31 Dec 

2007 

Class of business (all non-profit or unit-linked) 

Life fund 

Individual income protection 

Single premium group income protection 

Pension business - other than annuities 

Pension annuities in payment 

% 

31 Dec 
2006 

3.1 

3.3 

3.8 

3.9 

4.75 

3.1 

3.8 

3.8 

3.9 

4.56 

As explained above, the Company's conventional with-profits business is valued in accordance with the 
FSA's realistic capital regulations. 

For regular premium life protection products the interest rate used in 2007 is 2.6% or 5.6%, depending on 
which is most onerous. 

The total cost of regular, interim and final bonuses attributable for the year ended 31 December 2007 was 
£277m(2006:£217m). 

Mortality and morbidity assumptions 

The liabilities allow for mortality and morbidity risk by making assumptions about the proportion of 
policyholders who die or become sick. Allowance for future mortality has been made using the following 
percentages of the standard published tables: 

2007 

Term assurances - smoker 

Term assurances - non-smoker 

Critical illness 

Other life assurances 

Unitised policies 

Pension policies 

Individual income protection 

Individual pension annuities in 
payment 

Group pension annuities in 
payment 

RM/FV00(ii) 

PCMA/PCFA00(ii) 

2006 

126% TM92(5) /116% TF92(5) 

58% TM92(5) / 63% TF92(5) 

CIBT02 (i) 

80% AM/AF80 ult 

80%AM/AF80ult 

35%AM/AF80ult 

60%AM/AF80ult 

95% TM92(5) / 116% TF92 (5) 

58% TM92 (5) / 74% TF92 (5) 

Same as term assurance 

80%AM/AF80ult 

80%AM/AF80ult 

35% AM/AF80 ult 

60%AM/AF80ult 

75% RM/FV92 U2006 (iii) 

95% PM/FA92 U2006 (iii) 

(i) The percentages of the table used differ by sex and smoker status. 

(ii) Age-related percentages of the mortality tables are used. Future improvements in mortality are based 
on the following percentages of the average of CMI's Medium Cohort and Long Cohort: 

Males - 100% subject to a minimum of 1.5% per annum 
Females - 75% subject to a minimum of 1.25% per annum 
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(iii) Plus additional 0.25% per annum and 0.5% per annum for individuals and group (males only) 
respectively from 31 December 2003 onwards. 

Individual income protection sickness and recovery rates are based on percentages of the CMI 12 (male and 
female) published tables. Rates differentiate by smoker status, deferred period and occupational class. 

Critical illness morbidity rates are based on percentages of the published CIBT02 table. The percentages used 
vary by sex and smoker status. In addition, future deterioration in morbidity is allowed for by applying 1.25% 
per annum and 1.50% per annum to the critical illness rates, for males and females respectively. 

Lapse rates for conventional and income protection business are based on recent experience with a prudent 
margin. 

Reviews for pension transfers and opt-outs have now been substantially completed. An amount of £4.0m 
(2006: £5.9m) remains within the long-term business provision in respect of residual associated costs and 
contingencies. No change to the total costs of the review have been assumed in 2007 or 2006. 

Included in the carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities, is £9,113m (2006: £9,819m) that is expected 
to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

Investment contracts 

The provision for linked contracts is equal to the value of units, underlying assets, share index or reference 
value. The fund liabilities at the balance sheet date are adjusted to take account of the effect of discounting for 
the time value of future tax on unrealised gains on assets held in the fund. There is no significant difference 
between carrying values and maturity values of investment contract liabilities. 

Included in the carrying amount of investment contract liabilities, is £7,115m (2006: £7,650m) that is 
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

24 WITH-PROFITS BALANCE SHEET 

The realistic balance sheet for the Company's with-profits business has been determined in accordance with 
the RBS regulations prescribed by the FSA. This balance sheet is set out below and shows realistic assets of 
£12,397m (2006: £13,682m), realistic liabilities (including options and guarantees) of £12,150m (2006: 
£ 13,462m) resulting in an excess of realistic assets over realistic liabilities of £247m (2006: £220m). 
Disclosure of the capital position of the Company is contained in the report and accounts of the Company's 
ultimate parent undertaking, Friends Provident pic. 

2007 2006 

Total net assets 

Less: non-profit liabilities including share of resilience capital and long-
term insurance capital requirements 

Total regulatory assets 

Additional assets arising on realistic basis 

Total assets 

Policyholder liabilities 

-asset shares 10,323 11,365 

£m 

14,739 

(2,56.1) 

12,178 

219 

12,397 

16,087 

(2,670) 

13,417 

265 

13,682 
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2007 

£m 

210 

628 

989 

12,150 

247 

2006 

101 

747 

1,249 

13,462 

220 

- financial guarantees (net of charges). 

- options (guaranteed annuities) 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Excess of assets over liabilities 

At 31 December 2007, the surplus of realistic assets over realistic liabilities initially amounted to £274m 
(2006: £254m) with a Risk Capital Margin ("RCM") of £247m (2006: £220m), the surplus assets have 
subsequently been reduced by £27m via a reduction in future guarantee charges leaving the working capital at 
£247m fully covering the RCM. Adding back the shareholders' share of future bonuses totalling £94m (2006: 
£95m) and deducting adjustments to eliminate double counting of acquired PVIF of £0m (2006: £19m), the 
excess in accordance with FRS 27 amounted to £34lm (2006: £296m). 

The main element of the realistic liabilities is the asset shares of with-profits business. This represents the 
premiums received to date together with the investment return earned less expenses and charges. This is 
mainly calculated on an individual policy basis using historic information and in line with the Company's 
Principles and Practices of Financial Management ("PPFM"). Assets and realistic liabilities are closely 
matched since the realistic liabilities move with the value of the underlying assets. 

Policyholder liabilities (including options and guarantees) are then valued using a market-consistent 
stochastic model. Included in liabilities are provisions for specific items such as mortgage endowment 
reviews and other liabilities of the fund. Realistic valuations also allow for future profits of non-profit 
business written in the With-Profits Fund to be included. In accordance with FRS 27, the value of future 
profits of non-profit business has been deducted from policyholder liabilities in the balance sheet. 

Options and guarantees are features of life assurance and pensions contracts that confer potentially valuable 
benefits to policyholders. They are not unique to with-profits funds and can arise in non-participating funds. 
They can expose an insurance company to two types of risk: insurance (such as mortality/morbidity) and 
financial (such as market prices/interest rates). The value of an option or guarantee comprises two elements: 
the intrinsic value and the time value. The intrinsic value is the amount that would be payable if the option or 
guarantee was exercised immediately. The time value is the additional value that reflects the possibility of the 
intrinsic value increasing in future, before the expiry of the option or guarantee. 

Under FSA rules, the Company's options and guarantees are valued on a market-consistent stochastic basis 
and included in policyholder liabilities. There are two main types of guarantees and options in the Company's 
With-Profits Fund: maturity guarantees and guaranteed annuity options. Maturity guarantees are in respect of 
conventional with-profits business and unitised with-profits business and represent the sum assured and 
reversionary bonuses declared to date. The cost of these guarantees, net of charges, has been calculated at 
£210m (2006: £101m). For certain with-profits pension policies issued, there are options guaranteeing the 
rates at which annuities can be purchased. The cost of these guarantees has been calculated at £628m (2006: 
£747m). 

The cost of the with-profits guarantees is assessed using a market-consistent stochastic model (using The 
Smith Plus Model as the scenario generator) and is calculated using 6,300 simulations. The model has been 
calibrated using the gilt risk-free curve assuming interest rates of between 4.1% and 4.6% pa (2006: between 
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3.9% and 5.3% pa) and implied volatilities in the market. The capital return has been calibrated and compared 
to the actual asset portfolio. For equities, the capital return volatility varies by year with 26% pa (2006: 20% 
pa) assumed in year 7, increasing to 26% pa (2006: 23% pa) by year 14 and 27% pa (2006: 25% pa) by year 
21. Volatility for property total returns varies by year with 15% assumed in year 7 (2006: 15% pa), increasing 
to 17% pa (2006: 15% pa) by year 14 and 17% (2006: 15%) by year 21. 

The cost of guarantees also depends on management actions that would be taken under various scenarios. For 
example the future level of the equity-backing ratio (the ratio of funds held in equities and property to total 
investments) varies in each scenario depending on the ration of the guarantee cost to the asset share. Similarly, 
the reversionary bonus rate is set each year such that, by maturity, guaranteed benefits are targeted as a 
prescribed fraction of the total asset share, leaving the remaining portion of the asset share to be paid as 
terminal bonus. The management actions are in line with the PPFM and are programmed into the model. 

The guarantee cost in respect of guaranteed annuity options is assessed using a market-consistent stochastic 
model and values both the current level of the guaranteed annuity rate benefit (allowing for future 
improvements in annuitant mortality) and the time value due to uncertainty in future interest rates. The 
guarantee cost in each scenario is the value of the excess annuity benefit provided by the options, relative to 
an annuity purchased in the open market. In estimating the future open market annuity rate, the model allows 
for stochastic variation in interest rates and for future mortality improvements. The stochastic interest rate 
assumption reflects that implied by current market interest rate derivative prices. Future annuitant mortality 
has been derived from the premium basis at which annuities can be purchased from Friends Provident 
Pensions Limited, which allows for future mortality improvements. Future improvements are difficult to 
assess, as there is no industry census. 

The guaranteed annuity options cost also depends upon other factors such as policy discontinuance and tax-
free cash take up. The factors are based on recent experience adjusted to reflect industry benchmarks and to 
anticipate trends in policyholder behaviour. 

A summary of the key assumptions is as follows: 

Policy discontinuances: lapse, early retirement and paid-up rates vary by policy type and period and have 
been based on recent experience. Policy lapses for pensions are generally in the range of 1 % to 4% pa (2006: 
1% to 3% pa) with policy lapses for life business in the range of 3% to 10% pa (13% pa for mortgage 
endowment and with-profit bond policies) (2006: 3% to 9% pa (13% pa for mortgage endowment policies)). 
Paid-up rates for pensions are generally in the range of 5% to 12% pa (2006: 7% to 11% pa) with life policies 
generally in the region of 0.5% to 2% pa (2006: 0.5% to 2% pa). Early retirement rates vary by age band and 
policy type and have been reviewed and amended in 2007 based on recent experience. 

Tax-free cash option: where a guaranteed annuity option is more valuable than the cash equivalent it is 
assumed that 18% to 27% of the benefit is taken as tax-free, depending on type of business (2006: 18% to 
27%). This is based on recent experience. 

25 RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES FOR MITIGATING RISKS 

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk from its use of financial instruments and 
to insurance risk through the issuing of insurance contracts. This note presents information about the 
Company's exposure to each of the above risks and the Company's objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial 
statements. 

The board of the Company is ultimately responsible for the Company's system of internal control and risk 
management framework, and for reviewing their effectiveness. The board of the Company reports on its risk 
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management processes to the Group Risk Committee ("GRC") of the parent company, which is responsible 
for developing, sponsoring and monitoring the risk management activities and processes of the companies 
within the Group. The Company's board is authorised to determine its respective policies for the management 
of financial and operational risk, subject to the oversight of the GRC. 

The internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk, as no business can be 
successful without taking some risk. They can thus provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 

The Life & Pensions Financial Risk and Operational Risk Committees ("FRC" and "ORC" respectively), 
whose members include executive directors and senior managers of the company, oversee the management of 
financial and operational risk respectively. The committees have detailed terms of reference that describe their 
roles in the identification, assessment, management and monitoring of risk. These committees have authority 
to approve their respective risk policies. 

Approved policies are reviewed by the relevant committees, on at least an annual basis, to ensure they remain 
relevant to the changing demands of the business and the regulatory environment. Risk management policies 
are framed at the highest level to encourage the use of a pragmatic approach to risk management and to allow 
for a suitable degree of flexibility to manage risk under changing conditions. 

The financial and insurance risk processes are aligned to the business planning process, with risk being 
identified and evaluated in relation to the achievement of business objectives. The processes are run centrally 
by the Risk function in co-operation with key business units. Risks are recorded by the Risk function, which 
co-ordinates quarterly reporting to the FRC. Risks within the business change activities are identified and 
evaluated by the management of the change programme both in relation to the delivery of the programme and 
in terms of the change programme's effect on the business as a whole. 

Management is responsible for putting in place the ongoing management and monitoring disciplines for risks 
and activities under its control. Through these mechanisms, risks are identified in a timely manner, their 
financial implications assessed, control procedures re-evaluated and, where appropriate, actions agreed and 
implemented to address these risks. 

The Group Asset Liability Committee reports to the Investment Committee of Friends Provident pic. It 
comprises some executive directors of the Company, together with senior managers from the Life and 
Pensions and Asset Management businesses, and supervises the application of agreed risk appetite in respect 
of asset liability matching for both shareholder and policyholder funds. It also reviews the investment of, and 
monitors market, liquidity and credit risk management in relation to, shareholder funds and makes 
recommendations to the Investment Committee in respect of policy on foreign exchange and interest rate 
hedging. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee ("ACC") of Friends Provident pic oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the Group's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The ACC is supported in its oversight role 
by Internal Audit, which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the ACC. 

Appropriate authority levels, limits and other processes are confirmed and developed where necessary, 
consistent with the risk appetite set by the board. 

Capital management 

The Company's capital comprises of equity shareholders' funds, preference shares and STICS. 
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The Company is a regulated entity subject to a number of regulatory capital tests. Total available capital 
resources are calculated on a realistic basis for the With-Profits Fund. The Company has complied with all 
regulatory capital requirements throughout the financial year. 

Capital and solvency is measured using the regulations prescribed by the Financial Services Authority 
("FSA"). These regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of solvency capital (Capital Resources 
Requirement ("CRR")) and a series of prudent assumptions in respect of type of business written by the 
Company. 

A reconciliation of Equity under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP") attributable to 
equity holders of the Company and the excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business is set out below: 

2007 2006 

Equity shareholders' funds per the balance sheet (UK GAAP basis) 

Realistic excess capital 

Realistic value of future transfers out of WPF 

Step-up tier one insurance capital securities 

Adjustments to subsidiary values 

Remove deferred acquisition costs 

Remove deferred front end fees 

Remove acquired present value of in force business 

Policy liability differences 

Take credit for reinsurance to FP Re 

Less: Long-term insurance capital requirement of the Non Profit Fund... 

Capital requirements of subsidiary companies 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business (Per FSA Return, Form 2) 

£m 

2,499 2,898 

335 

300 

(1,050) 

(46) 

9 

(17) 

(8) 

61 

(150) 

(266) 

1,667 

514 

300 

(1,135) 

(143) 

(6) 

(18) 

26 

81 

(162) 

(238) 

2,117 

Sensitivity Analysis 

Year ended 31 December 2007 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business (Per FSA Return, Form 2) 

10% reduction in market values of equity and property assets 

10% increase in market values of equity and property assets 

1 % reduction in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-interest 
asset values 

1% increase in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-interest 

Notes £m 

(i) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(ii) 

1,667 

(5) 

5 

34 

(33) 
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asset values 

(i) 

(i) 

(ii) 

00 

2,117 

(40) 

39 

82 

(68) 

Year ended 31 December 2006 

Notes £m 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business (Per FSA Return, Form 2) 

10% reduction in market values of equity and property assets 

10% increase in market values of equity and property assets 

1% reduction in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-interest 
asset values 

1 % increase in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-interest 
asset values 

(i) A fall in equity and property values adversely affects the following: 

• exposure to equities in the Shareholder Fund 

• the impact on the value of future charges of movements in equity and property values in 
linked funds. 

(ii) A rise in interest rates reduces both the value of fixed interest assets and the value of liabilities. 
The converse is true of a fall in interest rates. Therefore the net impact is significantly less than 
the impact on assets alone. 

A summary of how each risk is mitigated is provided below with, where appropriate, quantitative 
information on the exposure to that risk. 

(a) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from a change in the values of, or the income from, assets or in 
interest or exchange rates. A risk of loss also arises from changes in the volatility of asset prices, 
interest rates, or exchange rates. Market Risk includes the following five elements: 

Equity Risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in equity prices or 
income 

Foreign Exchange Risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in exchange 
rates 

Interest Rate Risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in interest rates 

Property Risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in real estate values or 
income 

Commodity Risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in commodity 
prices. 

Market risk arises on guarantees and options offered on certain of the Company's products. The 
Company is exposed to guarantees on bonus additions that become more valuable as investment values 
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fall. In addition, the Company is exposed to guaranteed cash and annuity options on certain pension 
policies that become more valuable as interest rates fall. 

The Company manages market risk attaching to assets backing specific policyholder liabilities and to 
assets held to deliver income and gains for the shareholder. Within the unit-linked funds and with 
profit funds, the Company manages market risk so as to provide a return in line with the expectations 
of policyholders. The principal objective for shareholder assets is to manage them so that they meet the 
capital requirements of the Company, and support its future strategic and operational objectives. 

Appetite for market risk varies for different asset classes and by the nature of the liabilities or funds 
that they represent. For example, in relation to equity risk, appetite varies from taking on the risk when 
it is beneficial to do so for assets backing with profits business in with profits funds to not actively 
pursuing the risk to for assets backing non-linked, non-profit policies. 

For assets backing policyholder liabilities, market risk is managed by matching, where possible, the 
duration and profile of assets to the policyholder liabilities they are backing. This helps manage market 
risk to the extent that changes in the values of assets are matched by a corresponding movement in the 
values of liabilities. 

Shareholders' earnings are further exposed to market risk to the extent that the income from 
policyholder funds is based on the value of financial assets held within those unit-linked funds or the 
With-Profits Fund. 

The following summarises the key actions undertaken by the Company to manage all aspects of 
market risk: 

The members of the Investment Committee of Friends Provident Pic oversee investment policy and 
strategy for all the Life and Pensions companies, which is actioned primarily through the use of 
investment fund mandates. Day-to-day implementation of investment policy and strategy is managed 
predominantly by F&C Asset Management pic ("F&C") in line with these approved mandates, subject 
to robust monitoring. 

Mandates are set for each relevant fund within the Company and its insurance subsidiaries taking 
account of the relevant factors outlined above. Unit-linked funds are managed in line with their 
underlying objectives as set out in policyholder contracts. The mandates set limits on the level of 
market risk permitted using some or all of the following mechanisms: 

• defined performance benchmarks, 

• a maximum proportion of the fund that can be held in equities and, for the With-Profits Fund, a 
minimum level, 

• restrictions on the size of companies within which equity investment can be held (e.g. 
potentially restricting UK equity to FTSE 100 stocks), 

• defined asset allocations between UK and overseas equity exposure in specific regions, 

• restrictions on the variation of the duration of the portfolio of bonds from the benchmark 
duration. 

Equity derivatives may be held to facilitate efficient portfolio management or to reduce investment risk 
(without disproportionately increasing other types of risk), and appropriate approval must be obtained 
for their use. Currency futures and other derivatives may be held to manage currency risk, but only if 
permitted by individual fund mandates. 
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In addition to the mandates, the Company undertakes a programme of asset/liability management. For 
example, in order to manage the impact of interest changes on profit, corporate bonds and gilts are 
held to match the duration of annuity and permanent health insurance policies held. This provides 
matching of cash flows and valuation movements and is supplemented by the use of interest rate swaps 
to improve asset/liability matching as necessary. 

In order to manage the exposure arising from guarantees and options, the Company has purchased a 
number of derivatives, including interest rate swaps, equity put options and futures, to manage 
exposures to changes in interest rates or falls in equity prices. Hedge accounting has not been applied 
to these derivatives, as movements in the fair value of these instruments will be offset by the 
movement in the valuation of the liability. As noted, the majority of these guarantees arise in the With-
Profits Fund and so any net valuation movement will be reflected in the FFA rather than within 
shareholders' funds. 

The following provides additional information on the exposure to equity and property risk, foreign 
exchange risk and interest rate risk: 

(i) Equity and property risk 

Equity and property risk, as defined above, are accepted in accordance with agreed risk appetite 
in order to achieve the desired level of return from policyholder assets. For with-profits and 
unit-linked policies, the policyholders bear the majority of the investment risk and any change 
in asset values is matched by a broadly equivalent change in the liability. Charges which are 
expressed as a percentage of fund values are also impacted by movements in equity and 
property prices. Appetite for equity risk exposure for shareholder funds has reduced. 
Shareholder tactical equities have been effectively hedged out by selling FTSE 100 equities. 

The management of the Company's equity investments is largely undertaken on behalf of the 
Company by F&C Asset Management pic ("F&C"). In its decision-making on equity 
investments, F&C will assess the extent of equity risk required or allowed by the fund as set out 
in the fund objectives and relative to defined performance benchmarks. The methodology 
followed by F&C to manage equity risk within each fund is an integral part of the asset 
management approach adopted. 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through its investment in foreign operations, 
investment in financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its functional currency 
(pounds sterling) and revenues receivable in foreign currencies. Consequently the Company is 
exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of its measurement currency relative to other 
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of the Company's 
financial assets and liabilities. This risk is accepted, in accordance with the agreed risk appetite, 
as being consequential upon the Company following its agreed investment strategy. 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk through direct investment in overseas equities and debt 
securities is minimal due to restrictions through limits placed by investment mandates set by 
management. 

For unit-linked contracts, currency risk is borne by the policyholder. As noted above, the 
shareholders are subject to currency risk only to the extent that income from policyholder funds 
is based on the value of the financial assets held in those funds. The liability for non-linked 
insurance contracts in currencies other than sterling is immaterial. 
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(iii) Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to fair value interest rate risk where changes to interest rates result in 
changes to fair values rather than cash flows, for example fixed interest rate loans and assets 
and derivatives that convert floating rate interest payments to fixed rates. Conversely, floating 
rate loans and derivatives that convert fixed interest rates to floating rates expose the Company 
to cash flow interest rate risk. 

Again, interest rate risk is accepted, in accordance with agreed risk appetite, as a consequence 
of the Company following its agreed investment strategy. 

Day to day investment decisions around the management of interest rate risk and its impact on 
the value of the Company's investments are largely undertaken on behalf of the Company by 
F&C, within the boundaries set by fund mandates. In its decision making on gilt and corporate 
bond investments, F&C will assess the extent of interest rate risk required or allowed by the 
fund as set out in the fund objectives and relative to defined performance benchmarks. The 
methodology followed by F&C to manage interest rate risk within each specific fund is an 
integral part of the asset management approach adopted. 

The Company may also be exposed to interest rate risk on its strategic investments, or any debt 
issuance. As part of any proposal for strategic investment or debt capital raising, the interest 
rate risk to which the Company is exposed will be given careful consideration as one of the 
factors impacting on the final recommendation. Any proposed non F&C managed investments 
or debt raising with significant interest rate risk is reviewed by the risk function. Ultimate 
approval for any strategic investments or debt raising rests with Friends Provident pic Board. 

(b) Policy cash flow risk 

Policy cash flow risk consists of the following four main areas: 

Insurance risks: 

• mortality risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder deaths experience being different from 
expectations; or for annuities, risk of annuitants living longer than expected (called annuity 
longevity risk); 

• morbidity risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder health experience being different from 
expectations. 

Other risks: 

• policyholder decision risk - risk of loss arising from experience of actual policyholder 
behaviour (e.g. lapses, option take-up) being different from expectations; 

• expense risk - risk of loss due to expense experience being different from expectations. 

The Company actively pursues mortality risk and morbidity risk in those areas where it believes it has 
a competitive advantage in managing these risks to generate shareholder value (without compromising 
the interests of policyholders, and the need to treat customers fairly). Policyholder decision risk and 
expense risk are taken on when it is deemed financially beneficial for the Company to do so, or where 
the taking of these risks is in support of the Company's strategic objectives. 

Underpinning the Company's management of policy cash flow risk is: 
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• adherence to an approved underwriting policy that takes into account the level of risk that the 
Company is prepared to accept; 

• controls around the development of products and their pricing; and 

• regular analysis of actual mortality, morbidity and lapse experience which feeds into the 
development of products and policies. 

Most policies are written in the UK and so results are sensitive to changes in the UK insurance market 
and tax regime. Otherwise the Company has a diverse range of policyholders and products on its 
books. Overseas Life Assurance Business ("OLAB") is the only overseas business. 

While significant cash flows often occur at the maturity date there are other cash flows which occur 
throughout the term of the contracts including income from investments, premiums, annuity payments, 
death and sickness payments, expenses and commission. 

Note 23 describes the main insurance contracts written by the Company and the basis of setting 
assumptions in measuring insurance liabilities, which takes into account the risks above. The following 
sections describe how policyholder decision risk and expense risk are managed and provide an 
indication of the sensitivity of reported profit to the risk. 

(i) Policyholder decision risk 

Persistency experience varies over time as well as from one type of contract to another. Factors 
that will cause lapse rates to vary over time include changes in investment performance of the 
assets underlying the contract where appropriate, regulatory changes that make alternative 
products more attractive, customer perceptions of the insurance industry in general and the UK 
Life and Pensions division in particular, and the general economic environment. 

The immediate impact on profit of a change in lapse rates is relatively small. An increase in 
lapse rates will normally result in a small reduction in profit. 

The cost of guaranteed annuity options is dependent on decisions made by policyholders such 
as policy discontinuance and tax-free cash take-up. These assumptions are set by reference to 
recent experience. 

(ii) Expense risk 

The whole of the impact of changes in expense levels is borne by shareholders with the 
following exceptions. In 2010 the charges made to the With-Profits Fund for managing policies 
will be reviewed to reflect market rates at the time. Pre-demutualisation with-profits 
policyholders will bear the impact of any resulting changes to charges. 

Contractual terms for unit-linked and unitised with-profits products include provision for 
increases in charges. Certain expenses (such as fees/commissions) are fixed at the time a 
contract is written. 

(c) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the default of a company, individual or country, or a change in 
investors' risk appetite. Credit risk includes the following seven elements: 

Investment credit risk - financial loss arising from a change in the value of an investment due to a 
rating downgrade, default, or widening of credit spreads. 
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Derivative counterparty risk - financial loss arising from a derivative counterparty's default, or the 
deterioration of the derivative counterparty's financial position. 

Reinsurance counterparty risk - financial loss arising from a reinsurer's default, or the deterioration of 
the reinsurer's financial position. 

Deposit risk - financial loss arising from a deposit institution's default, or the deterioration of the 
deposit institution's financial position. 

Loan risk - financial loss arising from a debtor's inability to repay all, or part, of its loan obligations to 
the Company or the deterioration of the debtor's financial position. 

Country risk - financial loss arising from the most economic agents in a sovereign foreign country, 
including its government, being unable or unwilling to fulfil their international obligations due to a 
shortage of foreign exchange or another common reason such as currency inconvertibility. 

Settlement risk - financial loss arising from the failure or substantial delay of an expected settlement in 
a transfer system to take place, due to the party other than the Company defaulting/not delivering on its 
settlement obligations. 

The Company will take on investment credit risk and loan risk when it is deemed financially beneficial 
to do so in support of the Company's strategic objectives. The Company is averse to most other types 
of credit risk, in particular that related to the default of derivative counterparties, reinsurers and deposit 
takers. 

The Company is exposed to investment credit risk on its investment portfolio, primarily from 
investments in corporate bonds. Creditworthiness assessment for new and existing investments is 
largely undertaken on behalf of the Company by F&C. In their decision making, F&C will assess the 
extent of investment credit risk required or allowed by each fund as set out in the fund mandates and 
relative to defined performance benchmarks. 

The global 'credit crunch' has had a minimal impact as the Company has very little exposure to the 
higher risk end of the market. Exposure to directly held asset-backed securities is £1,181m, all of 
which are at investment grade. Exposure to US sub-prime mortgage backed securities within the 
Group's investment portfolio is immaterial. 

Derivatives purchased over the counter expose the Company to substantial credit risk unless this risk is 
appropriately managed. The Asset Liability Management function is responsible for recommending 
derivative strategies to the board, and putting into place the appropriate internal management processes 
(including independent valuation and payment verification procedures). As part of the analysis of any 
proposed derivative contracts, the credit risk arising will be given due consideration as one of the 
factors impacting on the final recommendation. The Company will endeavour only to transact over-
the-counter derivatives with highly rated counterparties as it has a risk adverse appetite for this risk. 

The Company is exposed to reinsurance counterparty risk of three different types: 

• as a result of debts arising from claims made by the Company but not yet paid by the reinsurer, 

from reinsurance premium payments made to the reinsurer in advance, and • 

• as a result of reserves held by the reinsurer which would have to be met by the Company in the 
event of default. 

In addition, there is potential for the Company's credit risk exposure to increase significantly under 
adverse insurance risk events, e.g. if the Company received a large number of claims for which it 
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needed to recover amounts from its reinsurers. In order to mitigate reinsurance counterparty risk, the 
Company will give due consideration to the credit quality of a reinsurer before incepting a reinsurance 
treaty. To facilitate this process, a list of acceptable reinsurers is maintained within Life & Pensions 
Finance. 

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the balances deposited with banks in the form of cash, 
certificates of deposit and money market instruments. Money market instruments issued by parties 
other than banks such as commercial paper are also covered under this heading. Given the high credit 
quality of the deposit institutions and the short-dated nature of these credit risk exposures, the primary 
risk to the Company under this heading is concentration risk. 

The Company is exposed to loan risk in several different areas, the most material of which are: 

• loans to IFAs as part of strategic investments, 

• stocklending arrangements, 

• other strategic loans, 

• loans to appointed representatives, 

• loans to brokers, 

• agency debt (including debt arising as a result of clawback of commission), 

• policyholder debt, 

• rental income due. 

In general, these quantitative credit exposures are relatively low but they can bear relatively high 
likelihoods of default. 

The Company is exposed to country risk in a number of key areas, the most significant of which are: 

• bonds issued by foreign governments in non-domestic currency, 

• the inability of foreign entities to meet their obligations to the Company due to a shortage of 
foreign exchange. 

The management of country risk on the creditworthiness of our investments is largely undertaken on 
behalf of the Company by F&C. 

Settlement risk is a form of credit risk that arises at the settlement of a transaction, as a result of one 
party to the transaction (for example, the other counterparty, an exchange, or a bank) failing to perform 
its obligations to the Company. The Company is exposed to settlement risk in the following key areas: 

• bank transfers, including foreign exchange transactions, 

• the purchase or sale of investments, 

• the purchase or sale of property, 

• the purchase or sale of exchange-traded derivatives or the transfer of periodic payments under 
these contracts, 

• the purchase or sale of over-the-counter derivatives or the transfer of periodic payments under 
these contracts, 
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• the settlement of derivative contracts. 

Settlement risk on assets that form part of F&C funds is managed as an integral part of the asset 
management approach adopted. 

To mitigate credit risk: 

• Investment mandates for many funds will have a prescribed minimum credit rating of bonds 
that may be held. Investing in a diverse portfolio reduces the impact from individual companies 
defaulting. 

• Counterparty limits are set for investments, cash deposits, foreign exchange trade exposure and 
stock lending. 

• All derivative transactions are covered by collateral. 

• The Company regularly reviews the financial security of its reinsurers. 

The counterparty and individual issuer credit rating limits, and hence exposure to credit risk, by 
individual regulated entity are as follows: 

Credit rating Limit 

AAA £ 1,000m 

AA £750m 

A £600m 

BBB £100m 

Below £20m 

The exposure to individual counterparties is limited to specific percentages of total non-linked assets in 
the long term fund, based on regulatory categorisation of counterparties. These are typically less than 
4% of non-linked assets. 

Concentrations of credit risk might exist where the Company has significant exposure to a group of 
counterparties with similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions. 

The amount disclosed in the balance sheet in respect of financial assets represents the Company's 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 

An indication of the Company's exposure to credit risk is the quality of the investments and 
counterparties with which it transacts. The Company is most exposed to credit risk on debt and other 
fixed income securities, derivatives, deposits with credit institutions, reinsurance arrangements and 
cash at bank. Debt and other fixed income securities mainly comprise government bonds and corporate 
bonds. Given the nature of the Company's investments in government bonds the credit risk associated 
with these is considered small and the Company therefore focuses on monitoring the quality of its 
corporate bonds. 

The following table gives an indication of the level of creditworthiness of those categories of assets 
which are most exposed to credit risk using principally ratings prescribed by Standard & Poor's and 
Moody's. Assets held within unit-linked funds have been excluded from the table below as the credit 
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risk on these assets is borne by the policyholders rather than the shareholders. Government bonds have 
also been excluded. 

Debt & other fixed 

interest securities... 

Derivatives 

Reinsurance 

claims 

Deposits with 

credit institutions... 

Cash at bank and 

in hand 

AAA 

1,807 

— 

— 

279 

AA 

1,158 

150 

7 

145 

12 

A 

1,492 

— 

189 

31 December 2007 

BBB BB 

£m 

348 22 

— — 

_ _ • 

— • 

B 

7 

— 

Not 
rated 

100 

— 

10 

Total 

4,934 

150 

7 

623 

12 

Debt & other fixed 

interest securities... 

Reinsurance 

claims 

Deposits with 

credit institutions... 

Cash at bank and 

AAA 

1,935 

— 

127 

AA 

1,144 

191 

7 

348 

45 

A 

1,590 

— 

— 

172 

31 December 2006 

BBB BB 

£m 

511 7 

— — 

— — 

— — 

B 

5 

— 

— 

— 

Not 
rated 

165 

— 

— 

— 

Total 

5,357 

191 

7 

647 

45 

For over-the-counter derivative transactions undertaken by the Company, collateral is received from 
the counterparty if the contract is in-the-money (ie is an asset of the Company). This collateral can be 
sold or re-pledged by the Company and is repayable if the contract terminates or the contract's fair 
value falls. Contractual agreements between the Company and each counterparty exist to protect the 
interests of each party, taking into consideration minimum threshold, asset class of collateral pledged 
and the frequency of valuation. 

At 31 December 2007 the fair value of such collateral held was £143m (2006: £181m). No collateral 
received from the counterparty has been sold or re-pledged. 

The following table shows the amount of 'debtors' and 'prepayments and accrued income (excluding 
'deferred acquisition costs' (DAC) 'deferred fees and charges' (DFF)) that were not past due, past due 
but not impaired and impaired at the end of the year: 

As at 31 December 2007 (Amounts held in unit-linked funds have been excluded from the table) 
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Debtors and 
prepayments 
and accrued 

income 
(excluding 
DAC and 

DFF) 

Neither past due nor impaired 89.8 

Financial Assets that are past due: 

0-3 months past due 8.0 

3-6 months past due 0.1 

6-12 months past due 0.2 

More than 12 months past due 1.0 

Provisions for impairment 0.9 

Total (£m) 201 

As at 31 December 2006 (Amounts held in unit-linked funds have been excluded from the table) 

Debtors and 
prepayments 
and accrued 

income 
(excluding 
DAC and 

DFF) 

Neither past due nor impaired 94.1 

Financial Assets that are past due: 

0-3 months past due 4.7 

3-6 months past due 0.7 

6-12 months past due 0.2 

More than 12 months past due 0.1 

Provisions for impairment 0.2 

Total (£m) , 242 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity, although solvent, either does not have sufficient financial 
resources available to it in order to meet its obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only at 
excessive cost. 
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The Company faces two key types of liquidity risk: shareholder liquidity risk (liquidity within funds 
managed for the benefit of shareholders, including shareholders' interests in long-term funds) and 
policyholder liquidity risk (liquidity within funds managed for the benefit of policyholders). 

Longer-term shareholder liquidity risk is taken on when it is deemed financially beneficial for the 
Company to do so, or where the taking of this liquidity risk is in support of strategic objectives. 
Short-term shareholder liquidity risk is avoided due to the need to satisfy dividend expectations whilst 
having a limited timeframe to raise capital. Policyholder liquidity risk is not accepted, over either a 
short or longer-term timeframe, in all but the most extreme scenarios. 

The Company is exposed to shareholder liquidity risk in a number of key areas. For example: 

• the ability to support the liquidity requirements arising from new business, 

• the capacity to maintain dividend payments/loan repayments and interest etc, 

• the ability to cope with the liquidity implications of strategic initiatives, such as merger and 
acquisition activity, 

• the capacity to provide financial support across the Group, 

• the ability to fund its day-to-day cash flow requirements. 

The overall objective of shareholder liquidity risk management is to ensure that there is sufficient 
liquidity over short (up to one year) and medium time horizons to meet the needs of the business. This 
includes liquidity to cover, amongst other things, new business costs, servicing debt, paying dividends 
to the parent company as well as working capital to fund day-to-day cash flow requirements. 

For policyholder funds, liquidity risk arises from a number of potential areas, including: 

• a short-term mis-match between assets and liabilities, 

• having to realise assets to meet liabilities during stressed market conditions, 

• investments in illiquid assets such as property and private placement debt, 

• higher than expected level of lapses/surrenders caused by economic shock, adverse reputational 
issues or other events, 

• higher than expected payments of claims on insurance contracts. 

Exposure to policyholder liquidity risk can be split between non-linked and linked funds. As a general 
rule, the Company is more likely to be significantly impacted by policyholder liquidity risk on non-
linked funds, as opposed to linked funds where policyholder benefits are expressed directly as units 
held in an underlying fund. 

The overall objective of policyholder liquidity risk management is to ensure that sufficient liquid funds 
are available to meet cash flow requirements under all but the most extreme scenarios. 

Liquidity risk is managed in the following way: 

• 

• 

Forecasts are prepared regularly to predict required liquidity levels over both the short and 
medium term. 

Committed third party funding facilities are held to enable cash to be raised in a relatively short 
time-span. 
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• Credit risk of cash deposits is managed by applying counterparty limits and imposing 
restrictions over the credit ratings of third parties with whom cash is deposited. 

• Assets of a suitable maturity and marketability are held to meet policyholder liabilities as they 
fall due. 

• Limits are set on the level of investment in securities that are not readily realisable. These are 
typically restricted to 5% of non-linked assets. 

The following table indicates the undiscounted expected contractual cashflows in respect of financial 
and insurance liabilities. Where contracts have a surrender value (ie the policy is theoretically payable 
on demand) the current surrender value is shown in the within one year or payable on demand column. 

Year ended 31 December 2007 

Contractual undiscounted cash 
flows: 

Technical Provisions 

Investment contract liabilities 

Carrying 
value 

9,953 

13,586 

Within 1 year 
or payable on 

demand 

£m 

7,635 

14,055 

1-5 years 

643 

_ 

More than 5 
years 

2,816 

_ 

Creditors arising out of direct 
insurance operations 12 12 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance 

operations 3 3 

Other creditors 43 43 

Accruals and deferred income 12 4 

All investment and insurance contract unit linked liabilities are payable on demand and have therefore 
been included 'within 1 year or payable on demand'. 

Amounts expected to be settled from the fund for future appropriation are excluded from the analysis 
above as there is no contractual obligation to settle the liability. Of the carrying amount on the balance 
sheet in respect of the FFA, £302m (2006: £246m) is expected to be settled more than 12 months after 
the balance sheet date. 

'Amounts due to Group undertakings' have not been included in the analysis as they do not have any 
fixed repayment terms. 

Year ended 31 December 2006 

Contractual undiscounted cash 
flows: 

Technical Provisions 

Investment contract liabilities 

Creditors arising out of direct 

Carrying 
value 

10,610 

14,059 

11 

Within 1 year 
or payable on 

demand 

£m 

8,296 

14,273 

11 

1-5 years 

742 

More than 
5 years 

3,405 
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Contractual undiscounted cash 
flows: 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance 

Other creditors 

Accruals and deferred income 

Carrying 
value 

3 

44 

3 

Within 1 year 
or payable on 

demand 

£m 

3 

44 

3 

1-5 years 

• — 

More than 
5 years 

— 

26 PROVISIONS FOR OTHER RISKS AND CHARGES 

£m 

Vacant properties 

At 1 January 2007 4 

Utilised in year (1) 

At 31 December 2007 3 

Review of mortgage endowment complaints 

Atl January 2007 20 

Charge in year (2) 

Utilised in year (11) 

At 31 December 2007 7 

Review of other sales 

At 1 January 2007 3 

Charge in year 2 

Utilised in year (4) 

At 31 December 2007 1 

Financial reinsurance 

Atl January2007 136 

Charge in year (35) 

At 31 December 2007 101 

Deferred tax 

At 1 January 2007 170 

Charge in year (1) 

Effect of discounting 4 

At 31 December 2007 173 

Total at 1 January 2007 333 

Total at 31 December 2007 285 
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Vacant properties 

The Company holds leases for a number of vacant and sub-let properties previously occupied by the Group. 
Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments and for other outgoings where significant, after 
taking into account the existing and expected sub-tenant arrangements. The remaining terms of the leases are 
up to 12 years. Assumptions as to whether each leasehold property may be sub-let or assigned in the future 
have been made. The discount rate applied to expected future cash flows is 5% (2006: 5%). 

Mortgage endowment complaints 

Provision has been established for the estimated likely cost of redress, including administrative costs, arising 
from the review of the suitability of mortgage endowment policies. In addition to the accounting provision of 
£7m (2006: £20m), an actuarial reserve of £9m (2006: £17m) was held in the long-term business provision at 
31 December 2007 in respect of estimated further endowment complaints. 

The majority of the mortgage endowment redress provisions are expected to be settled in the next two years. 

Review of other sales 

Provisions have been established for the estimated likely redress, including administration costs, arising from 
the review of other sales. In addition to the accounting provision of £lm (2006: £3m), an actuarial reserve of 
£6m (2006: £23m) was held in the long-term business provision in respect of future estimated complaints. 

Financial reinsurance 

On 16 December 2004, the Company securitised the cash flows expected to emerge from a book of its life 
insurance policies by entering into a reinsurance contract with Friends Provident Reinsurance Services 
Limited ("FPRe"). The reinsurance agreement provides regulatory capital to the Company and enables funds 
to be released to finance new business growth. As a consequence the long-term business provision decreased 
by £375m. As future surpluses emerge on the book of life insurance policies the amounts due to FPRe under 
the reinsurance contract will be repaid. The surplus offset against the provision in 2007 is £35m (2006: 
£152m). 

The charge is reflected in 'other technical charges, net of reinsurance'. 

The Company has not provided any guarantee or commitment in respect of the reinsurance contract. 

27 OTHER CREDITORS INCLUDING TAXATION AND SOCIAL SECURITY 

2007 2006 

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year 

Outstanding investment purchases 3 — 

Amounts due to Group undertakings 387 420 

Other creditors 42 44 

432 464 

28 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS 

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases for which no provision has been made in the 
financial statements, were as follows: 
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2007 
Land and 
buildings 

2006 
Land and 
buildings 

£m 

Operating leases which expire in over five years — 1.4 

29 GUARANTEES 

(a) 6.875% Step-up Tier one Insurance Capital Securities ("STICS") issued by Friends Provident pic 

On 21 November 2003, Friends Provident pic issued £300m of STICS, which will bear interest from 
21 November 2003 to 20 November 2019 at a rate of 6.875%. The STICS have no maturity date but 
will be redeemable at the option of the issuer Friends Provident pic on 21 November 2019 and 
thereafter on the coupon payment date falling on or nearest successive fifth anniversaries of this date. 
The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holder at any time. The 
STICS are irrevocably guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Company. 

The guarantee is intended to provide holders with rights against the Company in respect of the 
guaranteed payments which are as nearly as possible equivalent to those which they would have had if 
the STICS had been directly issued preference shares of the Company. 

This guarantee does not meet the definition of a financial guarantee under FRS 26 as the Company is 
able to defer its obligation to make payments under the guarantee to holders of STICS for an unlimited 
period, and the holders have no right to enforce the obligation on the Company. 

(b) 6.292% Step-up Tier one Insurance Capital Securities ("STICS") issued by Friends Provident pic 

On 27 June 2005, Friends Provident pic issued £500m of STICS, which will bear interest from 30 June 
2005 to 30 June 2015 at a rate of 6.292%. The STICS have no maturity date but will be redeemable at 
the option of the issuer Friends Provident pic on 1 July 2015 and thereafter on every fifth anniversary 
of this date. The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holder at 
any time. The STICS are irrevocably guaranteed on a limited and subordinated basis by the Company. 

This guarantee does not meet the definition of a financial guarantee under FRS 26 as the Company is 
able to defer its obligation to make payments under the guarantee to holders, of STICS for an unlimited 
period, and the holders have no right to enforce the obligation on the Company. 

30 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 

The directors are employed by and receive their remuneration from FPMS, a fellow Group undertaking. 
Included within the management recharges from FPMS for 2007, is an allowance for directors' emoluments in 
respect of their services to the Company, details of which are given below. This is a proportion of the costs of 
the directors' salaries as incurred by the company: 

2007 2006 

£W0 

All directors 

Management salaries and benefits in kind 494 452 
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2007 2006 

£W0 

Amounts receivable under annual bonus schemes 95 185 

589 637 

As at 31 December 2007 retirement benefits were accruing to eleven directors (2006: ten) under a defined 
benefit scheme and one director (2006: one) received retirement benefits under an unfunded unapproved 
pension arrangement. 

Highest paid director 

The total of salaries, benefits in kind, and result-related payments payable to directors includes £124,000 
(2006: £116,000) in respect of the highest paid director, of which £nil (2006: £nil) relates to long-term 
incentive schemes. This is a proportion of the costs incurred by the company in respect of the highest paid 
director and not their full salary. Pension contributions to money purchase schemes include £nil (2006: £nil) 
for the highest paid director. The highest paid director is a member of a defined benefit pension scheme, under 
which the total accrued pension to which such director would be entitled to from the normal retirement date if 
the director were to retire at the year end was £85,000 (2006: £76,000). 

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of Friends Provident pic. The results of both the 
Company and its subsidiaries are consolidated in the results of Friends Provident pic, the Company's ultimate 
parent and controlling company, whose financial statements are publicly available. Accordingly, the Company 
is exempt from the requirements of FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures, concerning the disclosure of 
transactions with other companies, which qualify as related parties within the Group. 

Key management, which includes their close family and undertakings controlled by them, had various 
transactions with the Company during the year. Key management consists of all directors and executive 
management of the Company. 

Payments during the year by key management in respect of policies and investments issued or managed by 
the Company were as follows: 

2007 2006 

Periodic payments 

Single payments 

Payments by the Company 

All these transactions were completed on terms, which were identical to those available to staff. 

32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Company has made provision for the estimated cost of settling complaints in respect of past sales (see 
note 26). Although the provisions are regularly reviewed, the final outcome could be different from the 
provisions established as these costs cannot be calculated with certainty and are influenced by external factors 

£W0 

63 

10 

24 

39 

210 

935 
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beyond the control of management. Such uncertainties include future regulatory actions, media attention and 
investment performance. The majority of the uncertainty relates to endowment mortgages although a number 
of other products are being reviewed as an ongoing process. It is expected that the majority of endowment 
cases requiring compensation will be settled in the next two years. 

33 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING 

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking is Friends Provident pic which is incorporated in the United 
Kingdom. Copies of the Group Annual Report and Accounts of Friends Provident pic can be obtained by 
writing to its Secretary at Pixham End, Dorking, Surrey, RH4 1QA and can be viewed via its website at 
www.friendsprovident.com. 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE REPORT OF 

THE DIRECTORS AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The directors are responsible for preparing the report of the directors and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors 
are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently, 

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the Company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply 
with the Companies Act 1985. They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 
to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. Under 
applicable law the directors are also responsible for preparing a report of the directors that complies with that 
law. 

The directors confirm that they have complied with these requirements. 

Pixham End ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
Dorking 
Surrey 
RH41QA 

25 March 2009 R.G. ELLIS 
SECRETARY 

Registered Number 4096141 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF FRIENDS PROVIDENT 
LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

We have audited the financial statements of Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited (the "Company") 
for the year ended 31 December 2008, which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet and the 
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. 

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the 
Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 

The directors' responsibilities for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the statement of 

directors' responsibilities on page 5.* 

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and are properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the report of the director is consistent with the financial statements. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we 
have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by 
law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We read the report of the directors and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements within it. 

Basis of audit opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by 
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates 
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In 
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial 
statements. 

References to page numbers in the financial statements and audit reports contained in this prospectus are to the page numbers of the annual 
report in which such financial statements and audit reports were contained. This footnote does not constitute part of any audit report or 
financial statements. 
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Opinion 
In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its loss for 
the year then ended; 

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and 

• the information given in the report of the directors is consistent with the financial statements. 

KPMG Audit Pic 
Chartered Accountants 
London 
Registered Auditor 

25 March 2009 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 

LONG-TERM BUSINESS TECHNICAL ACCOUNT 

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 

Gross premiums written 

Outward reinsurance premiums 

Investment income 

Other technical income, net of reinsurance 

Total technical income 

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance 

Claims paid 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Change in the provision for claims 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Change in other technical provisions, net of 
reinsurance 

Long-term business provision, net of reinsurance 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Technical provision for linked liabilities, net of 
reinsurance 

-gross amount 

-reinsurers' share 

Investment contract liabilities, net of reinsurance 

-gross amount 

- reinsurers' share 

Notes 

21,22 

21 

21,22 

21 

21,22 

21 

2008 

£m 

(735) 

(12) 

(747) 

(326) 

63 

(263) 

(3,304) 

2,068 

2007 

3 

4 

5 

6 

410 

(58) 

352 

1,129 

52 

1,533 

448 

(68) 

380 

1,309 

84 

1,773 

1,583 

(179) 

1,404 

(7) 

(3) 

1,394 

1,485 

(188) 

1,297 

(6) 

— 

1,291 

(616) 

(608) 

(13) 

30 

17 

83 

82 
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Notes 2008 2007 

Net operating expenses 

Investment expenses and charges 

Unrealised losses on investments 

Other technical charges, net of reinsurance 

Tax attributable to the long-term business 

Transfer (from)/to the fund for future 
appropriations 

Total technical charges 

Balance on the long-term business technical account. 

£m 

8 

5 

5 

7 

9 

(1,236) 

(2,246) 

130 

79 

2,517 

20 

(190) 

165 

(426; 

186 

61 

530 

19 

3 

(7) 

2,549 

1,697 

(164) 

45 

844 

1,709 

64 

Note: 

All amounts above are in respect of continuing operations. 

The notes on pages 11 to 55 form an integral part of these financial statements.' 

References to page numbers in the financial statements and audit reports contained in this prospectus are to the page numbers of the annual 
report in which such financial statements and audit reports were contained. This footnote does not constitute part of any audit report or 
financial statements. 
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NON-TECHNICAL ACCOUNT 

Notes 2008 2007 

Balance on the long-term business technical account 

Tax (charge)/credit attributable to balance on long-term 

business technical account 

(Loss)/profit before tax from long-term business 

Investment income 

Investment expenses and charges 

Unrealised losses on investments 

Loss on ordinary activities before tax 

Tax on loss on ordinary activities 

Loss for the financial year 

Attributable to: 

Ordinary shareholders 

Other equity holders 

£m 

(164) 

(65) 

64 

27 

5 

5 

5 

9 

20 

19 

(229) 

57 

(14) 

(120) 

(306) 

76 

(230) 

(262) 

32 

(230) 

91 

61 

(17) 

(236) 

(101) 

(15) 

(116) 

(148) 

32 

(116) 

Notes: 

There are no recognised gains or losses for 2008 and 2007 other than the loss for the financial year. Therefore no 

statement of total recognised gains and losses is presented. 

All of the amounts above are in respect of continuing operations. 

There is no difference between the results disclosed above and the results on a modified historical cost basis. 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2008 

ASSETS 

Investments 

Land and buildings 

Investments in Group undertakings and participating 
interests 

Other financial investments 

Present value of acquired in-force business 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities 

Reinsurers' share of technical provisions 

Long-term business provision 

Claims outstanding.... 

Technical provisions for linked liabilities 

Investment contract liabilities 

Debtors 

Debtors arising out of direct insurance operations 

-Policyholders 

-Intermediaries 

Deferred taxation 

Other debtors 

Other assets 

Cash at bank and in hand 

Prepayments and accrued income 

Accrued interest and rent 

Deferred acquisition costs 

Other prepayments and accrued income 

TOTAL ASSETS 

Notes 

11 

16 

2008 

£m 

275 

25 

2007 

358 

12 

11 

13 

11 

21 

21 

21 

2,804 

12,891 

15,970 

32 

3,188 

546 

4 

87 

3,944 

4,581 

2,745 

14,566 

17,669 

34 

4,370 

534 

7 

150 

5,549 

6,240 

9 

15 

7 

3 

17 

21 

48 

10 

4 

— 

50 

64 

12 

140 

50 

4 

194 

24,038 

133 

62 

4 

199 

28,588 
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Notes 2008 2007 

Approved by the Board on 25 March 2009 and signed on its behalf by 

TREVOR MATTHEWS 
DIRECTOR 

£m 

LIABILITIES 

Capital and reserves 

Called up share capital 

Share premium account 

Profit and loss account 

Other equity 

Fund for future appropriations 

Technical provisions 

Long-term business provision 

Claims outstanding 

Technical provisions for linked liabilities 

Investment contract liabilities 

Provisions for other risks and charges 

Creditors 

Preference shares 

Creditors arising out of direct insurance operations 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 

Other creditors including taxation and social security. 

Accruals and deferred income 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

17,20 

20 

20 

19,20 

654 

721 

301 

511 

2,187 

654 

721 

613 

511 

2,499 

21,22 

334 

9,198 

48 

9,246 

1,361 

11 

341 

9,933 

55 

9,988 

21,22 

21,22 

25 

18 

26 

804 

9,983 

112 

300 

21 

3 

1,037 

1,130 

13,586 

285 

300 

12 

3 

432 

747 

12 

24,038 28,588 
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FRIENDS PROVIDENT LIFE AND PENSIONS LIMITED 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with section 255 of, and Schedule 9A to, 
the Companies Act 1985 with the exception set out in note l(n) and comply with the Association of 
British Insurers ("ABI") Statement of Recommended Practice on Accounting for Insurance Business 
("SORP") December 2005 (as amended in December 2006). 

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. In considering whether the Company 
accounts should be prepared under the going concern basis, the directors have considered the 
information contained in these financial statements, the latest business plan profit forecasts for the 
Company, the latest working capital forecasts for the Company and estimated forecast solvency. These 
forecasts have been subject to sensitivity tests given the current uncertain economic outlook and the 
directors are confident that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing these financial statements. 

The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards 
and under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, 
derivatives and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss as set out in notes 
l(n)andl(u). 

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard ("FRS") 1 Cash Flow Statements (Revised 1996), the 
Company is exempt from preparing a cash flow statement on the grounds that it is a wholly owned 
undertaking of a parent which provides a cash flow statement in its consolidated financial statements 
which are publicly available. 

The Company is exempt under section 228 of the Companies Act 1985 from the obligation to prepare 
group accounts as the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Friends Provident pic in whose 
consolidated accounts the Company is included. Accordingly, the accounts present information about 
the Company as an individual entity and not about its group. 

All accounting policies have been reviewed for appropriateness in accordance with FRS 18 
Accounting Policies. The principal accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 
throughout the year. 

(b) Product classification 

(i) Insurance contracts 

Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the 
"policyholder"), by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future 
event (the "insured event") adversely affects the policyholder are classified as insurance 
contracts. Insurance risk is risk other than financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible 
future change in one or more of: a specified interest rate, security price, commodity price, 
foreign exchange rate, index of price or rates, a credit rating or credit index or other variable. 
Insurance contracts may transfer some financial risk. 
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Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for 
the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during the period. 
As a general guideline, the Company defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of 
having to pay benefits, on the occurrence of an insured event, that are more than 5% greater 
than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. 

(ii) Investment contracts 

Policyholder contracts not considered insurance contracts are classified as investment contracts. 
Contracts currently classified as investment contracts are either unit-linked or contracts with 
Discretionary Participation Features ("DPF") (mainly unitised with-profits contracts). 

(c) Foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are expressed in sterling at 
rates ruling on that date. Income and expenditure denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
rates ruling at the date on which the transaction occurs. All resulting exchange gains and losses are 
included within that part of profit and loss in which the underlying transaction is reported. 

(d) Premiums 

Premium income in respect of single premium business and pensions business not subject to 
contractual regular premiums is accounted for when the premiums are received. For all other classes of 
business, premium income is accounted for in the year in which it falls due. Further details relating to 
the classification of new business premiums are included in note 3(b). 

(e) Reinsurance 

Amounts due to and from reinsurers are accounted for in a manner consistent with the insurance 
policies and in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract. Premiums ceded and claims 
reimbursed are presented on a gross basis. 

(f) Fee and commission income 

Insurance and investment contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services, 
investment management services and for surrenders. Investment management services comprise 
primarily fees and charges from unit-linked investments. 

These fees and charges are recognised as revenue in the period in which the services are rendered. 

Front-end fees are charged at the inception of the contract. The consideration received is deferred as a 
liability and recognised over the expected term of the contract on a straight-line basis. 

Regular fees charged to the policyholder periodically (monthly, quarterly or annually) are charged on a 
straight-line basis over the period in which the service is rendered. 

Fee and commission income are included in the long-term business technical account as part of 'other 
technical income'. 

(g) Investment income 

Investment income includes dividends, interest, rents, gains and losses on the realisation of 
investments. Such income includes any withholding tax but excludes other taxes such as attributable 
tax credits. 
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Dividend income from listed and unlisted securities is recognised as income when the right to receive 
payment is established. For listed securities this is the date the security is listed as ex-dividend. For 
unlisted securities this is the due date of payment. 

Interest income is recognised as income as it accrues, taking into account the relevant coupon rate, an 
applicable floating rate, or for loan assets at amortised costs, the effective yield of the asset. 

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying value of the investment determined in accordance with the accounting 
policies applicable to the investment. 

Investment income relating to investments, which are directly connected with the carrying on of long-
term business, is recorded in the long-term business technical account. Other than long-term business, 
investment income is recorded in the non-technical account. 

(h) Unrealised gains and losses on investments 

Unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the valuation of 
investments designated as fair value through the profit and loss, derivatives and land and buildings, at 
the balance sheet date and their original cost, or if they have been previously fair valued, the valuation 
at the last balance sheet date. The movement in unrealised gains and losses recognised in the period 
also includes the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in 
respect of investment disposals in the current period. 

Unrealised gains and losses relating to investments, which are directly connected with the carrying on 
of long-term business, are recorded in the long-term business technical account. Other than long-term 
business unrealised gains and losses are recorded in the non-technical account. 

(i) Claims and surrenders 

Insurance claims reflect the cost of all claims incurred during the year, including claims handling costs. 
Death claims and surrenders are recorded on the basis of notifications received. Maturities and annuity 
payments are recorded when due. Claims and benefits recorded are accrued to the policyholder and 
included within insurance and investment contract liabilities. 

Claims handling costs include internal and external costs incurred in connection with the negotiation 
and settlement of claims. Internal costs include all direct expenses of the claims department and any 
general administrative costs directly attributable to the claims function. 

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the related claim. 

(j) Transaction costs 

Transaction costs in respect of brokers fees, stamp duty fees and other expenses on investments are 
charged to profit and loss in the period in which they are payable. 

(k) Bonuses 

Bonuses charged to the long-term business technical account in a given period comprise reversionary 
bonuses declared in respect of that period, which are provided within the calculation of the long-term 
business provision, and terminal bonuses paid, which are included within claims paid. 
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(1) Taxation 

Taxation in the non-technical account and long-term business technical account is based on profits and 
income for the period as determined in accordance with the relevant tax legislation, together with 
adjustments to provisions for prior periods. 

Provision is made for deferred taxation liabilities, using the liability method, on all material timing 
differences, including fair valuation adjustments recognised through profit and loss, as the investments 
are fair valued. Deferred taxation is calculated at the rates at which it is expected that the tax will arise 
and discounted to take into account the likely timing of payments and pattern of expected realisation of 
investments. Deferred tax liabilities are discounted using gilt yield rates appropriate to the estimated 
year in which the timing differences are expected to reverse. Deferred taxation is recognised through 
profit and loss for the period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are regarded as recoverable. 

The transfer of the balance on the long-term business technical account to or from the non-technical 
account is grossed up by attributable tax, using the full rate of corporation tax applicable for the 
period. 

(m) Intangible assets 

Licences acquired are capitalised in the balance sheet at cost and amortised through profit and loss 
over their expected useful economic life. Charges for amortisation and any changes for impairment are 
recorded in 'other technical charges'. 

(n) Investments 

Investments are shown in the balance sheet as follows: 

(i) Land and buildings 

Investment properties and properties occupied by the FP Group are measured at fair value. 
During the year, all properties have been independently valued by a qualified valuer, principally 
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung, CB Richard Ellis and George Trollope, who are all chartered 
surveyors. The valuation is prepared in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors ("RICS") Red book. 

The valuations used are based on valuation techniques using multiples of future rental incomes. 
The rental multiples are based on multiples observed in recent similar transactions in the 
market. In a sharply falling market in which most transactions involve distressed assets, the 
valuers say they are having difficulty in setting reliable prices. However the Company has a 
reasonably sized property fund which is active in the property market and can therefore obtain 
some confidence by relying on prices obtained in recent transactions. 

In accordance with Statement of Standard Accounting Practice ("SSAP") 19 Investment 
Properties, no depreciation is provided in respect of freehold investment properties or 
amortisation in respect of leasehold properties with over 20 years to expire. This is a departure 
from the requirements of the Companies Act 1985 which requires all properties to be 
depreciated. However, these properties are held solely for investment purposes and the directors 
consider that systematic annual depreciation would be inappropriate. Depreciation or 
amortisation is only one of the factors reflected in the annual valuations of properties, and the 
amounts which might otherwise have been shown cannot reasonably be separately identified or 
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quantified. The accounting policy adopted is therefore necessary for the financial statements to 
give a true and fair view. 

(ii) Other financial investments 

The Company classifies its financial investments into the following two categories: financial 
investments at fair value through profit and loss and loans receivable. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or originated. 

Purchases and sales of financial investments are recognised on the date the Company commits 
to purchase or sell the investment. 

• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 

All financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, with the exception of 
derivatives, are designated on initial recognition as they are managed individually or 
together on a fair value basis. Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value 
through profit and loss as they are held for trading purposes. The fair value on initial 
recognition being the consideration given, excluding any transaction costs directly 
attributable to their acquisition. Subsequent to initial recognition, all such financial 
investments are measured at fair value. Movements in fair value are taken to profit and 
loss in the period in which they arise. 

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract (including embedded 
derivatives in insurance contracts), recognised as a stand-alone derivative and measured 
at fair value through profit and loss, when the following conditions are met: 

the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely 
related to the economic characteristics and the risks of the host contract 

- a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would 
meet the definition of a derivative and 

- the hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognised through profit and loss. 

• Loans receivable 

Loans receivable represent 'Loans secured by mortgages'. 

Loans receivable are financial investments with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Loans receivable are measured on initial recognition at 
the fair value of the consideration given plus incremental costs that are incurred on the 
acquisition of the investment. Subsequent to the initial recognition, loans receivable are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The amortised cost is the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. The amortised cost is reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Any resulting impairment loss is recorded in profit and loss. 
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(o) Fair value of financial investments 

Financial assets are designated at fair value as they are managed on a fair value basis. Financial 
liabilities such as investment contracts are designated at fair value to eliminate mismatch with 
corresponding assets that are managed on a fair value basis. 

Fair values of financial assets that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for the assets 
held. When independent prices are not available, fair values are determined using valuation techniques 
which refer to market observable data. These include comparison with similar instruments when 
market observable prices are available. 

Corporate bond valuations are generally obtained from brokers and pricing services. Where the 
number of transactions has declined under the current market conditions, valuations have become more 
subjective. Bond prices provided by pricing services are based on the best estimate of market price 
determined by market makers based on a variety of factors and are considered to be observable prices. 
In determining fair value, market makers will take into account transactions they have observed in 
identical or similar assets as well as movements in market indices and any other factors that they 
regard as relevant. In some cases, consensus prices have been based on fewer, and potentially more 
historic, transactions. 

Fair values of private equity investments are based on the revaluation of the underlying investments 
using International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation ("IPEVC") guidelines. The valuations 
use earnings multiples reflecting similar multiples applying to quoted investments. 

Methods considered when determining fair values of unlisted shares and other variable securities 
include discounted cash flow techniques, net asset valuation. 

The value of derivatives is estimated by applying valuation techniques, using pricing models or 
discounted cash flow methods. Where pricing models are used, inputs - including future dividends, 
swap rates and volatilities - based on market data at the balance sheet date are used to estimate 
derivative values. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows and 
discount rates are based on current market swap rates. 

For units in unit trusts and shares in open-ended investment companies, fair value is calculated using 
published bid values. 

Participation in investment pools mainly relates to property investments. Property is independently 
valued in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyor's guidelines on the basis of open 
market values as at each year end. 

(p) Investments in Group undertakings and participating interests 

Shares in and loans to Group undertakings and participating interests are held at current value. 

(q) Present value of acquired in-force business ("PVIF") 

On acquisition of a portfolio of insurance contracts or investment contracts, either directly or through 
the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking, the net present value of the Company's interest in the 
expected pre-tax cash flows of the in-force business is capitalised in the balance sheet as an intangible 
asset. This is amortised over the anticipated lives of the related contracts. 

The carrying value of the asset is assessed annually using current assumptions in order to determine 
whether any impairment has arisen compared to the amortised acquired value based on assumptions 
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made at the time of the acquisition. Any amortisation or impairment charge is recorded in the long-
term business technical account within 'other technical charges'. 

(r) Other financial assets 

Other financial assets primarily include insurance and other debtors, including amounts due from 
Group undertakings and cash at bank. 

Insurance and other debtors are recognised when due and are carried at fair value. Cash at bank is also 
reported at fair value at the balance sheet date. 

(s) Deferred acquisition costs 

For both insurance contracts and investment contracts with Discretionary Participation Features 
("DPF"), acquisition costs comprise all direct and indirect costs arising from writing the contracts, 
which are incurred during a financial period. Costs are deferred where their recovery has not already 
been reflected in the valuation of policyholder liabilities, but only to the extent they are recoverable 
out of future margins. The rate of amortisation of deferred acquisition costs on such contracts is 
proportional to the future margins emerging in respect of the related policies, over the lifetime of those 
policies. 

For investment contracts without DPF, deferred acquisition costs comprise all incremental costs that 
are directly related to the writing of the contract, which are incurred during a financial period and are 
deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future margins. Such deferred acquisition costs 
are amortised uniformly over the lifetime of the policy. 

Annual impairment reviews are performed to identify whether there are any circumstances that might 
indicate impairment. If such circumstances exist, the carrying values are adjusted to the recoverable 
amounts and any resulting impairment losses are charged to profit and loss. 

(t) Funds for future appropriations ("FFA") 

The insurance and investment contract liabilities allow for discretionary benefit allocations to the 
extent that they are allowed within current bonus practices. The FFA represents working capital and the 
value of future transfers to shareholders from the With-Profits Fund in respect of discretionary bonuses 
for the conventional with-profits business. 

(u) Financial liabilities 

The Company classifies financial liabilities as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss or financial liabilities carried at amortised cost. 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, such as investment contracts, are designated 
on initial recognition when one of the following criteria is satisfied: 

• it eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch caused by financial assets and 
financial liabilities being measured on a different basis 

• the financial liability or group of financial liabilities are managed individually or together on a 
fair value basis. 

A financial liability is recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument. A financial liability is derecognised when and only 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires, 

FRS 27 does not allow the decrease of actuarial liabilities in respect of capital units. 
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(v) Insurance contracts 

Insurance contracts are measured using accounting policies consistent with those previously adopted 
under the Modified Statutory Solvency ("MSS") basis, as amended following the adoption of the 
principles contained in FRS 27 Life Assurance, for the Company's with-profits business. 

Insurance contract liabilities are disclosed separately from investment contract liabilities in the balance 
sheet. Technical provisions disclosed in the balance sheet for the long-term business, claims 
outstanding and linked liabilities represent amounts only for insurance contracts. Correspondingly, the 
change in other technical provisions in the long-term business technical account for long-term business 
and linked liabilities, including reinsurance amounts, is for insurance contracts only. 

The insurance contract liabilities are determined separately for each life fund following an annual 
investigation of the long-term funds at 31 December. The liabilities are calculated in accordance with 
the relevant Financial Services Authority ("FSA") rules for UK operations. The valuations are subject 
to adjustments to reflect relevant accounting requirements as set out below. 

For the conventional with-profits business, the liabilities to policyholders are determined in accordance 
with the Realistic Balance Sheet ("RBS") regulations and in accordance with the principles contained 
in FRS 27. These liabilities include both declared bonus and constructive obligations for future 
bonuses not yet declared (excluding the shareholders' share of future bonuses) and includes the cost of 
options and guarantees measured on a market-consistent basis. The RBS basis of valuation does not 
recognise deferred acquisition costs, but allows for future profits of non-profit and unit-linked business 
written in the With-Profits Fund to be recognised. 

The calculation of liabilities to policyholders for non-profit contracts is on a gross premium basis and 
in accordance with the MSS basis. These liabilities include explicit allowance for future expenses and 
allow for lapses, but exclude explicit allowance for future bonuses. 

The provision for insurance contract liabilities can never be definitive as to the overall level of 
liabilities or their timing and is subject to regular reassessment. 

The Company carries out an annual liability adequacy test on its insurance liabilities less related 
deferred acquisition costs and other related intangible assets to ensure that the carrying amount of its 
liabilities is sufficient in the light of estimated future cash flows. Where a shortfall is identified, an 
additional provision is made. 

(w) Investment contracts 

Currently investment contracts are either classified as unit-linked or contracts with a Discretionary 
Participation Feature ("DPF") (mainly unitised with-profits contracts). 

A unit-linked investment contract is valued by calculating the number of units allocated to the 
policyholders in each of the unit-linked funds multiplied by the unit price of those funds at the balance 
sheet date. The fund assets and liabilities used to determine the unit prices at the balance sheet date are 
valued on a basis that is consistent with their measurement in the balance sheet, adjusted to take 
account of the effect on the liabilities of discounting for the time value of future tax on unrealised 
gains on assets held in the fund. Provision is made for renewal commissions at the inception of an 
investment contract as intermediaries are not required to perform any service once the policy is 
incepted. 

Unitised with-profits investment contracts are measured using RBS principles as amended by FRS 27. 

F-71 



A contract with DPF is a contractual right held by a policyholder to receive, as a supplement to 
guaranteed minimum payments, additional payments: 

(i) that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual payments, and 

(ii) whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer and that are contractually 
based on: 

• the performance of a specified pool of contracts, or specified type of contract, or 

• realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the 
issuer, or 

• the profit or loss of the Company that issues the contracts. 

Investment contracts with DPF held within the With-Profits Fund are measured on a basis 
consistent with a measurement basis for insurance contracts held within that Fund. 

Balances representing eligible surplus that has not yet been allocated to shareholders, or 
policyholders with DPF contracts, are retained as a policyholders' liability. 

(x) Classification of financial instruments between debt and equity 

The classification of financial instruments between debt and equity is based on the principles in FRS 
25 rather than the instruments' legal form or their commercial intent. The Company applies these 
principles when classifying its financial instruments. In order to be classified as debt, the financial 
instrument, in situations where the contract will not be settled by the Company's own shares, must 
have a contractual obligation to: 

(i) deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity, or 

(ii) exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the Company. 

For some instruments the contractual obligation to pay cash or another financial asset is dependant on 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of some future event. If this event is out of the control of the 
Company, then this usually means that the instrument still meets its definition of debt. However, if the 
Company is only required to settle the obligation in the event of liquidation or if the likelihood of the 
event occurring (or not occurring) is so remote that it extremely unlikely that the obligation will be 
triggered then the Company treats the instruments as equity, as required by FRS 25. Payments on 
instruments classified as equity are not treated as expenses but as an appropriation of profit. 

(y) Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities primarily include creditors arising out of insurance and reinsurance 
operations and other obligations due to Group undertakings or third parties. These are reported at the 
estimated amounts required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date. 

CHANGES TO ESTIMATION TECHNIQUES 

(a) One off basis changes: Expense assumptions 

(i) The liabilities to policyholders have been strengthened on Income Protection business to reflect 
the claims costs incurred. The impact on profit before tax is a decrease of £25.4m. 
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(ii) The life and pensions maintenance expense assumptions have been modified to improve the 
allocation across product lines on expenses categorised in previous years as development costs. 
The impact on profit before tax is an decrease of £59m. 

(b) One off basis changes: Lapses 

The profile of lapse assumptions on life protection business has been changed to reflect the most 
recently observed experience. The impact on profit before tax is a decrease of £3.7m from an increase 
in liabilities to policyholders. 

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 

Gross written premiums on insurance contracts and investment contract 
deposits 

Less: investment contract deposits written 

Gross written premiums per the long-term technical account 

(a) Gross premiums written by type 

2008 

£m 

883 

(473) 

410 

2007 

1,377 

(929) 

448 

Life 

Protection 

Savings and investment 

Pensions 

Individual pensions 

Group pensions 

Annuities 

Total life and pensions 

Premiums from non-participating contracts 

Premiums from participating contracts 

Premiums from investment linked contracts 

Total life and pensions 

(b) New business written by type 

The new business written for the purpose of this note includes premiums on all types of contracts 
written by the Company (including gross premiums on investment contracts, which have not been 
included as part of the 'gross premiums written' in the long-term business technical account, under 
paragraph 162 of the ABI SORP 12/2005). 

2008 

£m 

130 

249 

17 

9 

5 

410 

145 

209 

56 

410 

2007 

138 

287 

7 

9 

7 

448 

156 

203 

89 

448 
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Regular premiums 

2008 2007 

Single premiums 

2008 2007 

£m 

APE 

2008 2007 

Life 

Protection 7 

Savings and investment — 

Pensions 

Individual pensions — 

Group pensions 13 

Annuities — 

1 

15 

— 

25 

97 

11 

6 

118 

112 

19 

9 

151 

10 

14 

1 

32 

12 

17 

1 

40 Total life and pensions 20 

The new Life & Pensions APE represents gross new regular premiums plus 10% of gross new single 
premiums. In classifying new business premiums the following basis of recognition is adopted: 

(i) single new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is no expectation of 
continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals 

(ii) regular new business premiums consist of those contracts under which there is an expectation of 
continuing premiums being paid at regular intervals, including repeated or recurrent single 
premiums where the level of premiums is defined or where a regular pattern in the receipt of 
premiums has been observed 

(iii) non-contractual increments under existing group pensions schemes are classified as new 
business premiums 

(iv) transfers between products where open market options are available are included as new 
business and 

(v) regular new business premiums are included on an annualised basis. 

(c) Life and pensions gross premiums 

Source 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

Destination 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

2008 

£m 

408 

2 

410 

386 

24 

410 

2007 

447 

1 

448 

428 

20 

448 
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(d) Life and pensions new business 

Source 

United Kingdom... 

Rest of the World. 

Destination 

United Kingdom... 

Rest of the World. 

(e) (Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax 

Regular 

2008 

20 

— 

20 

16 

4 

20 

premiums 

2007 

£m 

24 

1 

25 

9 

16 

25 

Single premiums 

2008 

117 

1 

118 

116 

2 

118 

2007 

144 

7 

151 

132 

19 

151 

Source 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

Destination 

United Kingdom.. 

Rest of the World. 

2008 

£m 

(309) 

3 

(306) 

(306) 

2007 

(100) 

(1) 

(101) 

(101) 

(306) (101) 

(f) Net assets 

The net assets supporting the Rest of the World geographical segment are the same as those supporting 
the United Kingdom segment and therefore have not been separated. 

OUTWARD REINSURANCE PREMIUMS 

Outward reinsurance premiums are net of reinsurance premium rebates, net of a provision for clawbacks, of 
£2m(2007:£lm). 

The aggregate of all reinsurance balances in the long-term business technical account for the year ended 
31 December 2008 was a debit balance of £ 1,737m (2007: £nil). 
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INVESTMENT RETURN 

Investment income 

Income from land and buildings 

Income from Group undertakings 

Income from other investments 

Gains on the realisation of investments . 

Investment expenses and charges 

Investment management expenses 

Interest to Group undertakings 

Other interest 

Preference dividend 

Unrealised losses on investments 

Total investment return 

Technical account Non-technical account 

2008 

1,129 

(79) 

(2,517) 

(1,467) 

2007 

£m 

1,309 

(32) 

(45) 

(2) 

(39) 

(20) 

(2) 

(61) 

(530) 

718 

2008 

57 

(14) 

(14) 

(120) 

(77) 

2007 

21 

39 

756 

313 

24 

17 

800 

468 

— 

3 

41 

13 

— 

1 

37 

23 

61 

(3) 

(14) 

(17) 

(236) 

(192) 

Included in 'total investment return' is an amount of £792m (2007: £822m) that represents interest and 

dividends on investments classified as 'fair value through profit and loss' and an amount of £2,208m (2007: 

£20m) that represents realised and unrealised losses on other financial investments classified as 'fair value 

through profit and loss'. 

Included in unrealised losses is a gain of £273m (2007: £24m loss) arising on investments classified as 'fair 

value through profit and loss' that is determined using valuation techniques. 

6 OTHER TECHNICAL INCOME, NET OF REINSURANCE 

Other technical income in the long-term business technical account comprises: 

Friends Provident Pensions Limited (FPP) management charge 

Provision for financial reinsurance in respect of Friends Provident 

Reinsurance Services Limited (FPRe)-(note 25) 

Fee and commission income from service activities 

2008 2007 

£m 

26 

26 

52 

31 

35 

18 

84 
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OTHER TECHNICAL CHARGES, NET OF REINSURANCE 

Other technical charges in the long-term business technical account comprise: 

2008 

£m 

2 

— 

4 

14 

20 

2007 

3 

1 

(1) 

— 

16 

19 

Amortisation of present value of acquired in-force business 

Amortisation of licence 

Recharge from Friends Provident Life Assurance Limited (FPLAL). 

Provision for financial reinsurance in respect of Friends Provident 
Reinsurance Services Limited (FPRe) - (note 25) 

Unit management charges payable to FPLAL 

The recharge from FPLAL shown above relates to amortisation of the licence. The licence that was originally 
disclosed as an intangible asset, relates to an exclusive distribution agreement secured with Countrywide 
Assured Group Pic in August 2002. The agreement gives a 15-year exclusive right to distribute mortgage 
related protection products through Countrywide's 1,430 estate agency branches and its 968 licensed 
consultants. The licence became fully amortised in 2007. 

8 NET OPERATING EXPENSES 

A fellow Group undertaking, Friends Provident Management Services Limited ("FPMS") provides the 
Company's services and administration and employs all staff. 

(a) Net operating expenses in the long-term business technical account, including those on 
investment contracts, comprise: 

2008 

£m 

11 

12 

107 

130 

2007 

11 

105 

70 

186 

Acquisition costs 

Change in deferred acquisition costs (see note 16). 

Administrative expenses 

Net operating expenses 

Total commissions for direct insurance accounted for by the Company during the year amounted to 
£8m (2007: £9m). 

(b) Auditor's remuneration 

2008 2007 

£'000 

Audit fees - excluding VAT 441 435 
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Fees paid to the Company's auditor, KPMG Audit Pic and its associates for services other than the 
statutory audit of the Company and other Group undertakings is disclosed in note 8(b) of the 
consolidated accounts of Friends Provident pic. 

TAXATION 

Profit and loss account 

United Kingdom and overseas taxation has been charged in profit and loss on assessable profits and income, 
on the bases and rates appropriate to the various classes of business. 

(a) Tax charged to the long-term business technical account and non-technical account 
comprises: 

Technical account Non-technical account 

Current taxation 

United Kingdom corporation tax of 
28.5% (2007: 30%) 

Adjustment in respect of prior 

Overseas taxation 

Tax (charge)/credit attributable to 
balance on the long-term business 
technical account 

Total current taxation 

Deferred taxation 

Origination and reversal of timing 
differences 

Total deferred taxation 

Total taxation 

2008 

10 

(13) 

(3) 

(3) 

(188) 

1 

(187) 

(190) 

2007 

£m 

12 

(23) 

(11) 

(1) 

(12) 

11 

4 

15 

3 

2008 

(8) 

(8) 

(65) 

(73) 

(3) 

(3) 

(76) 

2007 

_ 

— 

27 

27 

(12; 

(12' 

15 

(b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year 

The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (28.5%). 

The differences are explained below: 

2008 2007 

£m 

Loss on ordinary activities before tax (306) (101) 
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2008 2007 

£m 

Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 28.5% (2007: 30%) (87) (30) 

Effects of: 

Origination and reversal of timing differences 

Income not taxable 

Deductions not allowable 

Current tax (credit)/charge for the period 

(c) Balance sheet 

Deferred taxation 

At 1 January 

Credit in year 

Effect of discounting 

At 31 December 

Details of the deferred tax (asset)/liability are given below: 

3 

(10) 

21 

(73) 

12 

(20) 

65 

27 

2008 

£m 

173 

(191) 

1 

(17) 

2007 

170 

(1) 

4 

173 

2008 

£m 

(41) 

8 

2007 

146 

9 

Fair valuation of investments 

Tax on regulatory changes 

Deferred acquisition costs (including those on investment 
contracts) 17 20 

Discount on deferred acquisition costs (including those on 
investment contracts) (1) (2) 

Discounted deferred taxation (asset)/liability (17) 173 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets of £39m (2007: £nil) have not been recognised as it is probable that there will be 
insufficient suitable profits emerging in future periods against which to relieve them. 
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10 DIVIDEND 

2008 dividend of 8p per ordinary share (2007: 38p). 

2008 

£m 

50 

50 

2007 

250 

250 

11 I N V E S T M E N T S 

2008 

Fair value Cost 

£m 

2007 

Fair value Cost 

Land and buildings 

Owner occupied 

Freehold 

Long leasehold 

Other 

Freehold 

Total land and buildings 

Other financial investments 

Shares and other variable yield securities 
andOEIC's 

Debt and other fixed income securities 

Other Loans 

Deposits with credit institutions 

Derivatives 

Total other financial investments 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities 

34 

3 

238 

57 

4 

135 

44 

4 

310 

57 

4 

134 

275 

2,360 

8,618 

85 

1,279 

549 

12,891 

3,188 

196 

2,540 

8,803 

85 

1,279 

343 

13,050 

3,430 

358 

4,737 

9,054 

2 

623 

150 

14,566 

4,370 

195 

3,440 

9,008 

2 

623 

162 

13,235 

3,628 

In the carrying amounts above, £12,614m (2007: £10,495m) is expected to be recovered more than 12 months 

after the balance sheet date. 

Included in 'other financial investments' and 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' are investments, with cost 

of £398m (2007: £374m) and fair value of £880m (2007: £469m), whose year end values have been 

determined using valuation techniques and are not based on quoted prices. 

Included in 'other financial investments' and 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' are investments 

designated as 'fair value through profit and loss' with a fair value at year end of £15,994m (2007: £18,934m). 

Fair value of listed investments included in 'other financial investments' shown above comprise: 
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2008 2007 

Shares and other variable yield securities and OEIC's.. 

Debt securities and other fixed income securities 

£m 

2,041 

8,558 

10,599 

4,347 

9,005 

13,352 

Fair value of listed investments included in 'assets held to cover linked liabilities' amounted to £2,904m 
(2007: £4,155m). 

12 INVESTMENTS IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS AND PARTICIPATING INTERESTS 

Shares in 

Group 
undertakings 

Loans to 
Group 

undertakings 

Shares in 
participating 

interests 

Current value 

Atl January 2008 

Additions 

Disposals 

Revaluations 

At 31 December 2008.. 

Cost 

At 1 January 2008 

Additions 

Disposals 

At 31 December 2008. 

£m 

Total 

2,471 

95 

(1) 

(65) 

2,500 

2,088 

95 

(1) 

2,182 

260 

33 

(5) 

2 

290 

277 

33 

(5) 

305 

14 

— 

— 

— 

14 

12 

— 

— 

12 

2,745 

128 

(6) 

(63) 

2,804 

2,377 

128 

(6) 

2,499 

Principal Group undertakings and participating interests of the Company at 31 December 2008 are shown 
below. Except where stated, each of these are direct holdings and incorporated in England and Wales. 

Group undertakings held by the shareholder fund 

Friends Provident Pensions Limited 100% 

Friends Provident International Limited 100% 

Friends Provident International Luxembourg SA** 100% 

Friends Provident Life Assurance Limited 100% 

Friends Provident Reinsurance Services Limited 60% 

F&C Commercial Property Trust: 

Ordinary shares - Indirect holding* 12% 
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Group undertakings held in the long-term funds 

Friends Provident Investment Holdings pic 100% 

FP Group Limited 100% 

FP Finance Pic , 100% 

Friends Provident Marketing Limited 100% 

Friends Provident Reinsurance Services Limited 40% 

London Capital Holdings Limited 

Ordinary shares - Direct holding 65% 

- Indirect holding* 35% 

Deferred shares - Direct holding 84% 

- Indirect holding* 16% 

F&C Commercial Property Trust 

Ordinary shares - Direct holding 38% 

- Indirect holding* '. 1 % 

Group undertakings held in assets held to cover linked liabilities 

Friends Provident Commercial Property Company (Guernsey) Limited (Formally AUB 

Commercial Property Limited) 100% 

Participating interests held in the long-term funds 

Tenet Group Limited 21% 

* held in subsidiary ** incorporated in Luxembourg 

13 PRESENT VALUE OF ACQUIRED IN-FORCE BUSINESS 

£m 

Cost 

At 1 January 2008 72 

At 31 December 2008 72 

Amortisation 

At 1 January 2008 38 

Amortisation during year 2 

At 31 December 2008 40 

Net book value 

Atl January 2008 34 

At 31 December 2008 32 
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14 ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE LONG-TERM FUND 

Of the total assets shown on the balance sheet on page 9, £21,687m (2007: £26,058m) is attributable to the 
long-term business fund. 

15 OTHER DEBTORS 

2008 

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year 

Investment income receivable 

Investments sold for subsequent settlement. 

Taxation recoverable 

Amounts due from Group undertakings 

Other debtors 

2007 

11 

2 

— 

6 

2 

21 

19 

3 

11 

9 

8 

50 

All 'other debtors' amounts are expected to be recovered within 12 months after the balance sheet date, except 
for 'amounts due from Group undertakings' that have no fixed payment terms. 

16 DEFERRED ACQUISITION COSTS 

Insurance contracts 

At 1 January 

Incurred and deferred in the year., 

Amortisation charge for the year.. 

Impaired during the year 

Other movements 

At 31 December 

2008 2007 

83 

(77) 

Investment contracts 

2008 

£m 

56 

(9) 

(3) 

— 

44 

2007 

71 

(25) 

(3) 

12 

56 

Total 

2008 

62 

(9) 

(3) 

— 

50 

2007 

154 

(102) 

(3) 

12 

62 

Acquisition expenses that do not meet the criteria for deferral are expensed directly as incurred. 

17 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL 

2008 

£m 

Authorised 

1,700m (2007: 1,700m) ordinary shares of £1 each. 1,700 

2007 

1,700 
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2008 2007 

£m 

Allotted and fully paid 

654m (2007: 654m) ordinary shares of £1 each 654 654 

18 PREFERENCE SHARES 

2008 2007 

£m 

300m (2007: 300m) 4.8125% non-cumulative preference shares of £1 
each 300 300 

Under FRS 25 it is necessary to treat the £300m non-cumulative preference shares as debt, as a contractual 
obligation exists to pay the shareholders the preference dividend. The preference shares are perpetual shares 
and are only redeemable at the option of the Company on 21 November 2019 or on any dividend date 
thereafter. 

19 OTHER EQUITY - STEP-UP TIER ONE INSURANCE CAPITAL SECURITIES (STICS) 

£m 

At 1 January 2008 511 

Interest charged 32 

Interest paid (32) 

At 31 December 2008 511 

On 27 June 2005, the Company issued £495m of STICS, which will bear interest from 30 June 2005 to 30 
June 2015 at a rate of 6.302%. The STICS have no maturity date but are redeemable in the whole or part at 
the option of the Company on 1 July 2015, thereafter on every fifth anniversary of this date. 

The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holders at any time. For each 
coupon period after 1 July 2015, the STICS will bear interest that is reset every five years. The STICS are 
carried at £511 m, being £500m principal less capitalized issue costs of £5m, plus interest due of £ 16m not yet 
paid to STICS holders. Interest is payable annually in arrears on 30 June of each year. 

Under FRS 25 it is necessary to treat STICS as equity as there is no requirement to settle the obligation in 
cash or another financial asset. 
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20 RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS FUNDS AND 

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS ON RESERVES 

At 1 January 2008 

Loss for the year 

Dividend on equity shares. 

Interest paid on STICS 

At 31 December 2008 

Share 
Capital 

654 

— 

— 

— 

654 

Share 
premium 

721 

— 

— 

— 

721 

Prof-n-
and loss 
account 

£m 

613 

(262) 

(50) 

— 

301 

Other 
equity 

reserve 
(STICS) 

511 

32 

— 

(32) 

511 

Total 

2,499 

(230) 

(50) 

(32) 

2,187 

21 POLICYHOLDER LIABILITIES 

At 1 January 2008 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

Movement during the year 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

At 31 December 2008 

Gross 

Reinsurance 

Net 

Long-term 
business 

provision 

Technical 
provisions 
for linked 
liabilities 

£m 

Investment 
contract 

liabilities 

9,933 

(534) 

9,399 

(735) 

(12) 

(747) 

9,198 

(546) 

8,652 

1,130 

(150) 

980 

(326) 

63 

(263) 

804 

(87) 

717 

13,586 

(5,549) 

8,037 

(3,603) 

1,605 

(1,998) 

9,983 

(3,944) 

6,039 

Included within 'investment contract liabilities' is an amount of £2,472m (2007: £3,390m) relating to assets 
held to cover linked liabilities. 
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22 TECHNICAL PROVISIONS 

Liabilities for insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF 

The provision for insurance contracts and investment contracts with a discretionary participation feature 
("DPF") is calculated on the basis of recognised actuarial methods with due regard to actuarial principles and 
best practice. The methodology takes into account risks and uncertainties of the particular classes of long-
term business written and the results are certified by the professionals undertaking the valuations. 

Calculations are generally made on an individual policy basis, however where any global provisions are made 
these are calculated using statistical or mathematical methods. These results are expected to be approximately 
the same as if an individual liability was calculated for each long-term contract. 

For the Company's conventional with-profits business, including unitised with-profits business, the liabilities 
are determined on a realistic basis and in accordance with the principles contained in FRS 27. The main 
element of the realistic liabilities is the 'asset shares' of with-profits business, representing the premiums 
received to date together with the investment return earned less expenses and charges. These asset shares 
move with the value of the underlying assets. Other policyholder liabilities, including options and guarantees 
arising in the With-Profits Fund, are then valued on a market-consistent stochastic basis. The main types of 
guarantees and options within the With-Profits Fund, are guarantees in respect of bonus additions and 
guaranteed annuity options. The calculation of liabilities and management actions that would be taken in 
certain scenarios is in accordance with the Company's Principles and Practices of Financial Management 
("PPFM") and set out in more detail in note 24. 

Liabilities to policyholders in respect of non-profit insurance policies, primarily protection and annuity 
products, have been valued using a gross premium method. 

Single premium group income protection contracts have been valued at 90% of the last three years' premiums 
plus an allowance for outstanding claims in respect of earlier premiums. 

The principal assumptions underlying the calculation of the provisions are set out below: 

Valuation interest rates 31 Dec 2008 31 Dec 2007 

% 

Class of business (all non-profit or unit-linked) 

Life fund 

Individual income protection 

Single premium group income protection 

Pension business - other than annuities 

Pension annuities inpayment 

As explained above, the Company's conventional with-profits business is valued in accordance with the 
FSA's realistic capital regulations. 

For regular premium life protection products the interest rate used in 2008 is 2.2% or 4.7%, depending on 
which is most onerous (2007: 2.6% or 5.6%). 

The total cost of regular, interim and final bonuses attributable for the year ended 31 December 2008 was 
£269m (2007: £277m). 

2.7 

2.9 

3.4 

3.4 

4.52 

3.1 

3.3 

3.8 

3.9 

4.75 
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Valuation interest rate for annuities in payment 

Fixed interest assets, predominantly corporate bonds, are held to match the expected benefit outgo of the 
annuity portfolio. The excess yields on corporate bonds over than on gilts are called bond spreads and these 
reflect compensation for the higher risk of default (credit risk premium) and lower liquidity (liquidity 
premium) compared to gilts. One of the key judgements is the assessment of how much of the spread is 
attributable to the liquidity premium. 

The liquidity premium assumed on backing assets in the derivation of valuation interest rates for annuities in 
payment has been increased in the light of widening bond spreads. The previous allowance of 40 basis points 
has been increased to 50% of spreads on individual bonds with an upper limit of 250 basis points. The impact 
is an increase in profit before tax of £150.4m. 

Other valuation interest rates have been calculated in the same way as in previous years, by reference to 
changes in consistent economic indices. The impact of all interest rate changes on liabilities is included within 
the impact of economic basis changes in note 22. The impact of these liability changes on surplus, is generally 
to offset some or all of the corresponding impact on the value of fixed interest assets backing the liabilities. 

Mortality and morbidity assumptions 

The liabilities allow for mortality and morbidity risk by making assumptions about the proportion of 
policyholders who die or become sick. Allowance for future mortality has been made using the following 
percentages of the standard published tables: 

2008 2007 

Term assurances - smoker 

Term assurances - non-smoker 

Critical illness 

Other life assurances 

Unitised policies (life regular 
premium) 

Unitised policies (other) 

Pension policies 

Individual income protection 

Individual pension annuities in 
payment 

Group pension annuities in 
payment 

Notes: 

93% TMS00(5)/88% TFS00(5) 

93% TMN00(5) /86% TFN00(5) 

CIBT02 m 

120% AM/FC00 ult 

130% AM/FC00 ult 

110% AM/FC00 ult 

65% AMC00 ult 155% AFC00 ult 

60% AM/AF80 ult 

RM/FV00 m 

PCMA/PCFA000" 

The percentages of the table used differ by sex and smoker status 

* ' A O P - r p l a t n / t n a n . a n t Q n a c r»f the* rrtr\rin]',t\, t i K l a c o r o u f a H P u t n i - o i m n 

126% TM92(5) /116% TF92(5) 

58% TM92(5)/63% TF92(5) 

CIBT02 °> 

80%AM/AF80ult 

80% AM/AF80 ult 

80% AM/AF80 ult 

35% AM/AF80 ult 

60%AM/AF80ult 

RM/FV00 '"> 

PCMA/PCFA0000 

:m\iamar\tc: i n m n W o l i h t nra U o n a f l r\r\ trw 

following percentages of the average of CMI's Medium Cohort and Long Cohort: 

Males- 100%o subject to a minimum of 1.5% per annum 

Females - 75% subject to a minimum of 1.25% per annum 

Individual income protection sickness and recovery rates are based on percentages of the CMI 12 (male and 
female) published tables. Rates differentiate by smoker status, deferred period and occupational class. 
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Critical illness morbidity rates are based on percentages of the published CIBT02 table. The percentages used 
vary by sex and smoker status. In addition, future deterioration in morbidity is allowed for by applying 1.25% 
per annum and 1.50% per annum to the critical illness rates, for males and females respectively. 

Lapse rates for conventional and income protection business are based on recent experience with a prudent 
margin. 

Reviews for pension transfers and opt-outs have now been substantially completed. An amount of £4m (2007: 
£4m) remains within the long-term business provision in respect of residual associated costs and 
contingencies. No change to the expected future costs of the review have been assumed in 2008 or 2007. 

Included in the carrying amount of insurance contract liabilities, is £7,25 lm (2007: £9,113m) that is expected 
to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

Investment contracts 

The provision for linked contracts is equal to the value of units, underlying assets, share index or reference 
value. The fund liabilities at the balance sheet date are adjusted to take account of the effect of discounting for 
the time value of future tax on unrealised gains on assets held in the fund. There is no significant difference 
between carrying values and maturity values of investment contract liabilities. 

Included in the carrying amount of investment contract liabilities, is £6,286m (2007: £7,115m) that is 
expected to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

23 WITH-PROFITS BALANCE SHEET 

The realistic balance sheet for the Company's with-profits business has been determined in accordance with 
the RBS regulations prescribed by the FSA. This balance sheet is set out below and shows realistic assets of 
£10,560m (2007: £12,397m), realistic liabilities (including options and guarantees) of £10,269m (2007: 
£12,150m) resulting in an excess of realistic assets over realistic liabilities of £29lm (2007: £247m). 
Disclosure of the capital position of the Company is contained in the report and accounts of the Company's 
ultimate parent undertaking, Friends Provident pic. 

2008 2007 

Total net assets 

Less: non-profit liabilities including share of resilience capital and 
long-term insurance capital requirements 

Total regulatory assets 

Additional assets arising on realistic basis 

Total assets 

Policyholder liabilities 

-asset shares 

-financial guarantees (net of charges) 

- options (guaranteed annuities) 

Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 

£m 

12,753 

(2,509) 

10,244 

316 

10,560 

8,114 

623 

575 

957 

10,269 

14,739 

(2,56i; 

12,178 

219 

12,397 

10,323 

210 

628 

989 

12,150 



2008 2007 

£m 

Excess of assets over liabilities 291 247 

At 31 December 2008, the surplus of realistic assets over realistic liabilities initially amounted to £338m 
(2007: £274m) with a Risk Capital Margin ("RCM") of £29lm (2007: £247m), the surplus assets have 
subsequently been reduced by £47m (2007: £27m) via a reduction in future guarantee charges leaving the 
working capital at £291m (2007: £247m) fully covering the RCM. After adding back the shareholders' share 
of future bonuses totalling £43m (2007: £94m) and deducting adjustments to eliminate double counting of 
other assets of £2m (2007: £3m) the excess in accordance with FRS 27 amounted to £332m (2007: £338m). 

The main element of the realistic liabilities is the asset shares of with-profits business. This represents the 
premiums received to date together with the investment return earned less expenses and charges. This is 
mainly calculated on an individual policy basis using historic information and in line with the Company's 
Principles and Practices of Financial Management ("PPFM"). Assets shares are closely matched since they 
move with the value of the underlying assets. 

Policyholder liabilities (including options and guarantees) are then valued using a market-consistent 
stochastic model. Included in liabilities are provisions for specific items such as mortgage endowment 
reviews and other liabilities of the fund. Realistic valuations also allow for future profits of non-profit 
business written in the With-Profits Fund to be included. In accordance with FRS 27, the value of future 
profits of non-profit business has been deducted from policyholder liabilities in the balance sheet. 

Options and guarantees are features of life assurance and pensions contracts that confer potentially valuable 
benefits to policyholders. They are not unique to with-profits funds and can arise in non-participating funds. 
They can expose an insurance company to two types of risk: insurance (such as mortality/morbidity) and 
financial (such as market prices/interest rates). The value of an option or guarantee comprises two elements: 
the intrinsic value and the time value. The intrinsic value is the amount that would be payable if the option or 
guarantee was exercised immediately. The time value is the additional value that reflects the possibility of the 
intrinsic value increasing in future, before the expiry of the option or guarantee. 

Under FSA rules, the Company's options and guarantees are valued on a market-consistent stochastic basis 
and included in policyholder liabilities. There are two main types of guarantees and options in the Company's 
With-Profits Fund: maturity guarantees and guaranteed annuity options. Maturity guarantees are in respect of 
conventional with-profits business and unitised with-profits business and represent the sum assured and 
reversionary bonuses declared to date. The cost of these guarantees, net of charges, has been calculated at 
£623m (2007: £210m). For certain with-profits pension policies issued, there are options guaranteeing the 
rates at which annuities can be purchased. The cost of these guarantees has been calculated at £575m (2007: 
£628m). 

The cost of the with-profits guarantees is assessed using a market-consistent stochastic model (using The 
Smith Model ("TSM") Plus as the scenario generator) and is calculated using 6,300 simulations. The model 
has been calibrated using the gilt risk-free curve assuming interest rates of between 1.2% and 5.0% pa (2007: 
between 4.1% and 4.6% pa) and implied volatilities in the market. The capital return has been calibrated and 
compared to the actual asset portfolio. For equities, the capital return volatility varies by year with 33% pa 
(2007: 26% pa) assumed in year 7, increasing to 35% pa (2007: 26% pa) by year 14 and 38% pa (2007: 27% 
pa) by year 21. Volatility for property total returns varies by year with 18% assumed in year 7 (2007: 15% pa), 
increasing to 20% pa (2007: 17% pa) by year 14 and 22% (2007: 17%) by year 21. 
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The cost of guarantees also depends on management actions that would be taken under various scenarios. The 
regular bonus rate is set each year such that, by maturity, guaranteed benefits are targeted as a prescribed 
fraction of the total asset share, leaving the remaining portion of the asset share to be paid as final bonus. The 
management action is in line with the PPFM and is programmed into the model. 

The guarantee cost in respect of guaranteed annuity options is assessed using a market-consistent stochastic 
model and values both the current level of the guaranteed annuity rate benefit (allowing for future 
improvements in annuitant mortality) and the time value due to uncertainty in future interest rates. The 
guarantee cost in each scenario is the value of the excess annuity benefit provided by the options, relative to 
an annuity purchased in the open market. In estimating the future open market annuity rate, the model allows 
for stochastic variation in interest rates and for future mortality improvements. The stochastic interest rate 
assumption reflects that implied by current market interest rate derivative prices. Future annuitant mortality 
has been derived from the premium basis at which annuities can be purchased from Friends Provident 
Pensions Limited, which allows for future mortality improvements. 

The guaranteed annuity options cost also depends upon other factors such as policy discontinuance and tax-
free cash take up. The factors are based on recent experience adjusted to reflect industry benchmarks and to 
anticipate trends in policyholder behaviour. 

A summary of the key assumptions is as follows: 

Policy discontinuances: lapse, early retirement and paid-up rates vary by policy type and period and have 
been based on recent experience. Policy lapses for pensions are generally in the range of 1% to 4.5% pa 
(2007: 1% to 4% pa) with policy lapses for life business generally in the range of 3% to 10% pa (14% pa for 
mortgage endowment and 20% for with-profits bond policies) (2007: 3% to 10% pa (13% pa for mortgage 
endowment and 20% for with-profits bond policies)). Paid-up rates for pensions are generally in the range of 
4% to 17% pa (2007: 5% to 12% pa) with life policies generally in the region of 0.5% to 2% pa (2007: 0.5% 
to 2% pa). Early retirement rates vary by age band and policy type and have been reviewed and amended in 
2007 based on recent experience. 

Tax-free cash option: where a guaranteed annuity option is more valuable than the cash equivalent it is 
assumed that 18% to 27% of the benefit is taken as tax-free, depending on type of business (2007: 18% to 
27%). This is based on recent experience. 

24 RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES FOR MITIGATING RISKS 

The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk from its use of financial instruments and 
to these risks through the issuing of insurance contracts. This note presents information about the Company's 
exposure to each of the above risks and the Company's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements. 

The Board of Friends Provident pic, the Company's ultimate holding company, has overall responsibility for 
Group's risk management framework and for approving risk policy and risk appetite. 

During 2008 the Board of FP pic, established a new committee structure, which has changed the way risk 
management activities are governed. The Board Risk Committee ("BRC") has been established to oversee the 
risk management across the Group, including the Financial Risk Committee ("FRC") and the Operational 
Risk Committee ("ORC"). The BRC reviews and recommends to the Group Board for approval detailed 
policies for the management of specific classes of risk; and considers quarterly reporting from the operational 
businesses. 
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The FRC, which includes executive directors and other relevant senior managers, oversees the management of 
financial and insurance risks of the Company. The FRC will review and recommend strategies and policies for 
market, credit, liquidity and insurance risk management. All risk management policies are reviewed regularly 
by the relevant committee, on at least an annual basis, to ensure they remain relevant to the changing demands 
of the business and the regulatory environment. The Board of the Company has overall responsibility for the 
establishment and oversight of the Company's risk management framework, and determines the overall risk 
management policy of the Company. 

The FRC will review and recommend strategies and policies for market, credit, liquidity and insurance risk 
management. All risk management policies are reviewed regularly by the relevant committee on at least an 
annual basis, to ensure they remain relevant to the changing demands of the business and regulatory 
environment. 

The financial and insurance risk processes are aligned to the business planning process, with risk being 
identified and evaluated in relation to the achievement of business objectives. The management of financial 
and insurance risks is led by the Finance function with the Risk function providing oversight. Risks are 
recorded by the Risk function, which co-ordinates quarterly reporting to the FRC. Risks within the business 
change activities are identified and evaluated by senior management both in relation to delivery and in terms 
of the effect on the business as a whole. 

Management is responsible for putting in place the ongoing management and monitoring disciplines for risks 
and activities under its control. Through these mechanisms, risks are identified in a timely manner, their 
financial implications assessed, control procedures re-evaluated and, where appropriate, actions agreed and 
implemented. 

The FRC supervises the application of agreed risk appetite in respect of asset/liability matching for both 
shareholder and policyholder funds. It also reviews the investment of, and monitors market, liquidity and 
credit risk management in relation to, shareholder funds and makes recommendations to the Investment 
Committee in respect of policy on foreign exchange and interest rate hedging. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee ("ACC") of FP pic oversees how management monitors compliance 
with the Group's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. The ACC is supported in its oversight role by 
Internal Audit, which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the ACC. 

Capital management 

The Company's capital comprises equity shareholders' funds, preference shares and STICS. 

The Company is a regulated entity subject to a number of regulatory capital tests. Total available capital 
resources are calculated on a realistic basis for the With-Profits Fund ("WPF"). The Company has complied 
with all regulatory capital requirements throughout the financial year. 

Capital and solvency is measured using the regulations prescribed by the Financial Services Authority 
("FSA"). These regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of solvency capital (Capital Resources 
Requirement ("CRR")) and a series of prudent assumptions in respect of type of business written by the 
Company. 

A reconciliation of equity under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP") attributable to 
equity holders of the Company and the excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business is set out below: 
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2008 2007 

£m 

Equity shareholders' funds per the balance sheet (UK GAAP basis) 2,187 2,499 

Adjusted for: 

Reduction in WPICC due to realistic value of future transfers out of WPF.. 276 335 

Step-up tier one insurance capital securities 300 300 

Adjustments to subsidiary values (1,041) (1,050) 

Deferred acquisition costs (34) (46) 

Deferred Tax (45) — 

Deferred front end fees 8 9 

Acquired present value of in force business (16) (17) 

Policy liability differences (53) (8) 

Credit for reinsurance to FP Re 63 61 

WPF loss 131 — 

Less: 

Long-term insurance capital requirement of the Non Profit Fund (128) (150) 

Capital requirements of subsidiary companies (310) (266) 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term insurance 
business (per FSA Return, Form 2) 1,338 1,667 

(a) Quantitative risk exposure 

A summary of how each risk is mitigated is provided below with, where appropriate, quantitative 
information on the exposure to that risk. 

The table below shows the sensitivity to the regulatory capital surplus (sensitivities are symmetrical 
unless otherwise disclosed): 

Year ended 31 December 2008 Note £m 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term 

insurance business (per FSA Return, Form 2) 1,338 

10% reduction in market values of equity and property assets (i) (123) 

10% increase in market values of equity and property assets (i) 12 

1% reduction in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-
interest asset values (ii) 55 

1% increase in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-
interest asset values (ii) (333) 

100 basis points increase in corporate bond spreads (iii) (289) 
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0) 
0) 

(ii) 

(ii) 

1,667 

(5) 

5 

34 

(33) 

Year ended 31 December 2007 Note £m 

Excess of available capital resources to cover long-term 
insurance business (per FSA Return, Form 2) 

10% reduction in market values of equity and property assets 

10% increase in market values of equity and property assets 

1 % reduction in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-
interest asset values 

1 % increase in risk-free rates with corresponding change in fixed-
interest asset values 

(i) A fall in equity and property values affects the impact on the value of future charges of movements in 
equity and property values in linked funds. 

(ii) A rise in interest rates reduces both the value of fixed interest assets and the value of liabilities. The 
converse is true of a fall in interest rates. Therefore the net impact is significantly less than the impact on 
assets alone. 

(iii) The excess yields on corporate bonds over that on gilts are called bond spreads and these reflect 
compensation for the higher risk of default (credit risk premium) and lower liquidity (liquidity premium) 
compared to gilts. 

(b) Market risk 

Market risk is the, risk of loss arising from a change in the values of, or the income from, assets or in 
interest or exchange rates. A risk of loss also arises from changes in the volatility of asset prices, 
interest rates, or exchange rates. Market risk includes the following four elements: 

• Equity risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in equity prices or 
income 

• Foreign exchange risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in 
exchange rates 

• Interest rate risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in interest rates 

• Property risk - the risk of financial loss arising from a change of or volatility in real estate 
values or income. 

Market risk arises on guarantees and options offered on certain of the Company's products. The 
Company is exposed to guarantees on bonus additions that become more valuable as investment values 
fall. In addition, the Company is exposed to guaranteed cash and annuity options on certain pension 
policies that become more valuable as interest rates fall. 

The Company manages market risk attaching to assets backing specific policyholder liabilities and to 
assets held to deliver income and gains for the shareholder. Within the unit-linked funds and With-
Profits Fund, the Company manages market risk so as to provide a return in line with the expectations 
of policyholders. The principal objective for shareholder assets is to manage them so that they meet the 
capital requirements of the Company, and support its future strategic and operational objectives. 

The Board sets appetite for market risk for each of the different asset classes. Consideration is given to 
the objectives of the asset pools to which they relate and the nature of the liabilities backed by those 
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assets. For example, in relation to equity risk, appetite varies from taking on the risk when it is 
beneficial to do so for assets backing with-profits business in the With-Profits Fund to not actively 
pursuing the risk for assets backing non-linked, non-profit policies. The FRC, in consultation with 
management and the Risk function, recommends appropriate risk appetite statements to the Board and 
reviews risk appetite on a regular basis. 

For assets backing non-linked policyholder liabilities, market risk is managed by matching, where 
possible, the duration and profile of assets to the policyholder liabilities they are backing. This helps 
manage market risk to the extent that changes in the values of assets are matched by a corresponding 
movement in the values of liabilities. 

Shareholders' earnings are further exposed to market risk to the extent that the income from 
policyholder funds is based on the value of financial assets held within those unit-linked funds or the 
With-Profits Fund. 

The following summarises the key actions undertaken by the Company to manage all aspects of 
market risk: 

The members of the Investment Committee of FP pic oversee investment policy and strategy which the 
Company actions primarily through the use of investment fund mandates. Day-to-day implementation 
of investment policy and strategy is managed predominantly by F&C Asset Management pic ("F&C") 
in line with these approved mandates. During 2008 the Group has strengthened the controls used to 
monitor this implementation of policy through the creation of an Investments function and a Head of 
Investments role and a review of the mandates. 

Mandates are set for each relevant fund taking account of the relevant factors outlined above. Unit-
linked funds are managed in line with their underlying objectives as set out in policyholder contracts. 
The mandates seek to limit exposure to market risk by using some or all of the following mechanisms: 

• a maximum proportion of the fund that can be held in equities 

• restrictions on the maximum holding in any one company 

• defined asset allocations between UK and overseas equity exposure in specific regions 

• restrictions on the variation of the duration of the portfolio of bonds from the benchmark 
duration 

• restrictions on exposure to structured credit investments. 

Equity derivatives may be held to facilitate efficient portfolio management or to reduce investment risk 
(without disproportionately increasing other types of risk), and appropriate approval must be obtained 
for their use. Currency futures and other derivatives may be held to manage currency risk, but only if 
permitted by individual fund mandates. 

In addition to the mandates, the Company undertakes a programme of asset/liability management. For 
example, in order to manage the impact of interest changes on profit, corporate bonds and gilts are 
held to broadly match the duration and profile and cash flows of annuity and permanent health 
insurance policies. 

In order to manage the exposure arising from guarantees and options, the Company has purchased a 
number of derivatives, including interest rate swaps, equity put options, interest rate swaptions, and 
equity futures to manage exposures to movements in equity prices or interest rates. Hedge accounting 
has not been applied to these derivatives, as movements in the fair value of these instruments will be 
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offset by the movement in the valuation of the liability. The majority of these guarantees arise within 
the With-Profits Fund and so any net fair value movement will be reflected in the FFA rather than 
within shareholders' funds. 

The following provides additional information on the exposure to equity and property risk, foreign 
exchange risk and interest rate risk: 

(i) Equity and property risk 

Equity and property risk, as defined above, are accepted in accordance with agreed risk appetite 
in order to achieve the desired level of return from policyholder assets. 

Asset allocation within the With-Profits Fund is actively managed and during 2008 Market 
Value Reductions ("MVRs") were introduced on certain with-profits policies. As equity markets 
have fallen, our active hedging strategy has reduced the net equity exposure of the fund. As a 
result, at 31 December 2008 the proportion of equities and property backing asset shares was 
close to 16% (2007: 52%). These actions are in line with the Company's commitment to fair 
treatment of all its customers and the published Principles and Practices of Financial 
Management underlying the fund. 

For with-profits and unit-linked policies, the policyholders bear the majority of the investment 
risk and any change in asset values is matched by a broadly equivalent change in the liability. 
However charges, which are expressed as a percentage of fund values, are impacted by 
movements in equity and property prices and therefore falling values still have an adverse effect 
on shareholders. Over 2008, against a backdrop of falling equity markets, the With-Profits Fund 
has had its exposure to equities significantly reduced. Throughout 2008 there has been no 
exposure to equity risk within shareholders funds. 

The management of the Company's equity investments is largely undertaken by F&C. In its 
decision-making on equity investments, F&C will assess the extent of equity risk required or 
allowed by the fund as set out in the fund objectives and relative to defined performance 
benchmarks. The methodology followed by F&C to manage equity risk within each fund is an 
integral part of the asset management approach adopted. 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through its investment in foreign operations, 
fee income derived from financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its 
measurement currency (pounds sterling) and revenues receivable in foreign currencies. 
Exposure to foreign exchange risk through direct investment in overseas equities and debt 
securities is minimal due to restrictions through limits placed by Investment mandates. 
Consequently the Company is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of its measurement 
currency relative to other currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the 
value of the Company's financial assets and liabilities. This risk is accepted, in accordance with 
the agreed risk appetite, as being consequential upon the Company following its agreed 
investment strategy. 

For unit-linked contracts, currency risk is borne by the policyholder. As noted above, the 
shareholders are subject to currency risk only to the extent that income from policyholder funds 
is based on the value of the financial assets held in those funds. The liability for non-linked 
insurance contracts in currencies other than sterling is immaterial. 
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(iii) Interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to fair value interest rate risk where changes to interest rates result in 
changes to fair values rather than cash flows, for example fixed interest rate loans and assets. 
Conversely, floating rate loans expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. 

The Company holds both: 

• receiver interest rate swaps (where fixed payments are received in return for floating 
payments being paid) - increases to interest rates increase cash flows payable and reduce 
fair value 

• payer interest rate swaps (where floating payments are received in return for fixed 
payments being paid) - reductions to interest rates reduce cash flows receivable and 
reduce fair value. 

However, both types of swaps are in place in order to mirror the effect of interest rates on the 
liabilities and so the net effect of interest rate changes is minimal. 

Bond related performance benchmarks within fund mandates are set so that asset profiles match 
liability profiles as closely as possible. This mitigates against interest rate risk. 

Day to day investment decisions around the management of interest rate risk and its impact on 
the value of the Company's investments are largely undertaken on behalf of the Company by 
F&C, within the boundaries set by fund mandates. In its decision making on fixed income 
investments, F&C will assess the extent of interest rate risk allowed by the fund as set out in the 
fund objectives and relative to defined performance benchmarks. The methodology followed by 
F&C to manage interest rate risk within each specific fund is an integral part of the asset 
management approach adopted. 

The Company may also be exposed to interest rate risk on its strategic investments, or any debt 
issuance. As part of any proposal for strategic investment or debt capital raising, the interest 
rate risk to which the Company is exposed will be given careful consideration as one of the 
factors impacting on the final recommendation. Any proposed non F&C managed investments 
or debt raising with significant interest rate risk will be reviewed by the Risk function. Ultimate 
approval for any strategic investments or debt raising rests with FP pic Board. 

(c) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the default of a company, individual or country. Credit risk includes 
the following seven elements: 

• Investment credit risk - financial loss arising from a change in the value of an investment due 
to a rating downgrade, default, or widening of credit spreads. Changes in credit spreads are also 
affected by the liquidity of the stock, but since the liquidity is usually closely related to credit 
risk, the risk is managed as credit risk 

• Derivative counterparty risk - financial loss arising from a derivative counterparty's default, or 
the deterioration of the derivative counterparty's financial position 

• Reinsurance counterparty risk - financial loss arising from a reinsurer's default, or the 
deterioration of the reinsurer's financial position 

• Deposit risk - financial loss arising from a deposit institution's default, or the deterioration of 
the deposit institution's financial position 
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• Loan risk - financial loss arising from a debtor's inability to repay all, or part, of its loan 
obligations to the Company or the deterioration of the debtor's financial position 

• Country risk - financial loss arising from the most economic agents in a sovereign foreign 
country, including its government, being unable or unwilling to fulfil their international 
obligations due to a shortage of foreign exchange or another common reason such as currency 
inconvertibility 

• Settlement risk - financial loss arising from the failure or substantial delay of an expected 
settlement in a transfer system to take place, due to the party other than the Company 
defaulting/not delivering on its settlement obligations. 

The Company will take on investment credit risk and loan risk when it is deemed financially beneficial 
to do so in support of the Company's strategic objectives. The Company is averse to most other types 
of credit risk, in particular that related to the default of derivative counterparties, reinsurers and deposit 
takers. 

The Company is exposed to investment credit risk on its investment portfolio, primarily from 
investments in corporate bonds. Creditworthiness assessment for new and existing investments is 
largely undertaken on behalf of the Company by F&C. In their decision making, F&C will assess the 
extent of investment credit risk allowed by each fund as set out in the fund mandates and relative to 
defined performance benchmarks. 

The Company's corporate bond portfolio is highly rated, with no material exposure below investment 
grade BBB (see table on page 46). There is a high degree of resilience in the Company's financial 
strength to changes in corporate bond spreads in the Company's financial investments. 

Derivatives purchased over the counter expose the Company to substantial credit risk unless this risk is 
appropriately managed. The Asset Liability Management function is responsible for recommending 
derivative strategies to the Board, and putting into place the appropriate internal management 
processes. The Company will endeavour only to transact over-the-counter derivatives with highly rated 
counterparties. 

The Company is exposed to reinsurance counterparty risk of three different types: 

• as a result of debts arising from claims made by the Company but not yet paid by the reinsurer 

from reinsurance premium payments made to the reinsurer in advance • 

• as a result of reserves held by the reinsurer which would have to be met by the Company in the 
event of default. 

In addition, there is potential for the Company's credit risk exposure to increase significantly under 
adverse insurance risk events, eg if the Company received a large number of claims for which it 
needed to recover amounts from its reinsurers. In order to mitigate reinsurance counterparty risk, the 
Company will give due consideration to the credit quality of a reinsurer before incepting a reinsurance 
treaty. To facilitate this process, a list of acceptable reinsurers is maintained within the Life and 
Pensions Finance function. 

The Company is exposed to credit risk on the balances deposited with banks in the form of cash, 
certificates of deposit and money market instruments. Money market instruments issued by parties 
other than banks such as commercial paper are also covered under this heading. The primary risk is 
borrower quality; this is mitigated by limiting aggregate holdings in any one issuer to 5%. 
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The Company is exposed to loan risk in several different areas, the most material of which are: 

loans to IFAs as part of strategic investments 

other strategic loans 

loans to appointed representatives 

loans to brokers 

agency debt (including debt arising as a result of clawback of commission) 

policyholder debt 

rental income due. 

In general, these quantitative credit exposures are relatively low but they can bear relatively high 
likelihoods of default. 

The Company is exposed to country risk in a number of key areas, the most significant of which is 
bonds issued by foreign governments in non-domestic currency. The management of country risk on 
the creditworthiness of the Company's investments is largely undertaken by F&C. 

Settlement risk is a form of credit risk that arises at the settlement of a transaction, as a result of a 
counterparty failing to perform its obligations to the Company. The Company is exposed to settlement 
risk in the following key areas: 

• bank transfers, including foreign exchange transactions 

• the purchase or sale of investments 

• the purchase or sale of property 

• the purchase, sale or expiry of exchange-traded derivatives or the transfer of periodic payments 
under these contracts 

• the settlement of derivative contracts. 

Settlement risk on assets that form part of F&C funds is managed as an integral part of the asset 
management approach adopted. 

To mitigate credit risk: 

• investment mandates for many funds will have a prescribed minimum credit rating of bonds 
that may be held. Investing in a diverse portfolio reduces the impact from individual companies 
defaulting 

• counterparty limits are set for investments, cash deposits, foreign exchange trade exposure and 
stock lending 

• all over-the-counter derivative transactions are covered by collateral, with minor exceptions 

• the Company regularly reviews the financial security of its reinsurers. 

The exposure to individual counterparties for non-linked and shareholder assets is limited to specific 
percentages of total non-linked assets in the long-term fund, based on regulatory categorisation of 
counterparties. These are typically less than 3% of non-linked assets. 
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Concentrations of credit risk might exist where the Company has significant exposure to a group of 
counterparties with similar economic characteristics that would cause their ability to meet contractual 
obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions. 

The amount disclosed in the balance sheet in respect of financial assets represents the Company's 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 

An indication of the Company's exposure to credit risk is the quality of the investments and 
counterparties with which it transacts. The Company is most exposed to credit risk on debt and other 
fixed income securities, derivatives, deposits with credit institutions, reinsurance arrangements and 
cash at bank. Debt and other fixed income securities mainly comprise government bonds and corporate 
bonds. Given the nature of the Company's investments in government bonds the credit risk associated 
with these is considered small and the Company therefore focuses on monitoring the quality of its 
corporate bonds. 

The following table gives an indication of the level of creditworthiness of those categories of assets 
which are most exposed to credit risk using principally ratings prescribed by Standard & Poor's and 
Moody's. Assets held within unit-linked funds have been excluded from the table below as the credit 
risk on these assets is borne by the policyholders rather than the shareholders. Government bonds have 
also been excluded. 

As at 31 December 2008 

Debt & other 

fixed interest 

securities 

Derivatives 

Reinsurers' 

share of 

technical 

provisions -

claims 

outstanding 

Deposits with 

credit 

institutions 

Cash at bank 

and in hand , ,. 

AAA 

1,419 

— 

406 

— 

As at 31 December 2007 

Debt & other 

fixed interest 

securities 

Derivatives 

AAA 

1,807 

— 

AA 

837 

— 

4 

548 

6 

AA 

1,158 

150 

A 

1,789 

549 

308 

6 

A 

1,492 

— 

BBB 

£m 

426 

— 

— 

BBB 

£m 

348 

— 

BB 

9 

— 

— 

BB 

22 

B 

2 

— 

— 

B 

7 

Not rated 

85 

— 

17 

13 

Not rated 

100 

— 

Total 

4,567 

549 

4 

1,279 

25 

Total 

4,934 

150 
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As at 31 December 2007 

AAA AA A BBB BB B Not rated Total 

£m 

Reinsurers' 

share of 

technical 

provisions -

claims 

outstanding — 7 — — — — — 7 

Deposits with 

credit 

institutions 279 145 189 — — — 10 623 

Cash at bank 

and in hand — 12 — — — — — 12 

It is Company policy to make no new investment in non-rated assets in non-linked funds. 

For the majority of over-the-counter derivative transactions undertaken by the Company, collateral is 
received from the counterparty if the sum of all contracts held with the counterparty are in-the-money 
(i.e. is an asset of the Company). The Company has a legal right to this collateral if the counterparty 
does not meet its obligations. It is repayable if the contract terminates or the contract's fair value falls. 
Contractual agreements between the Company and each counterparty exist to protect the interests of 
each party, taking into consideration minimum threshold, asset class of collateral pledged and the 
frequency of valuation. At 31 December 2008 the fair value of such collateral held was £439m (2007: 
£143m). No collateral received from the counterparty has been sold or re-pledged. 

The following table shows the amount of 'debtors' and 'prepayments and accrued income (excluding 
'deferred acquisition costs' ("DAC") and 'deferred fees and charges' ("DFF")) that were not impaired 
but either past due or not at the end of the year. No other financial assets were either past due or 
impaired at the end of the year. Assets held in unit-linked funds have been excluded from the tables. 

Debtors and 
prepayments 
and accrued 

income 
(excluding 
DAC and 

As at 31 December 2008 DFF) 

% 

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired 92.6 

Financial assets that are past due: 

0-3 months past due 5.0 

3-6 months past due 0.5 

6-12 months past due 0.4 

More than 12 months past due 0.8 
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As at 31 December 2008 

Impaired financial assets for which provision is made. 

Total (£m) 

As at 31 December 2007 

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired 

Financial assets that are past due: 

0-3 months past due 

3-6 months past due 

6-12 months past due 

More than 12 months past due 

Impaired financial assets for which provision is made. 

Total (£m) 

Debtors and 
prepayments 
and accrued 

income 
(excluding 
DAC and 

DFF) 

0.7 

238 

Debtors and 
prepayments 
and accrued 

income 
(excluding 
DAC and 

DFF) 

% 

89.8 

8.0 

0.1 

0.2 

1.0 

0.9 

201 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity, although solvent, either does not have sufficient financial 
resources available to it in order to meet its obligations when they fall due, or can secure them only at 
excessive cost. 

The Company faces two key types of liquidity risk: 

• shareholder liquidity risk (liquidity within funds managed for the benefit of shareholders, 
including shareholders' interests in long-term funds) 

• policyholder liquidity risk (liquidity within funds managed for the benefit of policyholders). 

The overall objective of shareholder liquidity risk management is to ensure there are sufficient funds 
available to meet the cash flows needs of the business. The overall objective of policyholder liquidity 
risk is to ensure that sufficient liquid funds are available to meet cash flow requirements under all but 
the most extreme scenarios (the exception being the property funds where a six month notice period is 
required for switches and withdrawals). 
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The Company I will meet shareholder liquidity needs in a number of key areas. For example: 

• the ability to support the liquidity requirements arising from new business 

• the capacity to maintain dividend payments/loan repayments and interest etc. 

• the ability to cope with the liquidity implications of strategic initiatives, such as merger and 
acquisition activity 

• the capacity to provide financial support across the FP Group 

• the ability to fund its day-to-day cash flow requirements. 

The overall objective of shareholder liquidity risk management is to ensure that there is sufficient 
liquidity over short (up to one year) and medium time horizons to meet the needs of the business. 

For policyholder funds, liquidity needs arise from a number of potential areas, including: 

a short-term mis-match between cash flows assets and cash flow requirements of liabilities 

having to realise assets to meet liabilities during stressed market conditions 

investments in illiquid assets such as property and private placement debt 

higher than expected level of lapses/surrenders caused by economic shock, adverse reputational 
issues or other events 

higher than expected payments of claims on insurance contracts 

the implementation of temporary restrictions for the withdrawal of funds, as recently applied by 
extending the notice periods of switches and withdrawals from property funds. 

Exposure to policyholder liquidity risk can be split between non-linked and linked funds. As a general 
rule, the Company is more likely to be significantly impacted by policyholder liquidity risk on non-
linked funds, as opposed to linked funds where policyholder benefits are expressed directly as units 
held in an underlying fund. 

The overall objective of policyholder liquidity risk management is to ensure that sufficient liquid funds 
are available to meet cash flow requirements under all but the most extreme scenarios. 

Liquidity risk is managed in the following way: 

• forecasts are prepared regularly to predict required liquidity levels over both the short and 
medium term 

• a credit facility with a syndicate of banks exists to enable cash to be raised in a relatively short 
time-span 

• credit risk of cash deposits is managed by applying counterparty limits and imposing 
restrictions over the credit ratings of third parties with whom cash is deposited 

• assets of a suitable maturity and marketability are held to meet policyholder liabilities as they 
fall due 

• limits are set on the level of investment in securities that are not readily realisable. These are 
typically restricted to 5% of non-linked assets. 
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Where contracts have a surrender value (i.e. the policy is theoretically payable on demand) the 

following table shows the current surrender value in the 'within one year or payable on demand' 

column. Otherwise it indicates the undiscounted expected contractual net cash flows in respect of 

financial and insurance liabilities. Where premiums exceed claims the amounts are negative. 

As at 31 December 2008 

Carrying 
value 

Within 1 year 
or payable on 

demand 

£m 

1-5 years 
More than 5 

years 

Contractual undiscounted cash 
flows: 

Technical provisions 

Investment contract liabilities 

Creditors arising out of direct 
insurance operations 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance 
operations 

Other creditors 

Accruals and deferred income 

9,198 

9,983 

21 

7,270 

10,616 

646 2,743 

3 

251 

11 

3 

98 

4 

— 

29 

4 

— 

124 

3 

As at 31 December 2007 

Contractual undiscounted cash 
flows: 

Technical provisions 

Investment contract liabilities 

Creditors arising out of direct 

Creditors arising out of reinsurance 

Other creditors 

Accruals and deferred income 

Carrying 
value 

9,953 

13,586 

12 

3 

42 

12 

Within 1 year 
or payable on 

demand 

£m 

7,635 

14,055 

12 

3 

42 

4 

1-5 years 

643 

— 

— 

— 

8 

More than 5 
years 

2,816 

— 

— 

— 

___ 

All unit-linked liabilities arising from insurance contract and investment contract liabilities are payable 

on demand and have been included in the column 'within 1 year or payable on demand'. 

Amounts expected to be settled from the fund for future appropriation ("FFA") are excluded from the 

analysis above as there is no contractual obligation to settle the liability. Of the carrying amount on the 

balance sheet in respect of the FFA, £322m (2007: £302m) is expected to be settled more than 12 

months after the balance sheet date. 
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'Amounts due to Group undertakings' have not been included in the analysis as they do not have any 
fixed repayment terms. 

(e) Policy cash flow risk (including insurance risk) 

Policy cash flow risk consists of the following four main areas: 

Insurance risks: 

• mortality risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder deaths experience being different from 
expectations; or for annuities, risk of annuitants living longer than expected (called annuity 
longevity risk) 

• morbidity risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder health experience being different from 
expectations. 

Other risks: 

• policyholder decision risk - risk of loss arising from experience of actual policyholder 
behaviour (e.g. lapses, option take-up) being different from expectations 

• expense risk - risk of loss due to expense experience being different from expectations. 

The Company actively pursues mortality risk (other than annuitants mortality risk) and morbidity risk 
in those areas where it believes it has a competitive advantage in managing these risks to generate 
shareholder value (without compromising the interests of policyholders, and the need to treat 
customers fairly). Annuitants mortality risk, policyholder decision risk and expense risk are taken on 
when it is deemed financially beneficial for the Company to do so, or where the taking of these risks is 
in support of the Company's strategic objectives. 

Underpinning the Company's management of policy cash flow risk is: 

• adherence to an approved underwriting policy that takes into account the level of risk that the 
Company is prepared to accept 

• controls around the development of products and their pricing 

• regular analysis of actual mortality, morbidity and lapse experience which feeds into the 
development of products and policies. If the analysis changes expectations of future liability 
cash flows, periodic adjustments are made to asset cash flows to maintain the asset/liability 
match. 

Risks in excess of agreed underwriting limits may be reinsured. The Company's objective is to 
purchase reinsurance in the most cost-effective manner from reinsurers whose creditworthiness is 
deemed appropriate. 

Substantially all insurance contracts, and the majority of the combined insurance and investment 
contract portfolio, are written in the UK and so results are sensitive to changes in the UK insurance 
market and tax regime. Otherwise the Company sells a diverse range of products to a diverse group of 
people. Overseas Life Assurance Business ("OLAB") is the only overseas business. 

Note 22 describes the main insurance contracts written by the Company and the basis of setting 
assumptions in measuring insurance liabilities, which takes into account the risks above. The following 
sections describe how policy cash flow risks are managed. 
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(i) Mortality and morbidity risk 

• Life assurance - Most insurance policies other than annuities and deferred annuity 
policies include life assurance. When pricing policies, an assumption is made as to the 
likelihood of death and this assumption is reviewed as part of the annual valuation of 
policies. To the extent that actual mortality experience is worse than that anticipated in 
pricing (and subsequently in the insurance liability valuation) a loss will be made. The 
risk is greater for those policies such as term assurance where the maturity or surrender 
benefit is small in relation to the death benefit. Other policies that have a savings 
element, such as endowment assurance, have significant liabilities relating to the 
maturity benefit, particularly as the policy approaches maturity. Contractual terms for 
unit-linked and unitised with-profits products include provision for increases in mortality 
charges. 

• Critical illness - The Company writes a number of critical illness policies that pay out in 
the event of a policyholder's ill health. As for life assurance, the amount payable on ill 
health can be significantly higher than the amount payable if the policy is surrendered. 

• Income protection - The two main risks related to income protection are an increase in 
the frequency of claims (the inception rate) and an increase in the average length of the 
claim (a reduction in recovery rate). Most income protection policies are regular 
premium with the premium and cover fixed at inception. Some group policies allow 
premiums to be reviewed but the premium rates are usually guaranteed for three years. 

• Annuities - If annuitants live longer than expected on average, profits will reduce. In 
most cases the annuity is guaranteed payable for a fixed term and many policies are 
written so that when the first life dies the benefit continues, often at a reduced level. 
These features tend to reduce the volatility of results to random fluctuations in 
experience but not the impact of a general increase in longevity. 

Deferred annuities are subject to a similar risk from the impact of longevity, the only 
difference being that the risk of adverse impact is greater given that the annuity is 
payable further into the future. However, most of these policies are with-profits and the 
impact would be offset by a reduction in the FFA, with relatively little resulting impact 
on shareholder profits. 

(ii) Policyholder decision risk 

Persistency experience varies over time as well as from one type of contract to another. Factors 
that will cause lapse rates to vary over time include changes in investment performance of the 
assets underlying the contract where appropriate, regulatory changes that make alternative 
products more attractive, customer perceptions of the insurance industry in general and the UK 
Life and Pensions division in particular, and the general economic environment. 

The cost of guaranteed annuity options is dependent on decisions made by policyholders such 
as policy discontinuance and tax-free cash take-up. These assumptions are set by reference to 
recent experience. 

(iii) Expense risk 

The whole of the impact of changes in expense levels is borne by shareholders with the 
following exception. In 2009 the charges made to the With-Profits Fund for managing policies 
will be reviewed to reflect market rates at the time and these will be applied from 1/1/2010. Pre-
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demutualisation with-profits policyholders will bear the impact (positive or negative) of any 
resulting changes to charges. 

Contractual terms for unit-linked and unitised with-profits products include provision for 
increases in charges. Certain expenses (such as fees/commissions) are fixed at the time a 
contract is written. 

25 PROVISIONS FOR OTHER RISKS AND CHARGES 

£m 

Vacant properties . 

At 1 January 2008 3 

Charge in year 3 

Utilised in year (2) 

At 31 December 2008 4 

Review of mortgage endowment complaints 

Atl January 2008 7 

Release in year (1) 

Utilised in year (3) 

At 31 December 2008 3 

Review of other sales 

At 1 January 2008 1 

Charge in year 2 

Utilised in year (3) 

At 31 December 2008 

Financial reinsurance 

Atl January2008 101 

Charge in year 4 

At 31 December 2008 105 

Total at 1 January 2008 *285 

Total at 31 December 2008 112 

Deferred tax 

* Included in the opening provision is a deferred tax liability of £173m, which has changed to an asset (Note 
9) during the year and therefore this has been removed from the above note. 

Vacant properties 

The Company holds leases for a number of vacant and sub-let properties previously occupied by the Group. 
Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments and for other outgoings where significant, after 
taking into account the existing and expected sub-tenant arrangements. The remaining terms of the leases are 
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up to 8 years. Assumptions as to whether each leasehold property may be sub-let or assigned in the future 
have been made. The discount rate applied to expected future cash flows is 6% (2007: 5%). 

Mortgage endowment complaints 

Provision has been established for the estimated likely cost of redress, including administrative costs, arising 
from the review of the suitability of mortgage endowment policies. In addition to the accounting provision of 
£3m (2007: £7m), an actuarial reserve of £6m (2007: £9m) was held in the long-term business provision at 31 
December 2008 in respect of estimated further endowment complaints. 

The majority of the mortgage endowment redress provisions is expected to be settled in the next year. 

Review of other sales 

Provisions have been established for the estimated likely redress arising from the review of other sales. An 
actuarial reserve of £3m (2007: £6m) was held in the long-term business provision in respect of future 
estimated complaints. 

Financial reinsurance 

On 16 December 2004, the Company securitised the cash flows expected to emerge from a book of its life 
insurance policies by entering into a reinsurance contract with Friends Provident Reinsurance Services 
Limited ("FPRe"). The reinsurance agreement provides regulatory capital to the Company and enables funds 
to be released to finance new business growth. As a consequence the long-term business provision decreased 
by £375m. As future surpluses emerge on the book of life insurance policies the amounts due to FPRe under 
the reinsurance contract will be repaid. No amounts were repaid in 2008 (2007: £35m). 

The charge is reflected in 'other technical charges, net of reinsurance'. 

The Company has not provided any guarantee or commitment in respect of the reinsurance contract. 

26 OTHER CREDITORS INCLUDING TAXATION AND SOCIAL SECURITY 

2008 2007 

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year 

Taxation 25 -

Outstanding investment purchases 

Amounts due to Group undertakings 

Other creditors 

27 GUARANTEES 

(a) 6.875% Step-up Tier one Insurance Capital Securities ("STICS") issued by Friends Provident pic 

On 21 November 2003, Friends Provident pic issued £300m of STICS, which will bear interest from 
21 November 2003 to 20 November 2019 at a rate of 6.875%. The STICS have no maturity date but 
will be redeemable at the option of the issuer Friends Provident pic on 21 November 2019 and 
thereafter on the coupon payment date falling on or nearest successive fifth anniversaries of this date. 

3 

758 

251 

1,037 

3 

387 

42 

432 
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The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holder at any time. The 
STICS are irrevocably guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Company. 

The guarantee is intended to provide holders with rights against the Company in respect of the 
guaranteed payments which are as nearly as possible equivalent to those which they would have had if 
the STICS had been directly issued preference shares of the Company. 

This guarantee does not meet the definition of a financial guarantee under FRS 26 as the Company is 
able to defer its obligation to make payments under the guarantee to holders of STICS for an unlimited 
period, and the holders have no right to enforce the obligation on the Company. 

(b) 6.292% Step-up Tier one Insurance Capital Securities ("STICS") issued by Friends Provident pic 

On 27 June 2005, Friends Provident pic issued £500m of STICS, which will bear interest from 30 June 
2005 to 30 June 2015 at a rate of 6.292%. The STICS have no maturity date but will be redeemable at 
the option of the issuer Friends Provident pic on 1 July 2015 and thereafter on every fifth anniversary 
of this date. The STICS are perpetual securities and are not redeemable at the option of the holder at 
any time. The STICS are irrevocably guaranteed on a limited and subordinated basis by the Company. 

This guarantee does not meet the definition of a financial guarantee under FRS 26 as the Company is 
able to defer its obligation to make payments under the guarantee to holders of STICS for an unlimited 
period, and the holders have no right to enforce the obligation on the Company. 

28 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 

The directors are employed by and receive their remuneration from FPMS, a fellow Group undertaking. 
Included within the management recharges from FPMS for 2008, is an allowance for directors' emoluments in 
respect of their services to the Company, details of which are given below. This is a proportion of the costs of 
the directors' salaries as incurred by the Company: 

2008 2007 

447 

142 

89 

494 

95 

— 

£'000 

All directors 

Management salaries and benefits in kind 

Amounts receivable under annual bonus schemes 

Compensation for loss of office 

678 5 8 9 

As at 31 December 2008 retirement benefits were accruing to ten directors (2007: eleven) under a defined 
benefit scheme and one director (2007: one) received retirement benefits under a defined contribution 
scheme. One director received contributions to a money purchase scheme of £240. 

Compensation for loss of office was paid to Ben Gunn, who resigned as director on 30 November 2008. 

Highest paid director 

The total of salaries, benefits in kind, and result-related payments payable to directors includes £143,000 
(2007: £124,000) in respect of the highest paid director, of which £nil (2007: £nil) relates to long-term 
incentive schemes. This is a proportion of the costs incurred by the Company in respect of the highest paid 
director and not their full salary. Pension contributions to money purchase schemes include £nil (2007: £nil) 
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for the highest paid director. The highest paid director is a member of a defined benefit pension scheme, under 
which the total accrued pension to which such director would be entitled to from the normal retirement date if 
the director were to retire at the year end was £102,000 (2007: £85,000). 

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of Friends Provident pic. The results of both the 
Company and its subsidiaries are consolidated in the results of Friends Provident pic, the Company's ultimate 
parent and controlling company, whose financial statements are publicly available. Accordingly, the Company 
is exempt from the requirements of FRS 8 Related Party Disclosures, concerning the disclosure of 
transactions with other companies, which qualify as related parties within the Group. 

Key management, which includes their close family and undertakings controlled by them, had various 
transactions with the Company during the year. Key management consists of all directors and executive 
management of the Company. 

Payments during the year by key management in respect of policies and investments issued or managed by 
the Company were as follows: 

2008 2007 

Periodic payments 

Single payments 

Payments by the Company. 

All these transactions were completed on terms, which were identical to those available to staff. 

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Company has made provision for the estimated cost of settling complaints in respect of past sales (see 
note 25). Although the provisions are regularly reviewed, the final outcome could be different from the 
provisions established as these costs cannot be calculated with certainty and are influenced by external factors 
beyond the control of management. Such uncertainties include future regulatory actions, media attention and 
investment performance. The majority of the uncertainty relates to endowment mortgages although a number 
of other products are being reviewed as an ongoing process. It is expected that the majority of endowment 
cases requiring compensation will be settled in the next two years. 

31 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING 

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking is Friends Provident pic which is incorporated in the United 
Kingdom. Copies of the Group Annual Report and Accounts of Friends Provident pic can be obtained by 
writing to its Secretary at Pixham End, Dorking, Surrey, RH4 1QA and can be viewed via its website at 
www.friendsprovident.com. 

£•000 

55 

28 

61 

63 

10 

24 
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DEFINITIONS 

The following definitions apply throughout this document unless the context otherwise requires: 

Agency Agreement 

AmLife 

APE 

Clearstream 

Companies Act 

Directors, Board or Board of Directors 

Disclosure and Transparency Rules 

EEV 

Embedded Value or EV 

Euroclear 

F&C 

F&C Shares 

FOS 

FPIL 

FPLP or the Guarantor 

Friends Provident or the Issuer 

Friends Provident Board 

Friends Provident Group 

Friends Provident Group Reduction of 
Capital 

FSA 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means AmLife Insurance Berhad; 

means annualised premium equivalent; 

means Clearstream Banking, societe anonyme; 

means the Companies Act 1985 or, as the context requires, the 
Companies Act 2006, and shall be construed as a reference to 
the same as they may have been, or may from time to time be, 
amended, modified or re-enacted; 

means the directors of the Issuer or the Guarantor, as 
applicable; 

means the Disclosure and Transparency Rules made by the FSA 
under Part VI of the FSMA; 

means European Embedded Value, a basis on which certain 
supplementary financial information is prepared in accordance 
with the European Embedded Value Principles issued in May 
2004 by the CFO Forum, as supplemented by the Additional 
Guidance on European Embedded Value Disclosures carried in 
October 2005; 

means a way of reporting the value of the life insurance 
business; 

means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V.; 

means F&C Asset Management pic; 

means the Group's shareholding in the ordinary share capital of 
F&C which it is proposing to demerge; 

means the Financial Ombudsman Service; 

means Friends Provident International; 

means Friends Provident Life and Pensions Limited (company 
number 04096141), the company through which the Group's 
UK Life and Pensions Business operates; 

means Friends Provident pic (company number 04113107); 

means the directors of Friends Provident; 

means Friends Provident Group pic (company number 
06861305); 

means the proposed Court confirmed reduction of capital in 
Friends Provident Group; 

the Financial Services Authority or such other governmental 
authority in the United Kingdom (or if the Issuer becomes 



FSMA 

Group 

HMRC 

IFRS 

IGD surplus 

Independent Financial Adviser or IFA 

In-force Business 

Insurance Groups Directive 

Interest Payment Date 

IPRU(INS) 

IRR 

Issue Date 

L&M 

Life & Pensions APE 

Life and Pensions Business 

Life and Pensions Division 

Listing Rules 

Lombard 

London Stock Exchange 

Make Whole Redemption Amount 

Market 

Maturity Date 

Notes 

domiciled in a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, in 
such other jurisdiction) having primary supervisory authority 
with respect to the Issuer and/or the Group; 

means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000; 

means the Issuer and its subsidiaries; 

means HM Revenue & Customs; 

means International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
for use in the EU; 

means the surplus capital adequacy available to the Group (as 
required by the Insurance Groups Directive); 

means an independent financial adviser; 

means long-term business which has been written before a 
specified date and which has not terminated before that date; 

means the Directive on the Supplementary Supervision of 
Insurance Companies in an Insurance Group (1998/78/EC) as 
amended by the European Union Directive on the 
Supplementary Supervision of Credit Institutions, Insurance 
Undertakings and Investment Firms in a Financial 
Conglomerate (2002/87/EC) and as implemented in the UK 
within IPRU(INS); 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means the FSA's Interim Prudential sourcebook for Insurers; 

means Internal Rate of Return; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means London and Manchester Group Limited; 

means the APE of the Life and Pensions Business; 

means the business carried on by the Life and Pensions 
Division; 

means the life insurance companies within the Group; 

means the Listing Rules made by the FSA under Part VI of 
FSMA; 

means Lombard International Assurance SA; 

means London Stock Exchange pic; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means the regulated market of the London Stock Exchange; 

means the maturity date of the Notes, being 21 May 2021; 

means the £161,713,000 12 per cent. Fixed Rate Guaranteed 
Subordinated Notes due 2021 to be issued by the Issuer on the 
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Noteholder 

OEIC 

Official List 

Pantheon Financial 

pence and £ 

Prospectus 

Prospectus Directive 

Prospectus Rules 

PVNBP 

Registrar of Companies 

Regulatory Event 

Reorganisation 

Savings and Investments 

Securities Act 

Senior Creditors 

Sesame 

Shareholder 

SICAV 

Strategic Review Announcement 

Tax Law Change 

Tier 2 Capital 

Terms and Conditions of the Notes 

Trust Deed 

Issue Date and guaranteed by the Guarantor on a subordinated 
basis; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means open-ended investment company; 

means the official list of the UK Listing Authority; 

means Pantheon Financial Limited; 

means the lawful currency of the United Kingdom; 

means this prospectus; 

Directive 2003/71 /EC; 

means the prospectus rules made by the FSA under Part VI of 
FSMA; 

means Present Value of New Business Premiums; 

means the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales, 
within the meaning of the Companies Act; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

save as otherwise defined herein, means the proposed insertion 
of Friends Provident Group as a new holding company for the 
Group and the Friends Provident Group Reduction of Capital; 

means the saving and investment business of the Group; 

the U.S. Securities Act of 1933; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means Sesame Group Limited; 

means, before the Reorganisation has become effective, a 
holder of ordinary shares in the Issuer and, after the 
Reorganisation has become effective, a holder of ordinary 
shares in Friends Provident Group; 

means societe d'investissement a capital variable; 

means the announcement made, by the Issuer on 31 January 
2008 relating to the results of a strategic review; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 

means the terms and conditions of the Notes contained in 
Schedule 1 Part 2 of the Trust Deed and as set out on pages 32 
- 49 herein; 

has the meaning ascribed to it in the Terms and Conditions of 
the Notes; 
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Trustee 

UK or United Kingdom 

UK GAAP 

UKLA or UK Listing Authority 

U.S. or United States 

means The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c; 

means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland; 

means generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
Kingdom; 

means the FSA in its capacity as the competent authority for the 
purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000; and 

means the United States of America, its territories and 
possessions, any State of the United States and the District of 
Columbia. 

All references to legislation in this document are to the legislation of England and Wales unless the contrary is 
indicated. Any reference to any provision of any legislation shall include any amendment, modification, re-
enactment or extension thereof. 

For the purpose of this document, "subsidiary" and "subsidiary undertaking" have the meanings given by the 
Companies Act. 

Words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing the masculine 
gender shall include the feminine or neutral gender. 
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